
Please contact Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer
Tel:  01270 686472
E-Mail: paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

Cabinet
Agenda

Date: Tuesday, 4th February, 2020
Time: 1.00 pm
Venue: Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 

Sandbach CW11 1HZ

The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. Part 
2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons indicated on 
the agenda and in the report.

It should be noted that Part 1 items of Cheshire East Council decision-making meetings are 
audio recorded and the recordings are uploaded to the Council’s website.

PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT

1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any disclosable 
pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests in any item on the agenda.

3. Public Speaking Time/Open Session  

In accordance with paragraph 3.33 of the Cabinet Procedure Rules, a period of 10 
minutes is allocated for members of the public to address the meeting on any matter 
relevant to the work of the Cabinet. Individual members of the public may speak for 
up to two minutes but the Chairman or person presiding will decide how the period of 
time allocated for public speaking will be apportioned where there are a number of 
speakers. Members of the public are not required to give notice to use this facility. 
However, as a matter of courtesy, a period of 24 hours’ notice is encouraged.

Members of the public wishing to ask a question at the meeting should provide at 
least three clear working days’ notice in writing and should include the question with 
that notice. This will enable an informed answer to be given.

Public Document Pack

mailto:paul.mountford@cheshireeast.gov.uk


4. Questions to Cabinet Members  

A period of 20 minutes is allocated for questions to be put to Cabinet Members by 
members of the Council. A maximum period of two minutes will be allowed for each 
member wishing to ask a question.  The Leader will have the discretion to vary this 
requirement where they consider it appropriate.  Notice of questions need not be 
given in advance of the meeting. Questions must relate to the powers, duties or 
responsibilities of the Cabinet. Questions put to Cabinet Members must relate to their 
portfolio responsibilities.

5. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 5 - 10)

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 14th January 2020.

6. Third Quarter Review (FINANCE) 2019/20  (Pages 11 - 96)

To consider a report on the Third Quarter Review (FINANCE) 2019/20.

7. Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020-24  

To consider a report on the Medium Term Financial Strategy for Cheshire East 
Council for the four years 2020/21 to 2023/24.

(Note: This report has been circulated as a separate document to all members of the 
Council. Cabinet members are asked to bring their copies to the meeting.)

8. School and Early Years Funding Formula for 2020/21  (Pages 97 - 118)

To consider a report which sets out the process to determine the schools funding 
formula and the early years funding formula for 2020/21.

9. Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure  (Pages 119 - 132)

To consider a report on proposed changes to a number of highways policies and 
plans to ensure that they align with the Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure Code of 
Practice.

10. Data Centre Local Area Network (LAN) and Hosting  (Pages 133 - 140)

To consider a report on proposals to upgrade the Local Area Network and hosting 
infrastructure and equipment.

11. Performance Update 2019/20  (Pages 141 - 160)

To consider a report presenting performance data on a range of key performance 
measures supporting the Council’s six Outcomes in the Corporate Plan.



12. Exclusion of the Press and Public  

The report or a part thereof relating to the remaining item on the agenda has been 
withheld from public circulation and deposit pursuant to Section 100(B)(2) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 on the grounds that the matter may be determined with the 
press and public excluded. 
 
The Cabinet may decide that the press and public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of the item pursuant to Section 100(A)4 of the Local Government 
Act 1972 on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Paragraph 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 
and the public interest would not be served in publishing the information.

PART 2 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITHOUT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
PRESENT

13. Staff Pay - Terms and Conditions  (Pages 161 - 168)

To consider a report on staff pay terms and conditions.

Membership:  Councillors C Browne (Vice-Chairman), S Corcoran (Chairman), K Flavell, 
T Fox, L Jeuda, N Mannion, J Rhodes, B Roberts, A Stott and M Warren



This page is intentionally left blank



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL

Minutes of a meeting of the Cabinet 
held on Tuesday, 14th January, 2020 at Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, 

Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ

PRESENT

Councillor S Corcoran (Chairman)
Councillor C Browne (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors K Flavell, T Fox, L Jeuda, N Mannion, J Rhodes, A Stott and 
M Warren

Councillors in attendance
Councillors S Akers Smith, J Barber, M Benson, J Clowes, L Crane, T Dean, 
S Edgar, B Evans, J P Findlow, S Hogben, C Leach, A Moran, B Puddicombe, 
J Saunders, J Smith, S Stockton and L Wardlaw

Officers in Attendance
Kath O’Dwyer, Acting Chief Executive
Frank Jordan, Executive Director Place 
Mark Palethorpe, Acting Executive Director People
Jane Burns, Executive Director Corporate Services 
Linda Couchman, Acting Strategic Director of Adult Social Care and Health
Jan Bakewell, Director of Governance and Compliance 
Paul Goodwin, Finance Manager (Commercial and Project Accounting)
Paul Mountford, Executive Democratic Services Officer

Apologies
Councillors B Roberts and Q Abel

The Chairman welcomed Councillor K Flavell to her first meeting as a member 
of the Cabinet and Portfolio Holder for Children and Families.

90 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

91 PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION 

Richard Hamilton referred to the 2018-2023 Air Quality Action Plan for the 
Sandbach area and asked why there were no actions detailed for the Air 
Quality Management Area adjacent to J17 of the M6. He also asked for a 
progress report on the actions for SAND1 and SAND2.

The Portfolio Holder for Communities undertook to provide a written 
response and to copy it to ward members for Sandbach.

Page 5 Agenda Item 5



Jane Smith referred to a report on the agenda relating to the management 
of Bovine tuberculosis on Council land and asked what type of 'essential 
variations' of lease clauses would be acceptable to Cheshire East. She 
also asked how the Council intended to promote badger vaccination as an 
option to landowners and farmers in the Borough between now and the 
autumn cull which would start in September.

The Portfolio Holder for Environment and Regeneration responded that an 
example of an essential variation of a lease would be where there was a 
change of legislation or a change of Governent guidance. He added that 
Cheshire East and Cheshire West and Chester Councils jointly had a good 
track record on vaccinations; he outlined what action had been taken to 
date and what further action was proposed.

Sue Helliwell asked about the possibility of a direct bus service between 
Alsager and Leighton Hospital at weekends as had been provided for 
Middlewich. 

The Deputy Leader responded that the Council supported the 317 service 
which provided a direct service to the Hospital during the week. The 
weekend service required a change at Crewe. The Council continually 
sought to maximise service coverage but had to operate within budgetary 
constraints. He would be exploring the opportunities for joint ticketing 
arrangements and was keen to work with town and parish councils and 
local employers to explore joint subsidy arrangements.

Debbie Jamison said that she had not received a response to highways 
and planning questions she had raised at the December Cabinet meeting.

The Portfolio Holder for Planning replied that she was aware of some 
outstanding queries and that a written response would follow.

Michael Unett referred to a public right of way near to Wood Park, Alsager 
which was becoming unusable due to its condition. In addition, a bridge on 
the right of way was starting to sink into the brook. Action needed to be 
taken to make the path passable and make the bridge safe. Mr Unett also 
referred to highways works on Meadow Croft and The Avenue, Alsager 
which had been programmed for 2019/20. He asked if the works would be 
completed in the current financial year. 

The Deputy Leader undertook to respond on both matters in writing.

92 QUESTIONS TO CABINET MEMBERS 

Councillor T Dean asked for consideration to be given to the provision of 
weekend bus services from Knutsford and Wilmslow to Macclesfield 
Hospital. 

The Deputy Leader referred to the 130 service on Saturdays from 
Handforth, Wilmslow and Alderley Edge to Macclesfield Hospital for which 

Page 6



the Council was providing support. He undertook to consider the position 
with regard to Knutsford and to send a written response.

Councillor S Akers Smith circulated copies of a report she had written 
setting out an action plan for improving the cycling and walking 
infrastructure throughout the Borough. In the report, Councillor Akers 
Smith raised a number of questions to which she sought answers. 

The Leader received the report and undertook to provide a written 
response.

93 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING 

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 3rd December 2019 be approved 
as a correct record.

94 MANAGEMENT OF BOVINE TUBERCULOSIS ON COUNCIL LAND 

Cabinet considered a report on the management of bovine tuberculosis on 
Council land. The report set out the steps that the Council planned to take.

In considering the report, Cabinet was mindful of the risk management 
implications in paragraph 6.6.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet

1. recognises the impact of Bovine Tuberculous on cattle, wildlife, and the 
farming community in the Borough;

2. endorses good bio-security in the rural environment to reduce the risk 
of transmission of Bovine Tuberculous;

3. confirms that this Council will not support the culling of badgers on 
Council land and will seek to amend its new leases accordingly. Any 
essential variation of such a lease clause will be subject to a formal 
request in writing and subsequent consent;

4. endorses vaccination as an important part of any long-term approach 
to reducing the general prevalence of the disease, risk to cattle or 
wildlife and its impact in Cheshire East and resolves to support badger 
vaccination programmes, particularly in those areas most at risk of the 
spread of Bovine Tuberculous, and to commit in principle to support 
them financially with Council and other resources; and

5. notes the risks outlined in paragraph 6.6 of the report.

Page 7



95 MEDIA RELATIONS PROTOCOL REVIEW 2020 

Cabinet considered a draft new Media Relations Protocol for Cheshire 
East Council. The Protocol set out the roles and responsibilities with 
regard to the Council’s public relations and media relations activity.

The Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee had considered the 
Protocol at its meeting on 9th January 2020. During the Committee’s 
debate, the following comments had been made:

 The successes of scrutiny should be promoted through the media.

 In relation to quotes from ward Members and committee chairs, 
Members questioned whether it was appropriate for this to be done 
only in agreement with the Portfolio Holder, given that they were 
independent of the Executive.

Following consideration of the report, the Committee had recommended 
the Protocol to Cabinet for approval.

The Chairman of the Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 
Councillor J Clowes, attended the Cabinet meeting and spoke on the 
matter.

The Leader asked that, once the new Protocol had been brought into 
operation, overview and scrutiny committee chairmen provide examples if 
they felt that any aspect of the new Protocol was not working well.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet approves the Cheshire East Council Media Relations 
Protocol as set out in the Appendix to the report.

96 REVENUES AND BENEFITS PRINTING AND POSTAL SERVICE 

Cabinet considered a report on the procurement of a printing and postal 
service to support the Revenues and Benefits billing functions.

RESOLVED

That

1. a suitable competitive OJEU procurement exercise be undertaken for 
the provision of Printing, Graphics and Postal Distribution Services for 
the Cheshire East Council Revenues and Benefits Billing Departments; 
and

2. authority be delegated to the Revenues Manager to procure and award 
a contract for Print and Post services following an appropriate and 
compliant procurement process.

Page 8



97 OUTCOME OF OFSTED INSPECTION OF CHESHIRE EAST LOCAL 
AUTHORITY CHILDREN'S SERVICES 

Cabinet considered a report on the outcome of the Ofsted inspection of 
Cheshire East Council’s children’s services in November 2019. The Ofsted 
report, which was published on 9th January 2020, detailed those areas 
where significant progress had been made since the previous inspection in 
2015 and those areas where further improvement was needed.

The Deputy Leader and the Portfolio Holder for Children and Families 
asked that their sincere thanks be conveyed to those officers who provided 
invaluable services to some of the Borough’s most vulnerable children and 
young people and for their work on the inspection.

RESOLVED

That Cabinet 

1. notes the contents of the Ofsted report at Appendix 1 to the report, 
both areas of strength and areas for development; and

2. confirms the Council’s continued ambition and commitment to 
achieving good or outstanding services for Cheshire East’s children 
and young people.

The meeting commenced at 1.00 pm and concluded at 2.10 pm

Councillor S Corcoran (Chairman)

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



                                                                                        

Key Decision N

Date First 
Published: N/A

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 4 February 2020

Report Title: Third Quarter Review (FINANCE) 2019/20

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Amanda Stott - Finance, IT and Communication

Senior Officer: Alex Thompson – Director of Finance and Customer Services 
(Section 151 Officer)

1. Report Summary

1.1. This report outlines how the Council is managing resources to provide 
value for money services during the 2019/20 financial year. The report 
highlights financial and non-financial activity and provides an overview of 
progress towards achievement of the priority outcomes set out in the 
Corporate Plan.

1.2.  Local Authority budgets across the UK are being managed against a 
backdrop of continuing reductions in government funding in 2019/20 as well 
as inflation rises and increasing demand for services. However, the 
statutory duties of the Council must still be delivered within the relevant 
parameters and the associated inspection frameworks. In this environment 
the ability to deliver financial savings whilst maintaining service standards 
across the Council is extremely challenging.

1.3.  The financial pressure has reduced since the Mid-Year Review, which 
highlighted a potential overspend of up to £7.5m, and this is due to ongoing 
mitigation activity that was highlighted in the report, such as:

1.3.1. A managed restriction of in-year costs to support essential spend only.

1.3.2. Reviewing the level of spending on key contracts.

1.3.3. Pricing reviews to ensure costs are being fully recovered where 
appropriate.

Page 11 Agenda Item 6



1.3.4. Vacancy management.

1.3.5. Review of eligible capitalisation of salaries charged to capital projects.

1.4.  At the third quarter the Council is forecasting a potential overspend of up to 
£6.8m compared to the 2019/20 Budget and mitigating actions are being 
put in place to minimise the impact of this forecast (see paragraph 1.3 and 
1.5). Overspending is occurring due to demand led pressures in the People 
Directorate, past service pension costs and delays associated with 
achieving some efficiency savings included within service budgets.

1.5.  Further robust actions will be taken to bring the outturn position in line with 
the reserves strategy by the end of the financial year. These further 
mitigating actions include the activities set out below (Note: final figures will 
be reported as part of the Council’s Draft Statutory Accounts in May 2020): 

1.5.1. Application of capital receipts from sale of shares (c.£2.4m).

1.5.2. Re-alignment of and appropriate use of earmarked reserves to support 
General Reserve balances (c.£4.4m).

1.6. Forecast expenditure in the year on the capital programme is £132.7m, 
which is £42.4m lower than at mid-year review. The programme for 
2019/20 was ambitious and now that the projects are more established the 
expenditure has been re-profiled following review.

1.7.  Against this challenging financial backdrop it is pleasing to note that the 
Council has continued to perform strongly, delivering positive outcomes in 
each of the six priority areas identified by the Corporate Plan.

1.8.  The attached report, Annex 1, sets out details of how the Council is 
performing in 2019/20. It is structured into three sections:

Section 1 Summary of Council Performance - brings together the 
positive impact that service performance and financial performance have 
had on the six Council Outcomes during the year.
Section 2 Financial Stability - provides an update on the Council’s 
overall financial position.
Section 3 Workforce Development - provides a summary of the key 
issues relating to the Council’s workforce development plan.

1.9.  Appendices to the annex demonstrate how spending in 2019/20 has been 
funded, including the service budgets, grants, debt recovery and reserves. 
Updates are provided on the Capital Strategy, Treasury Management 
Strategy and Investment Strategy.

Page 12



2. Recommendations

That Cabinet:

2.1. note the contents of the report and the mitigating actions to manage the 
forecast outturn.

2.2.  note the contents of Annex 1 to the report.

2.3.  approve in accordance with Finance Procedure Rules Capital a virement 
over £1,000,000 and up to £5,000,000 (Appendix 4, Annex C);

2.3.1 £1,909,959 to amalgamate the Minor Works and Premises Capital 
(Facilities Management) budgets. 

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. The Council monitors in-year performance through a reporting cycle, which 
includes outturn reporting at year-end. Reports during the year reflect 
financial and operational performance and provide the opportunity for 
members to note, approve or recommend changes in line with the Council’s 
Financial Procedure Rules.

3.2.  The overall process for managing the Council’s resources focuses on value 
for money and good governance and stewardship. Financial changes that 
become necessary during the year are properly authorised and this report 
sets out those areas where any further approvals are now required.

3.3.  This report provides strong links between the Council’s statutory reporting 
requirements and the in-year monitoring processes for financial and non-
financial management of resources.

3.4.  It also meets the requirements of the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in the Public Services and the Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. Not applicable.

5. Background

5.1. Monitoring performance is essential to the achievement of outcomes within 
the Corporate Plan. This is especially important in evidencing the 
achievement of value for money across an organisation the size of 
Cheshire East Council. The Council is the third largest in the Northwest of 
England, responsible for over 500 services, supporting over 375,000 local 

Page 13



people. Gross annual spending is over £795m, with a net budget for 
2019/20 of £282.0m.

5.2.  The management structure of the Council is organised into three 
directorates, People, Place and Corporate. The Council’s reporting 
structure provides forecasts of a potential year-end outturn within each 
directorate during the year, as well as highlighting activity carried out in 
support of each outcome contained within the Corporate Plan.

5.3.  At the third quarter stage, action continues to ensure that the Council’s 
reserves strategy remains effective, and that General Reserves do not 
reduce following identification of the potential overspend of £6.8m (note this 
represents 2.4% against a net revenue budget of £282.0m). 

5.4.  General Reserve balances are risk assessed and it is clear that a number 
of risks, particularly associated with demand led service provision, have 
materialised. At year-end this situation may prevent the Council from 
increasing reserves in the 2019/2020 financial year in accordance with the 
forecast position provided to Council in February 2019. This issue will be 
addressed as part of the planning for the 2020/21 Budget. 

5.5. The Council complies with all of its legislative and regulatory requirements 
in accordance with the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management 
in the Public Services and the Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. The legal implications surrounding the process of setting the 2019 to 
2022 medium term financial strategy were dealt with in the reports 
relating to that process. The purpose of this paper is to provide a 
progress report at the third quarter stage of 2019/20. That is done as a 
matter of prudential good practice, notwithstanding the abolition of 
centrally imposed reporting requirements under the former National 
Indicator Set.

6.1.2. The only other implications arising directly from this report relate to the 
internal processes of approving supplementary capital estimates and 
virements referred to above which are governed by the Finance 
Procedure Rules.

6.1.3. Legal implications that arise when activities funded from the budgets 
that this report deals with are undertaken, but those implications will be 

Page 14



dealt within the individual reports to Members or Officer Decision 
Records that relate.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. Reserve levels are agreed, by Council, in February each year and are 
based on a risk assessment that considers the financial challenges 
facing the Council. The forecast overspend at third quarter is within the 
risk assessed level, but if it remains unresolved this could require the 
Council to deliver a greater level of future savings to replenish reserve 
balances.

6.2.2. As part of the process to produce this report, senior officers review 
expenditure and income across all services to support the development 
of mitigation plans that will return the outturn to a balanced position at 
year-end.

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. This report is a backward look at Council activities at third quarter and 
predicts the year-end position.

6.3.2. Performance management arrangements support the delivery of all 
Council policies. The forecast outturn position, ongoing considerations 
for future years, and the impact on general reserves will be fed into the 
assumptions underpinning the 2020/24 medium term financial strategy.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. Any equality implications that arise from activities funded by the 
budgets that this report deals with will be dealt within the individual 
reports to Members or Officer Decision Records to which they relate.

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. This report is a backward look at Council activities at third quarter and 
states the forecast year-end position. Any HR implications that arise 
from activities funded by the budgets that this report deals with will be 
dealt within the individual reports to Members or Officer Decision 
Records to which they relate.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. Performance and risk management are part of the management 
processes of the Authority. Risks are captured both in terms of the risk 
of underperforming and risks to the Council in not delivering its 
objectives for its residents, businesses, partners and other 

Page 15



stakeholders. Risks identified in this report are used to inform the 
overall financial control risk contained in the Corporate Risk Register.

6.6.2. Financial risks are assessed and reported on a regular basis, and 
remedial action taken if and when required. Risks associated with the 
achievement of the 2019/20 budget and the level of general reserves 
were factored into the 2019/20 financial scenario, budget and reserves 
strategy.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. The report provides details of service provision across the borough.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. The report provides details of service provision across the borough, 
acknowledges the Ofsted report and notes the overspend within 
Children in Care services.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. Public health implications that arise from activities that this report deals 
with will be dealt with as seperate reports to Members or Officer 
Decision Records as required.

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1. Any climate change implications that arise from activities funded by 
the budgets that this report deals with will be dealt within the individual 
reports to Members or Officer Decision Records to which they relate.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. All

8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1. As part of the budget setting process the Pre-Budget Report 2019/20 
provided an opportunity for interested parties to review and comment on 
the Council’s Budget proposals. The budget proposals described in the 
consultation document were Council wide proposals and that consultation 
was invited on the broad budget proposals. Where the implications of 
individual proposals were much wider for individuals affected by each 
proposal, further full and proper consultation was undertaken with people 
who would potentially be affected by individual budget proposals.

Page 16



9. Access to Information

9.1. The following are links to key background documents:
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2019/22
Mid Year Review

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Alex Thompson

Job Title: Director of Finance and Customer Services (Section 151 Officer)

Email: alex.thompson@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 17

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/your_council/council_finance_and_governance/cheshire_east_budget/cheshire-east-budget.aspx
https://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=241&MId=7460&Ver=4
mailto:alex.thompson@cheshireeast.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



ANNEX 1 

            

 

 Third Quarter  

 Review (FINANCE) 

 2019/20 
 

February 2020 

  

P
age 19



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This report receives scrutiny and approval from Members of Cheshire East Council. As a public report, anyone 

can provide feedback to the information contained here. 

 

Anyone wanting to comment can contact the Council at: 

shapingourservices@cheshireeast.gov.uk P
age 20

mailto:shapingourservices@cheshireeast.gov.uk


1 | P a g e  

Introduction 
Cheshire East Council is the third largest Council in the Northwest 
of England, supporting over 375,000 local people with annual 
spending of over £795m.  
 
Local government is going through a period of financial challenges, 
with a combination of increasing demand for services, rising costs 
and reduced Government grant. The Council’s response is to focus 
on increasing efficiency and productivity that enables us to deliver 
sustainable, quality services.  
 
Demand for Council services is increasing, with more individuals 
and families needing support and services than ever before. This 
reflects an increase in population but also reflects changes in 
demographics. This demand is resulting in revenue pressures of 
£6.8m (2.4%) against a net revenue budget of £282.0m. Robust 
action is being taken to mitigate this position, such as reducing 
non-essential spending to deliver a balanced outturn position and 
protect General Reserves. 
  
To support openness and transparency, and provide evidence of 
strong governance, the report has three main sections, to provide 
background and context, and then seven supporting appendices 
with detailed information about allocation and management of 
public money during 2019/20: 

Section 1 provides a summary of Council performance and brings 
together service achievement highlights against the six Outcomes 
in the Council’s four year Corporate Plan. 

Section 2 provides information on the overall financial stability and 
resilience of the Council. It demonstrates how spending in 2019/20 
is being funded, including the positions on overall service budgets, 
grants, council tax and business rates and centrally held budgets. 
Further details are contained in the appendices.  

Section 3 provides a summary of the issues relating to the 
Council’s Workforce Development Plan. 

­ Appendix 1 explains budget changes since the mid-year review. 

­ Appendix 2 shows the latest position for Corporate Grants. 

­ Appendix 3 analyses the position on Outstanding Debt. 

­ Appendix 4 shows updates to the Capital Strategy.  

­ Appendix 5 shows updates to the Treasury Management 
Strategy. 

­ Appendix 6 shows updates to the Investment Strategy. 

­ Appendix 7 lists details of Earmarked Reserves. 

 

 

Alex Thompson  

Director of Finance and Customer Services  
(Section 151 Officer) 

P
age 21



2 | P a g e  

Contents 
 

Introduction 1 

2019/20 Revenue Forecast – Third Quarter Review Summary 3 

  

Section 1 – Summary of Council Performance 4 

Section 2 – Financial Stability 16 

Section 3 – Workforce Development 25 

  

Appendices  

       Appendix 1 – Changes to Revenue Budget 2019/20 since Mid-Year Review  30 

       Appendix 2 – Corporate Grants Register 32 

       Appendix 3 – Debt Management 40 

       Appendix 4 – Capital Strategy 41 

       Appendix 5 – Treasury Management Strategy 53 

       Appendix 6 – Investment Strategy 67 

       Appendix 7 – Reserves Strategy 73 

  

  

  

  

 
 
 

 

  

P
age 22



 

3 | P a g e  

2019/20 Outturn Forecast at Third Quarter Review - Financial 

Position 
2019/20 Revised

Third Quarter Review Budget 

(GROSS Revenue Budget £646.3m) (NET)

£m £m £m

SERVICE DIRECTORATES 

People 170.4 175.3 4.9 Section 2 - Paragraphs 63-83

Place 72.9 72.8 (0.1) Section 2 - Paragraphs 84-88

Corporate 30.4 31.6 1.2 Section 2 - Paragraphs 89-93

Total Services Net Budget 273.7 279.7 6.0

CENTRAL BUDGETS

Capital Financing 12.0 12.0 -                            Appendix 4

Transfer to/(from) Earmarked Reserves  (2.9) (2.9) -                            Appendix 7

Corporate Contributions / Central Budgets (0.8) -                            0.8 Section 2 - Paragraph 94

Total Central Budgets 8.3 9.1 0.8

TOTAL NET BUDGET 282.0 288.8 6.8

Business Rates Retention Scheme (48.0) (48.0) -                            Section 2 - Paragraphs 113-117

Specific Grants (15.7) (15.7) -                            Appendix 2

Council Tax (216.2) (216.2) -                            Section 2 - Paragraphs 101-112

Sourced from Collection Fund (2.1) (2.1) -                            

CENTRAL BUDGETS FUNDING (282.0) (282.0) -                            

FUNDING POSITION -                            6.8 6.8

MITIGATING ACTIONS

Application of Capital receipts from sale of shares -2.4 -2.4

Retain general reserves at £10.3m -1.7 -1.7

Capitalise costs associated with ongoing projects 0.0 0.0

Further drawdown from Earmarked Reserves -2.7 -2.7

FUNDING POSITION WITH MITIGATION -                            0.0 0.0

Planned Forecast Forecast Impact

Contribution Variance on Reserves

2019/20 Third Quarter Third Quarter

£m £m £m

Impact on Reserves -                            (6.8) (6.8)

General Reserves Balance 2019/20 Budget Third Quarter Forecast 

(estimated)

£m £m

Opening Balance April 2019 10.3 Actual 10.3

2018/19 Impact on Reserves (see above) (6.8)      Section 2 - Paragraphs 96-99

Mitigating Actions 6.8

Closing Balance March 2020 10.3 Forecast 10.3

For  further information please see the following 

sections

Forecast 

Actual

 Outturn

Forecast

 Over /

 (Underspend) 

P
age 23



 

4 | P a g e  

1.  Summary of Council Performance 

Introduction 
 
1. Our Corporate Plan identifies six strategic outcomes that 

balance the immediate needs of our residents with a longer 
term vision of creating the conditions for people to thrive 
independently in a supportive environment. This section 
provides a summary of service achievement highlights 
against the six outcomes: 

 
Outcome 1 - Our local communities are strong and supportive 

 Individuals and families are self-reliant and take personal 
responsibility for their quality of life. 

 Communities are cohesive, with a strong sense of 
neighbourliness. There is genuine civic pride and mutual 
respect. 
 

Outcome 2 - Cheshire East has a strong and resilient economy 

 We will invest in the building blocks that will allow business 
to grow, give our residents the right skills to secure 

employment and attract inward investment in to the 
Borough.  

 By working together with business and our residents we will 
enhance the quality of place and create prosperity for all. 

 

Outcome 3 - People have the life skills and education they 
need in order to thrive 

 Children and young people get a good start in life, and are 
prepared for the world of work.  

 Everyone is equipped to live independent, self-sufficient 
lives, and to realise their particular talents and abilities. 

 

Outcome 4 - Cheshire East is a green and sustainable place 

 Cheshire East’s rural and urban character is protected and 
enhanced through sensitive development, environmental 
management, transport and waste disposal policies. 

 

Outcome 5 - People live well and for longer 

 Local people have healthy lifestyles and access to good 
cultural, leisure and recreational facilities.  

 Care services focus on prevention, early intervention and 
physical and mental wellbeing. 

 

Outcome 6 - A responsible, effective and efficient organisation 

 The Council serves the people of Cheshire East through:  

o ensuring quality and best value for local people,  

o striving to get it right first time, 

o and acting with integrity, being open, honest and 
accountable and delivering on our promises.  

P
age 24



 

5 | P a g e  

Outcome 1  

Our local communities are strong and supportive 

2. The Council welcomed the initial findings of an investigation 
into a fire at a care complex in which 130 residents lost their 
homes and personal belongings. Cheshire Fire and Rescue 
carried out a detailed investigation of the extensively-
damaged Beechmere complex, in Crewe, and while the more 
detailed report is expected, initial findings are that the fire was 
accidental. More than100 elderly residents were evacuated 
safely, thanks to the swift actions of the fire service, staff at 
the complex and the quick thinking of local residents who 
helped to get people to safety. The Council’s Adult Social 
Care, Commissioning and Housing Options teams are 
working with the property owners Avantage (Cheshire) and 
with Your Housing Group to help find long-term housing for 
the residents. To date, around two-thirds of the residents 
have been found alternative permanent homes.  Avantage 
has indicated its intention to rebuild the complex and will work 
with the Council and partner organisations on the design and 
construction. 

 
3. The response to the fire at Beechmere from the local 

community and businesses has been overwhelming. The 
Communities team has co-ordinated support efforts including 
donations of goods and bedding and volunteers. A volunteer 
event to celebrate the achievement of volunteers from the 
community has been held. 

 
4. A Multi Faith conference took place in November with over 

140 people in attendance from different communities, faith 
and voluntary services. A market place of commissioned 
services was also present. The theme of loneliness and 
isolation was chosen by the faith sector due to the growing 

concern nationally, regionally and locally. It was an 
opportunity to celebrate the work that the faith sector does but 
also for the conference to agree the priorities to start to tackle 
this concern. 

 
5. The migrant population of Cheshire East has changed 

significantly over the last 10 years with increasing diversity 
and a number of migrants working and living in the area. The 
schools census (2017) shows that there are 102 languages 
spoken in Cheshire East, and the main areas of settlement 
are in Crewe, Macclesfield, Knutsford and Wilmslow. 
Community Liaison Officers who support the migrant children, 
families and community have recently been celebrating the 
work they have been doing in one of the high schools in 
Crewe. A band has been formed to try and tackle cohesion 
issues, hate crime and cultural tensions within the school. The 
next step is to start to role this out in another school that is 
experiencing similar issues. 

 
6. 15 Neighbourhood Partnerships Action Plans have been 

developed following consultation with over 300 different 
organisations to identify a range of local priorities. 

 
7. A Bright Idea Fund has been launched, £200,000 will be open 

to Residents and the Voluntary, Community and Faith Sector 
to apply to tackle local issues. 

 
8. A Community Connecter Pilot was launched in Macclesfield, 

the role is to support people with complex issues to navigate 
to the right levels of support with the intentions of reducing 
problems from escalating.  

P
age 25

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/connected-communities/community_funds_and_grants/the-bright-idea-fund.aspx


 

6 | P a g e  

 
9. Through quarter 3 we have been running Operation Magpie 

with Cheshire police. This is a taxi test purchase operation 
being used to detect unlawfully plying for hire following a 
number of complaints. There are currently two cases where 
we intend to submit a file to Legal Services for further action.   

 
10. £533,714 has been prevented in detriment for consumers 

through a range of Trading Standards intervention and 
prevention services including civil advice, securing refunds, 
doorstep crime rapid responses, banking protocol, scams 
presentations and personal visits. To date this year, offenders 
via prosecution have been ordered to 89 months of 

imprisonment (24 months of which suspended), 300 hours 
community service, £11,800 in fines and 14 years directors 
exclusion. Financial confiscations for proceeds of crime 
obtained to the value of £62,000. 

 
11. During the third quarter, the Council confirmed that our annual 

Pride in the Park for 2020 will return to Queen’s Park in 
Crewe, following the Park’s successful hosting back in June 
2019. Our 2020 event will once again offer a whole host of 
family-friendly entertainment and activities, a vibrant parade, 
and a dedicated marketplace of LGBTQ+ organisations to 
help offer advice and information for guests.

P
age 26



 

7 | P a g e  

Outcome 2  

Cheshire East has a strong and resilient economy
12. In October, latest figures (for 2018) were published by 

STEAM showing a growth in the Cheshire East visitor 
economy from £921m (in 2017) to £963m. The value of the 
visitor economy in Cheshire East is on track to hit £1bn by 
2020; an ambitious target set out in the Cheshire East Visitor 
Economy Strategy 2016-2020. The latest figures show a 
77.1% increase in the value of the visitor economy to 
Cheshire East since the Borough came into being in 2009.  

 
13. Overnight stays in 2018 injected £207m into the hotel industry 

– an increase of 3.4% on the previous year, and figures show 
more people are staying overnight than ever before. The 
economic impact of day visitors also continues to surge to 
£712m; an increase of 4.8% in 2018. Added to this, 
employment in the sector increased by 1.9% in 2018 to a 
record 11,780 full time equivalents. 

 
14. During the third quarter the Council’s Economic Strategy was 

consulted on during the period August to September. The 
Strategy is a five-year plan outlining the main priorities that 
will support inclusive and sustainable growth across Cheshire 
East and delivery of the Council’s Corporate Plan outcomes. 
Consultation responses have been reviewed and used to 
inform the final version of the Strategy which is scheduled to 
return to Overview and Scrutiny Committee for consideration 
early in 2020 for formal adoption in the Spring. 

 
15. The Council has completed negotiations with Peveril 

Securities and entered into a contract to advance the 
demolition of the Royal Arcade site in Crewe town centre, in 
readiness for a new mixed-use development which will be 

subject to a separate development agreement. Physical 
demolition works are expected to start in summer 2020. 

 
16. Progress in refurbishing Crewe Market Hall is well underway 

with contractors Parkinsons on target to complete works in 
summer 2020, in readiness for a new operator to open and 
operate this important heritage building in the heart of Crewe 
town centre. 

 
17. In October Cabinet approved the Macclesfield Town Centre 

Strategic Regeneration Framework (SRF) which sets out a 
clear vision, principles and key objectives for the future 
development and regeneration of the town centre. Articulating 
the Council’s long-term commitment to Macclesfield, it is 
intended to provide the development sector with the 
confidence and certainty needed to bring forward investment, 
jobs and economic growth. Positive signs of private 
investment in the town centre are already occurring and this 
quarter has seen new town centre living schemes start on site 
at Georgian Mill in Park Green and Craven House in the retail 
core. The opening of the Picturedrome as a bustling foodhall 
with nine independents serving quality food and drink and 
reported to have had over 15,000 visitors in the first week of 
opening during this quarter is another key private sector 
investment in the town centre and a very significant boost to 
the town’s leisure economy. 
 

18. Additionally during this quarter, the final Shop Front Grant 
scheme for Phase Two in the Park Green/Lower Mill Street 
area was concluded with the delivery of the last of 16 
completed shop front refreshes. Detailed scrutiny of prices 

P
age 27



 

8 | P a g e  

and specification for the Castle Street public realm 
improvement scheme was also undertaken with the aim of 
enabling start on site in spring 2020. 
 

19. This quarter has seen the decision to develop Town Centre 
Vitality Plans for Alsager, Congleton, Handforth, Knutsford, 
Middlewich, Nantwich, Poynton, Sandbach and Wilmslow.  
External expert support is now being sought with a view to the 
first phase of work on these cross-functional action plans 
identifying potential actions, interventions and projects to 
support vitality in town centres commencing in quarter 1 
2020/21. 
 

20. With the Connecting Cheshire project having finished 
deployment in June, the Partnership which comprises 
Cheshire East, Cheshire West & Chester, Warrington and 
Halton Councils has passed the outline application gateway 
for £3m Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government European Regional Development funds. It is 
currently designing a £6m project to provide gigabit speed 
broadband infrastructure to around 430 small-medium sized 
businesses , and business support to a further 155 
businesses, which if successful with its bid will be rolled out in 
June 2020. 
 

P
age 28



 

9 | P a g e  

Outcome 3  

People have the life skills & education they need in order to thrive
21. Capital investment to increase our in-borough provision for 

learners with special educational needs (SEN) continues to 
accelerate. We have already opened new SEN provision in 
Shavington Primary School (12 place resource provision) and 
have expanded Springfield Special School in Crewe to 
accommodate an extra 24 learners. Two further new 
provisions are well progressed and due to open late 2020; 
these are the new ‘Axis’ School in Crewe and a 40 place 
building to expand Park Lane Special School in Macclesfield.  

 
22. As part of our quality assurance processes of SEN provisions 

across the borough, a comprehensive review of our resource 
provisions has recently been completed. This review 
highlighted the excellent work these provisions undertake on 
a daily basis with some of our most vulnerable learners.  

 
23. Key school performance indicators for 2019 are now being 

validated against national datasets. Cheshire East continues 
to perform well and there are many areas of outstanding 
outcomes for our young people. The Council has led on a 
nationally funded School Improvement Programme across 39 
schools directed at supporting disadvantaged learners. The 
outcomes of this programme have been very strong with the 
Department for Education (DfE) recognising the very positive 
work we have led on in support of our schools. 

 
24. An initial consultation meeting has taken place to engage with 

Elective Home Education parents to shape the way the local 
authority engages with them and ensures the children receive 
a sufficient education. 
 

25. The delivery model of “Cornerstone”, the behaviour and early 
intervention provision, continues to support children at 
primary school age who are on the edge of exclusion.   
Implementing an early intervention approach to support 
children has resulted in no permanent exclusions across 
primary education.     
 

26. Our joint focus and working together across directorates and 
the partnership on children missing education has resulted in 
a significant improvement in children attending school.  
 

27. Identification and support for medical needs students in 
providing an appropriate and flexible education for students 
unable to attend school due to a health need is seeing 
children supported to reintegrate into school, alternative 
provision or preparation for further education/apprenticeship 
or training. 

 
28. Reading Agency Regional data released during quarter 3 for 

library authorities in the North West (21 authorities) 
demonstrated that Cheshire East Libraries had: 

 Highest book issues to children age 4-12 

 Highest  % of population (16.6%) age 4-12 participating in 
Summer Reading Challenge (SRC) 

 Highest number of pre-school children participating in Mini 
SRC Challenge 

 Highest number of volunteers helping with the SRC during 
Summer of 2019, the majority being under age of 18 

 

P
age 29



 

10 | P a g e  

Outcome 4  

Cheshire East is a green and sustainable place 
29. New recycling and waste collection routes and schedules took 

effect from 4 November and saw many residents across the 
borough have a change in their collection days. These 
changes have been necessary to achieve long term 
efficiencies and to prepare for the new food waste recycling 
service being introduced in January. Residents were thanked 
for their patience and assistance following recycling and 
waste collection day changes. 
 

30. The Council launched a live consultation on its environmental 
strategy during quarter 3, setting out six ambitious priority 
areas following our declaration of a climate change 
emergency. The outputs of the consultation will be drafted 
into a report which will be reviewed and used to inform 
publication of a final strategy to support our ambitious target 
of being carbon neutral by 2025. 

 
31. Cheshire East has secured funding of over £100,000 to make 

improvements to Congleton Park. The work at the park will be 
funded by £50,000 from the FCC Communities Foundation 
Fund, and additional funding from housing developments in 
Congleton and the Cheshire East Parks Development Fund.  
The investment will see a new range of facilities in the park 
and much-needed improvements to the existing toddler play 
area. Work on the park started during November, with an 
official open day of the new look park scheduled in January 
2020. 
 

32. Crewe’s Queens Park has been recognised by the 
government as a national ‘Bees Needs Champion’. The 
award by the department for environment, food and rural 

affairs (Defra) recognises the historic venue’s work to help 
protect bees, and is in addition to the prestigious Green Flag 
that the park received for the fourth year and the special 
heritage accreditation for the third time. Queens Park’s latest 
win comes after its 18-month campaign to grow pollen-friendly 
plants and establish hives within the park. 
 

33. The Environmental Protection Team have developed an 
education package about air quality which has been recently 
delivered to years 5 & 6 at a number of primary schools. The 
presentation and the ‘hands on’ activities have received some 
very positive feedback and there are plans to extend this work 
over the coming months. 

 
34. Flood recovery work is continuing to repair affected areas 

from both the July and August flood events that affected the 
north of the borough. In addition the Highways Service 
tackled a further flooding event during significant rainfall on 25 
and 26 October which affected the south of the borough.   

 
35. During the October flood event the service saw the 

mobilisation of our Adverse Weather Desk, which remained in 
operation for four days. We have attended 1,188 gullies so far 
in response to the October flooding in the south of the 
borough. Any issues that have been identified (such as gully 
repairs) will then be programmed and followed up. This 
additional gully programme will see approximately 8,950 
gullies in total emptied over the coming months in the South. 

 
36. Cheshire East Highways have recently introduced a ‘mostly 

electric only powered site’ on McLaren Street in Crewe for a 

P
age 30



 

11 | P a g e  

scheme that updates old footpath flags to a new flexible 
surface. The site will see a hybrid van using solar panels, plus 
an electric van, an electric digger, an electric stihl saw, leaf 
blower and wacker plate as well as an electric dumper. This is 
a great step towards becoming carbon neutral and reducing 
the Highways service’s impact on the environment. 

 
37. Quarter 3 saw the start of another winter season as well as 

the investment in a fleet of 21 new gritters which contain 
innovative technology making them safer, more efficient and 

produce lower emissions. All of the new gritters are fitted with 
the latest ECON Engineering Technology and computerised 
systems providing the correct amount of salt to the surface at 
the required time. All the routes within Cheshire East are pre-
programmed into each vehicle giving the driver the required 
directions they are required to take, reducing the stress to the 
driver and enabling them to concentrate on the road 
conditions. The gritters are also fitted with the latest 
Masternaut tracking technology, giving live coverage of the 
vehicle’s data and location. 

P
age 31



 

12 | P a g e  

Outcome 5  

People live well and for longer
38. The Inspection of the Local Authority Children’s Services 

(ILACS) took place between 11 - 29 November 2019. The 
judgement given by Ofsted is requires improvement. Despite 
the judgement Ofsted did identify a number of areas of good 
practice and strengths. The inspection reviewed the quality of 
our support to children, young people and their families at 
early help and prevention, child in need and child protection, 
cared for and care leavers services, and education for 
vulnerable pupils, an action plan will be in place to address 
the areas for improvement. 
 

39. In quarter 3, Cheshire East was announced as one of 8 local 
authorities who had been successful in a bid to the DfE to 
establish the Mockingbird model for Foster Carers. 
Mockingbird is an innovative method of delivering foster care 
using an extended family model which provides sleepovers 
and short breaks, peer support, regular joint planning and 
training, and social activities.   
 

40. During November we also celebrated our annual November 
Children’s Rights Month (NCRM). The purpose of NCRM is to 
raise awareness of children’s rights and make it clear to 
children and young people that we value their opinions and 
rights. This year’s theme was all about “Going the Distance” 
and we pledged to children and young people how we will “Go 
the Distance” for them throughout 2020 and beyond. 
 

41. On 24 November, our STAR celebration ceremony was held 
at Tatton Park, recognising and celebrating the achievements 
of our cared for children and care leavers. The ceremony is a 
key part of our corporate parenting strategy, and around 300 

children, young people and their carers attended, along with 
the Mayor and members of the Corporate Parenting 
Committee. The theme of the event was ‘Pirates and 
Princesses’, and teams created a magical party atmosphere 
with activities including a treasure hunt, ‘walk the plank’, arts 
and crafts and birds of prey. 
 

42. During quarter 3, agencies from across Cheshire East came 
together at an event to acknowledge White Ribbon Day, to 
hear and learn from those directly affected by domestic 
abuse. The event is an example of how the multi-agency 
Cheshire East Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 
Partnership wants to lead the way by offering a wide range of 
training for professionals, with the aim of providing support at 
an earlier stage, before victims reach crisis point. 

 
43. The Council’s commissioned Domestic Abuse Provider, 

Cheshire Without Abuse, has successfully applied for £99,000 
funding from the Office of the Cheshire Police and Crime 
Commissioner to improve the support available to women 
who have had involvement in the criminal justice system. The 
project aims to reduce reoffending rates by addressing 
underlying causes of offending. The funding will provide a 
triage system to assess needs, a named support worker to 
ensure that women are able to access appropriate support as 
well as running peer support groups, advice clinics and 
wellbeing activities in Women’s Centres. 

 
44. The provider has also been successful in securing £100,000 

of MHCLG funding for a Domestic Abuse Complex 
Accommodation Worker to expand the range of 

P
age 32



 

13 | P a g e  

accommodation and specialist support provision available to 
victims of domestic abuse, particularly those with complex 
needs, within the Cheshire East footprint. The service has 
also secured funding of £26,500 to develop and sustain new 
safe accommodation and refurbish existing refuges. 
 

45. National Adoption Week 2019 took place from 14 to 20 
October, and the Council supported the campaign by raising 
awareness to find more loving parents for children that need a 
loving home. The Council’s regional adoption agency, 
Adoption Counts, understands that adoption is life changing, 
and is there for the adopter, every step of the way. 
 

46. This year as part of the annual Make Your Mark Campaign 
8,562 young people aged 11-18 cast 17,124 votes to say 
what issues and topics are most important to them. This 
record breaking turn out for Cheshire East saw an increase of 
almost 4,000 young people having their say. Young people 
voted the most important issue in Cheshire East to be Protect 
the Environment. The second most important issue in 
Cheshire East was Knife Crime and the third was Mental 
Health. 

 
47. In November our Members of Youth Parliament went to the 

Houses of Commons to debate these issues and help to 
decide on the annual UK Youth Parliament Campaign. 
 

48. Two Youth Support Service Awards evenings for young 
people took place in Cheshire East in November; one in the 
North; and one in the South of the borough. The purpose of 
these awards was to celebrate the achievements of young 
people in the past year within the Youth Support Service. 

 
49. In October the eagerly awaited completion of the outdoor 

Alsager Sports Hub and redeveloped Alsager Leisure Centre 
opened for use by local Alsager residents and sports clubs.  

The £5.2m investment including new all weather football and 
hockey pitches, grass football pitches, new gym, group cycle 
and fitness studios was made possible as part of a section 
106 Agreement with David Wilson Homes as part of the 
redevelopment of the former Alsager / MMU campus for 
housing. 

 
50. The Cheshire East Mental Health Partnership Board went live 

in December 2019 and aims to promote mental health and 
work with key services to improve health and wellbeing, 
respond effectively to the needs of people experiencing 
mental ill health and support people through recovery to 
achieve their maximum potential to lead active lives. The 
board will monitor progress against the agreed priorities in the 
Cheshire East Mental Health Strategy. 

 
51. A new Mental Health Floating Support service went live on 1 

December to provide short term floating support interventions 
to people over the age of 18 who need support to manage 
their mental health. The services provide support to help 
people become more independent at home, maintain their 
tenancies, and promote general health and wellbeing. 

 
52. In October 2019 the new integrated Sexual Health Contract 

was awarded to Liverpool University Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust. The new service operates under the brand 
name of AXESS Sexual Health Cheshire East. It is a free 
contraception and sexual health service for Cheshire East 
residents. They offer a wide range of confidential services, 
including STI testing, treatment, contraception (including long-
acting and emergency), pregnancy testing, PEP, and 
specialist young people’s services. This also includes the 
launch of a new postal STI testing and treatment service for 
residents through their digital partner, SH:24 giving residents 
the option of quick, accessible and confidential STI testing’s. 

 

P
age 33



 

14 | P a g e  

53. Cheshire East Children’s services and Commissioning teams 
have been working jointly with Change Grow Live (CGL) the 
commissioned substance misuse provider to ensure that drug 
and alcohol services are actively engaged in child in need 
planning. This has resulted in improvements in practice and 
communication for professionals supporting families where 
substance misuse is a factor. Working together to improve 

practice has meant that families are getting the right support 
and advice from specialist services at the right time. It has 
ensured a co-ordinated whole family approach that is 
focussed on improving outcomes for the children and young 
people.  

 

P
age 34



 

15 | P a g e  

Outcome 6  

A Responsible, Effective and Efficient Organisation 
54. In November the Council launched its Pre-Budget 

Consultation Report for 2020 to 2024. Set against a backdrop 
of increasing demand and rising costs, the report sets out 
service proposals and financial plans for the period from 1 
April 2020 through to 31 March 2021. The Council invited the 
opinions and views from residents, businesses, councillors, 
staff, town and parish councils, local community groups and 
other stakeholders, whose feedback will be used to inform the 
budget setting process. The consultation ran until early 
January, and will be considered by full Council on 20 
February 2020. 
 

55. The Council’s ‘Big Conversation’ staff survey took place 
earlier in 2019, and results in quarter 3 showed that staff are 
more positive about the future of the authority and feel more 
engaged, valued and supported in their work. More than 
2,000 staff took part in the survey, with employee 
engagement showing a rise of almost a quarter from 55% in 
2016 to 68%.   

 
56. As would be expected in any large organisation, there are 

some areas where we need to improve, for example only 33% 
of staff thinking decisions are made at the right level. In 
quarter 3 the Council worked to develop action plans to 

identify areas for improvement and will take proactive 
measures to respond and implement. 
 

57. The Estates Property Projects team have work valued at 
£69.3m underway on the Council’s assets. £11m projects 
were completed including Cledford Hall Farm - Demolition. 
They are currently overseeing £22.4m of construction 
projects, half being classroom/education facility extensions. 
The Service has also generated £3.8m of capital receipts in 
the first three quarters of 2019/20; £1.7m of which were from 
the Farms Estate. This is just over half of the full year 
estimation, with only £70,000 worth of disposals slipping into 
the next financial year. 

 
58. On 19 November 2019, the Council celebrated International 

Men’s Day with an event at Nantwich Town Football Club.  
The event was very well attended and featured talks from 
both our Executive Director of Place, Frank Jordan and our 
Acting Director of Public Health, Dr Matt Tyrer. They were 
joined for the talks by Superintendent Pete Crowcroft from 
Cheshire Police, Gus O’Rourke from the Cheshire Fire and 
Rescue Service and Dr Christopher Tompkinson from 
BodyPositive. The six themes of the day were: role models, 
positive contribution, men’s health, discrimination, gender 
relations and creating a safer and better world.

P
age 35

https://cheshire.police.uk/
https://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/
https://www.cheshirefire.gov.uk/
https://www.bpcnw.co.uk/


 

16 | P a g e  

2.  Financial Stability 

Introduction 

59. The Council has a strong track record of sound financial 
management. Nevertheless, in common with all UK local 
authorities the Council finds itself in a position where 
pressures on the revenue budget are intensifying as a result 
of increased costs, growing demand and reducing 
Government grant. The pressures are most intense in 
Children’s and Adults’ Social Care.  

 
60. A full mitigation plan is in progress to address the forecast 

overspend and ensure that the General Reserves are 
protected. Given the scale of the financial pressures 
achieving a balanced budget position this year will be 
extremely challenging. 

 
61. Table 1 provides a service summary of financial performance 

at third quarter. The current forecast is that services will 
overspend by £6.0m in the current year. The Financial 
Narratives provide further details and changes to service net 
budgets since the mid-year review are analysed in Appendix 
1. 

 
62. Further items impacting on the level of the Council’s balances 

are detailed in the paragraphs below on Central 
Contingencies and Contributions. 

 
 

 
 
 

 

Table 1 - Service Revenue Outturn Forecasts 

 
  

2019/20 Revised
Third Quarter Review Budget 

(GROSS Revenue Budget £646.3m) (NET)

£m £m £m

SERVICE DIRECTORATES 

Directorate 0.9 0.3 (0.6)

Children's Social Care 37.1 40.9 3.8

Education & 14-19 Skills 14.5 14.5 -                          

Prevention & Early Help 8.0 7.7 (0.3)

Adult Social Care - Operations 24.8 26.4 1.6

Commissioning 85.1 85.5 0.4

Public Health -                          -                          -                          

Public Sector Transformation -                          -                          -                          

People 170.4 175.3 4.9

Directorate 0.7 0.7 -                          

Environment & Neighbourhood Services 39.5 39.6 0.1

Growth & Enterprise 20.5 20.1 (0.4)

Highways & Infrastructure 12.2 12.4 0.2

Place 72.9 72.8 (0.1)

Directorate 0.8 0.6 (0.2)

Finance & Customer Services 7.6 8.2 0.6

Governance & Compliance Services 10.0 10.4 0.4

Transformation 12.0 12.4 0.4

Corporate 30.4 31.6 1.2

Total Services Net Budget 273.7 279.7 6.0

Forecast 

Actual

 Outturn

Forecast

 Over /

 (Underspend) 

P
age 36



 

17 | P a g e  

Financial Narratives 

Children’s Social Care – pressure of £3.8m 
63. The key pressures facing the service include: 

- Agency Care placements £3.9m 

- Offset by the implementation of the residential  

care contract -£1.5m 

- Additional staffing requirements £0.4m 

- Fostering placements £0.5m 

- Efficiency savings target  £0.2m 

- Pressures on Regional Adoption Agency spend £0.2m 

- Commissioning contracts exceeding budget £0.1m 
 

64. The service continues to take steps to manage these cost 
pressures. Further details are set out below. 
 
Agency Care placements / Delay in residential homes 
contract 

65. The number of cared for children is 521 at the end of 
December 2019. This represents an additional 37 children 
since the March 2019 figure of 484. 
 

66. Most children enter care due to neglect and abuse with 
increasing numbers of children being made the subject of 
applications to the Family Courts to secure their welfare. In 
the period April 2019 to December 2019, 126 children and 
young people entered care and 89 left care as a result of 
special guardianship, adoption, returning home or moving to 
independent living. 
 

67. A number of initiatives are being taken forward to reduce the 
pressures such as commissioning residential children’s 
homes locally, providing intensive support to children in need, 
joining a regional adoption agency and setting up a shared 
fostering marketing and recruitment hub with Cheshire West, 

Warrington and Halton Councils. The Council is also looking 
to develop a more intensive support offer for children in care 
to prevent placement disruption, negative impact on life 
choices and escalation to more expensive provision. 
 

68. The net pressure for the placements budget is £2.3m at third 
quarter. There has been a delay in fully mobilising the 
children’s residential contract. This is due to external delays 
with Ofsted registration. There has also been an increase in 
external foster placements due to a decrease in the number 
of mainstream foster placements and increased number of 
children in care. 

 
Additional staffing requirements 

69. Staffing pressures of £0.4m are being experienced within 
Children’s Social Care teams, this includes: Permanence and 
Through Care due to increase in complex demand and the 
newly established contact team. The Director is looking into 
these issues and options to manage within budget. 
 
Fostering Placements 

70. The rise in the number of children in care is placing additional 
pressure on the fostering service. This includes more 
allowances and an increase in the number of Special 
Guardianship Orders. This is giving a pressure of £0.5m. 
 
Efficiency savings target 

71. The service has an ongoing efficiency target to deliver 
savings in staffing and travel which is a challenge to deliver at 
present. However, progress has been made since mid-year to 
reduce staffing pressures. This is giving a pressure of £0.2m. 
 
Pressures on Regional Adoption Agency spend 

72. The Council is working as part of a regional collaboration for 
adoption called “Adoption Counts”. The collaboration is 
experiencing cost pressures from higher activity levels. These 

P
age 37



 

18 | P a g e  

additional costs are being shared across the partners. This is 
giving a pressure of £0.2m. 
 
Commissioning contracts exceeding budget 

73. Pressure on the commissioning budget of £0.1m as activity is 
currently exceeding budget. The service will look to deliver 
savings each time a contract is renewed. 

 
Education and Skills – net nil  

74. Key issues for the service relate to: 

 Special Educational Needs and Disabilities – the service is 
being restructured to improve capacity and 
responsiveness. A pressure of £0.2m is being recorded as 
a result of the use of agency staff to cover vacant posts 
while the restructure is progressing.  

 Transport – the Council’s transport provider, Transport 
Service Solutions (TSS), is currently forecasting a 
balanced position which reflects the significant progress to 
deliver the ongoing savings plan by TSS and the Council. 
The Council has taken a number of steps to support TSS 
to deliver within the management fee, including a business 
process review to ensure efficiencies in back office 
arrangements, particularly commissioning, and the 
implementation of revised travel policies. 

 Catering – due to increasing costs, of food for example, the 
service is unable to generate additional income from 
schools giving a pressure of £0.1m.  

 Other areas of Education and Skills have generated a net 
underspend of £0.3m through vacant posts. 
 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) - Pressure of £3.7m 
75. Budgets for the Council’s DSG allocation are managed within 

Education and Skills and Prevention and Early Help. 
 

76. There is a forecast pressure of £3.7m against the high needs 
DSG block of £36.5m. Key issues for the service relate to: 

 Pressures on top up funding for mainstream schools and 
resource provisions. 

 Pressures on special provision schools, external and post 
16 placements. These are recognised nationally as a 
pressure affecting most Councils. 

 
77. This variance is not included as part of the revenue outturn 

forecast and will be met from the DSG reserve. 
 

78. The service is working to implement a DSG high needs 
recovery plan to address these issues. This includes plans to 
enhance scrutiny, review placement costs and the basis for 
the local payment rates, and develop more local provision. 

 
Prevention and Early Help – underspend of £0.3m 

79. The service is forecasting a £0.3m underspend mainly as a 
result of vacancies being held or delays in filling senior posts 
following a significant reorganisation in 2018/19. 
 
Adult Social Care, Commissioning and Public Health  

80. Adult Social Care and Public Health budgets remains under 
continued pressure locally and across the country. The 
pressure here in Cheshire East comes from a combination of 
factors, which have been building over a number of years. 
These relate to meeting the needs of our most vulnerable 
residents in the community, those in long term care and 
hospital. Demand for services creates pressure in all areas 
which means practitioners time assessing needs, 
commissioners’ time targeting needs and support staff time 
enabling needs becomes a sometimes daily and weekly 
prioritisation. Sometimes we are able to offer information and 
advice which enables people to access the right services but 
on other occasions we are duty bound to provide services 

P
age 38



 

19 | P a g e  

which meet the eligible needs of our residents. We are 
commissioning new services to help care providers who are 
struggling to respond to request for placements, however, 
providing care packages remains a daily challenge. 

 
81. Adult Social Care Commissioning have responded to this 

challenge by commissioning the care home and care at home 
market to ensure there is a more outcomes focused offer to 
service users and more certainty for providers. In addition to 
this a new flexible respite offer has been designed and 
implemented. They have also introduced an Early Help 
Framework to support better outcomes in the Voluntary, 
Community and Faith sectors. A new substance misuse and 
sexual health contract has also been awarded. 

 
82. We are seeing additional support requirements across the 

age spectrum. It is a source of great celebration that our 
population continues to live longer, but not everyone can do 
this without significant care and support. There are many 
more young people coming through transition into adulthood 
with many more complex needs. Equally the need for services 
to support our aging population continues to rise and those 
people of adult age have many more complex health and care 
needs now. This is of course all against the backdrop of our 
local NHS financial challenges and the interdependencies 
between health and social care which can be seen in our 
planning for winter which is our most challenging time of the 
year. 

 
83. The department continues work on transforming the offer to 

these people who rely on Adult Social Care, Commissioning 
and Public Health. This is supported by some very targeted 
actions aimed at reducing the extent of any adverse pressure 
to the budget and continue to meet the needs with positive 
outcomes. Measures that deliver savings based on service 
redesign with the person always in mind whilst ensuring a 

safe service is at the heart of what we are doing. A further 
financial risk at the present time relates to the current financial 
position of the Council’s largest partner the local NHS who 
are under significant financial pressure. The Adult Social 
Care, Commissioning and Public Health service is reporting 
an overspend of £2.0m at year end against a gross budget of 
£174m. The forecast overspend for the People Directorate is 
therefore £4.9m at year end as identified in Table 1 above. 
This position includes £0.5m savings for non-essential spend 
and capitalise costs. 
 
Place Directorate  

84. Place is reporting an underspend of £0.1m against a budget 
of £72.9m at third quarter review.  

 
Environment and Neighbourhood Services 

85. There are staffing savings resulting from part year vacancies 
in Regulatory Services and Libraries. The book fund spend 
has been reduced in Libraries to help with the Council’s 
overall financial position. Income pressures exist due to the 
later than planned introduction of CIL, lower income from 
markets and pressures on diversion charges in Public Rights 
of Way. Also one off costs have occurred in CCTV to replace 
the CCTV recorders. 
 
Growth and Enterprise 

86. There are staffing savings resulting from part year vacancies 
in Facilities Management and Housing. Other favourable 
variances have occurred due to lower water and energy 
charges in Facilities Management. Other budget pressures 
exist relating to diversion charges in Public Rights of Way. 
 
Highways and Infrastructure 

87. One of the main changes from mid-year review is the financial 
pressure the recent flooding has caused. This totals £0.5m. 
To help mitigate these costs £0.2m has been released from 

P
age 39



 

20 | P a g e  

reserves which were allocated for winter pressures. Higher 
external costs have arisen across Infrastructure and Strategic 
Transport. However, there are staffing savings resulting from 
part year vacancies and maternity leave in Parking which are 
partially off-setting these pressures. 

 
88. Since the quarterly budget monitoring exercise, budget 

managers across Place services have introduced cost control 
measures to further improve the financial position. 
 

Corporate Directorate  

89. The £30.4m budget for Corporate Services, which includes 
the Mutually Agreed Resignation Scheme (MARS) saving, 
and Digital savings is currently forecast to outturn at a £1.2m 
overspend, which is £0.1m worse than at mid-year review. 
The reasons for the overspend remain as being mainly due to 
unachievable Digital Savings of £0.8m, unachievable savings 
linked to the replacement of the existing Finance and HR 
system, Oracle £0.5m and MARS £0.3m. The change in 
outturn since mid-year is mainly due to a large downward shift 
in Legal Services forecast income and a reported overspend 
in ICT Strategy. 
 

90. The Corporate Services Directorate area includes the cost of 
the Chief Executive and associated budgets, and the 
Executive Director of Corporate Services, along with the 
temporary three year £280,000 Corporate Services growth. 
Overall there has been a slight improvement with a forecast 
underspend of £134,000 (£116,000 at mid-year) however, 
there is a £146,000 overspend within the Directorate due to 
interim costs, and payments to a previous Chief Operating 
Officer leaving the authority, along with recruitment costs for 
the new structure. There is also a £91,000 saving relating to 
the Admin Review that is meant to be eliminated by savings 
achieved through the Corporate Services restructure. These 
pressures are being offset by Corporate Services temporary 

growth budget that will be moved to services once the 
Corporate Services restructuring has been completed. 

 
Finance & Customer Services 

91. The overall forecast for Finance and Customer Services is a 
£0.6m overspend which is a £0.5m improvement on the 
£1.1m forecast at mid-year review. The majority of the 
overspend is attributable to the service holding £0.8m Digital 
savings which are unachievable and £0.2m savings linked to 
the implementation of Best4Business System. These 
pressures are partially offset by in-year staffing underspends 
within Finance and Procurement, and Customer Services, 
and an over-recovery of Housing Benefit Grant. 
 
Transformation 

92. Transformation is forecast to overspend by £0.4m (£0.3m at 
mid-year review). The overall Human Resources (HR) budget 
includes the cross-council MARS saving of £0.3m, part of 
savings linked to the implementation of Best4Business £0.3m 
and the shared Transactional Services (TSC) hosted by 
Cheshire West & Chester (CWaC). HR is forecast to 
underspend by £0.1m however the CEC HR budget is 
forecast to significantly underspend on departmental 
employees budget due to secondments, vacancies, maternity 
leave, and recruitment awaiting a restructure. This is offset 
mainly due to TSC forecasting an overspend of £0.1m. 
Business Change is forecast to overspend by £0.3m due to 
additional staffing costs at Director, Head of Service, and 
within the Equality & Diversity team which is being partially 
offset by underspends due to vacant posts in 
Communications and Business Intelligence, and the Project 
Management Office income is forecast to be under-recovered 
by £0.5m but this is currently being largely offset by an 
underspend on salaries due to vacancies as well as supplies 
and transport costs. ICT Strategy is forecast to overspend by 
£0.4m due to an increase in spend on third-party contracts 

P
age 40



 

21 | P a g e  

and an increased number of licences, ICT Service Delivery 
partially offsets this by forecasting an underspend of £0.2m 
split between CEC and CWaC. 

 
Governance & Compliance 

93. Governance & Compliance is forecast to overspend by £0.4m 
which is a £0.7m shift since mid-year review mainly due to a 
fall in the forecast income for Legal Services, and a fall in the 
underspend being forecast by Governance & Democratic 
Services. Legal Services is forecasting an overspend of 
£0.7m due unbudgeted posts and a forecast under-
achievement in income. The Director of Governance & 
Compliance (DoG&C), is forecast to overspend by £0.1m due 
to a shortfall in the budget for the DoG&C post. These 
pressures are being partially offset by underspends in 
Governance & Democratic Services, and Audit & Risk. 

 
Central Contingencies and Contributions 

Table 2 – Central Budgets Forecast 

 
 

94. It is currently forecast that there will be a £0.8m overspend to 
budget on the central budget. This is mainly due to an 
expected overspend relating to a budget of £0.2m held to 
meet past service Employer Pension contributions for staff 
that have transferred to Alternative Service Delivery Vehicle 
companies. Budgeted transfers of £2.9m from earmarked 
reserves are expected to take place in-year as planned.  
 

95. Grants relating to business rates have been received centrally 
in-year that are additional to budget which will be transferred 
to reserves for future use. Details of grants received and 
reserves can be found at Appendix 2 and Appendix 7 
respectively. 

 
Outturn Impact 

96. The impact of the projected service outturn position is to 
decrease balances by £6.0m as reported above (para 61).  
 

97. Taken in to account with the central budget items detailed 
above (para 96), the financial impact could result in a 
reduction in balances of £6.8m as shown in Table 3.  

 
98. To mitigate the potential impact of the current forecast 

overspend the Council are taking a number of actions. For 
example, spending on non-essential activity is being 
challenged and where practical will be stopped, staffing 
vacancies are reviewed before being filled and capital and 
reserves balances are being assessed. Further robust actions 
will be taken (shown in Table 3) which are expected to reduce 
and return the impact on balances to nil in line with the 
outturn achieved in recent years. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2019/20 Revised
Third Quarter Review Budget 

(GROSS Revenue Budget £646.3m) (NET)

£m £m £m

CENTRAL BUDGETS

Capital Financing 12.0 12.0 -                          

Transfer to/(from) Earmarked Reserves  (2.9) (2.9) -                          

Corporate Contributions / Central Budgets (0.8) -                          0.8

Total Central Budgets 8.3 9.1 0.8

Forecast 

Actual

 Outturn

Forecast

 Over /

 (Underspend) 

P
age 41



 

22 | P a g e  

99. Table 3 – Impact on Balances 

 £m 

Service Net Budget Outturn (6.0) 

Central Budgets Outturn (0.8) 

Specific Grants Outturn 0.0 

Total Impact on Balances (6.8) 

Mitigating Actions 
Application of Capital receipts from sale of shares 

Retain general reserves at £10.3m 

Further drawdown from Earmarked Reserves 

 
-2.4 

-1.7 

-2.7 

Total Mitigating Actions (6.8) 

 
Collecting Local Taxes for Local Expenditure 

100. Cheshire East Council collects Council Tax and Non 
Domestic Rates for use locally and nationally. 
 
Council Tax 

101. Council Tax is set locally and retained for spending locally. 
Council Tax was set for 2019/20 at £1,446.27 for a Band D 
property. This is applied to the taxbase. 

 
102. The taxbase for Cheshire East reflects the equivalent number 

of domestic properties in Band D that the Council is able to 
collect Council Tax from (after adjustments for relevant 
discounts, exemptions and an element of non-collection). The 
taxbase for 2019/20 was agreed at 149,517.54 which, when 
multiplied by the Band D charge, means that the expected 
income for the year is £216.2m.  

 
103. In addition to this, Cheshire East Council collects Council Tax 

on behalf of the Cheshire Police and Crime Commissioner, 

the Cheshire Fire Authority and Parish Councils. Table 4 
shows these amounts separately, giving a total budgeted 
collectable amount of £265.7m. 

 
Table 4 – Cheshire East Council collects Council Tax on 
behalf of other precepting authorities 

 

 £m 

Cheshire East Council 216.2 

Cheshire Police and Crime 
Commissioner 

30.0 

Cheshire Fire Authority 11.6 

Town and Parish Councils 7.9 

Total 265.7 

 
104. This figure is based on the assumption that the Council will 

collect at least 99% of the amount billed. The Council will 
always pursue 100% collection, however to allow for non-
collection the actual amount billed will therefore be more than 
the budget.  

 
105. This figure may also vary during the year to take account of 

changes to Council Tax Support payments, the granting of 
discounts and exemptions, and changes in numbers and 
value of properties. The amount billed to date is £269.8m. 

 
106. Table 5 shows collection rates within three years, and 

demonstrates that 99% collection is on target to be achieved 
within this period. 

 

 

 

P
age 42



 

23 | P a g e  

Table 5 – Over 99% of Council Tax is collected within 
three years 

  CEC Cumulative 

Financial 
Year 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

 % % % % 

After 1 year 98.1 98.3 98.2 98.2 

After 2 
years 

99.0 99.1 99.1 ** 

After 3 
years 

99.3 99.3 ** ** 

**data not yet available 

 
107. The Council Tax in-year collection rate for the period up to 

November 2019 is 75.3%, a small decrease on the previous 
year which is due to residents taking up the option of 12 
monthly instalments. 
 

108. Council Tax support payments (including Police and Fire) 
were budgeted at £16.2m for 2019/20 and at the end of the 
November the total council tax support awarded was £15.3m. 
The Council Tax Support caseload has reduced since April 
2014 and there have been more reductions in the Council Tax 
Support awards in the year than increased or new awards. 

 
109. No changes were made to the Council Tax Support scheme 

for 2019/20. The scheme was confirmed unchanged by full 
Council in December 2018. 

 
110. A consultation on proposed changes to the Council Tax 

Support scheme for 2020/21 took place over the summer with 
a closing date of 16 September 2019. 

 
111. Council Tax discounts awarded are £24.3m which is broadly 

in line with the same period in 2018/19. 
 
112. Council Tax exemptions awarded total £5.9m which is broadly 

in line with the same period in 2018/19. 
 

Non-Domestic Rates (NDR) 

113. NDR is collected from businesses in Cheshire East based on 
commercial rateable property values and a nationally set 
multiplier. The multiplier changes annually in line with inflation 
and takes account of the costs of small business rate relief. 

 
114. The small business multiplier applied to businesses which 

qualify for the small business relief was set at 49.1p in 
2019/20. The non-domestic multiplier was set at 50.4p in the 
pound for 2019/20. 
 

115. Cheshire East Council continues to be in a pooling 
arrangement with the Greater Manchester (GM) Authorities 
(also includes Cheshire West and Chester from 2016/17) for 
the purposes of Business Rates Retention. The purpose of 
the pool is to maximise the retention of locally generated 
business rates to further support the economic regeneration 
of Greater Manchester and Cheshire Councils. As a pool the 
members will be entitled to retain the levy charge on growth 
that would normally be paid over to Central Government. 
Cheshire East will retain 50% of this levy charge locally 
before paying the remainder over to the pool. 

 
116. Table 6 demonstrates how collection continues to improve 

even after year end. The table shows how over 99% of non-
domestic rates are collected within three years. 

 
 

P
age 43



 

24 | P a g e  

Table 6 – Over 99% of Business Rates are collected 
within three years 

  CEC Cumulative 

Financial 
Year 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

 % % % % 

After 1 year 98.1 97.7 98.3 98.5 

After 2 
years 

99.1 99.2 99.4 ** 

After 3 
years 

99.5 99.8 ** ** 

**data not yet available 

 
 
 
 
 

117. The business rates in-year collection rate for the period 
up to November 2019 is 73.3% which is broadly in line 
with previous year’s collection. Business rates collection 
is historically volatile due to the lower volume but higher 
value payment profile and the collection rate is expected 
to recover in future months.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 44



 

25 | P a g e  

3.  Workforce Development

118. This section sets out the Council’s activities and progress in 
relation to HR, Organisational Development, Health and 
Safety and Workforce Development plans and changes for 
the year 2019/20. 

 
Culture and Values 

119. Following the Local Government Association’s independent 
culture review in 2016 and acceptance of the report’s 
recommendations, overall delivery of the planned phases of 
the Brighter Future Together (Culture) Programme has been 
completed. The recommendations have been addressed 
through the programme and work continues to embed the 
values, behaviours and employee deal across the 
organisation. 
 

120. ‘My Conversation’ toolkits have been launched to guide staff 
in conversations in one to one meetings, team meetings and 
for the performance development meetings. The toolkits are 
aligned with the Vision for the Council’s workplace culture and 
behaviours, and employee deal. This will allow all staff to 
embed the behaviours in their day to day work alongside 
other developments such as utilising the behaviours within a 
recruitment toolkit, leadership and management skills 
programme, coaching programme and recognition events. 

 
121. A full Employee Survey, The Big Conversation, took place in 

July 2019. The survey focused on the key elements for the 
Council’s vision for workplace culture: having a shared 
purpose, being supported and well led, being treated fairly 
and highly valued and succeeding together. The survey 

response rate was 55 per cent and the results were 
encouraging. Employee engagement rose by almost a quarter 
from 55 per cent in 2016 to 68 per cent in 2019.  

 
122. Work has continued to promote the ‘Made my Day’ scheme 

that enables staff to be recognised at every level across the 
Council. This year we have already surpassed the total for 
2018 with 1,987 being sent up to the end of October 2019.  
There is strong engagement in our peer-nominated monthly 
and annual awards scheme – ‘Making a Difference for a 
Brighter Future Together’. These awards are now closely 
aligned our new cultural themes. 

 
123. Wellbeing is a joint commitment within the Council’s 

Employee Deal. A Wellbeing roadshow was held in 
September for two weeks across all key sites across the 
Council including Cledford House in Middlewich and 
Goldsmith House in Chester. This event saw 596 members of 
staff taking part in health checks. Feedback from staff has 
been really positive. 

 
Building Capability and Capacity 

124. The Corporate Training Programme and Continuous 
Professional Development Portfolios seek to ensure that the 
Council creates a workforce which is safe, knowledgeable 
and competent in performing their duties to the highest 
possible standard, providing the best quality services to the 
residents and businesses. 
 

P
age 45



 

26 | P a g e  

125. So far in 2019/20, 82 training courses have been offered to 
Cheshire East Council employees, across the Corporate 
Training Programme and directorate specific training plans, 
with 288 individual sessions taking place. 28 employees 
successfully secured funding approval via the Continuous 
Professional Development Panel for role specific 
development and qualifications in over the year, seeing over 
£16,853 investment. 

 
126. Developing management capability at all levels has continued 

with 28 managers being on track to complete the Institute of 
Learning and Management (ILM) Level 3 and Level 5 Diploma 
qualifications. Following the leadership and management 
skills audit, development in this area continues with a new 
programme of leadership and management development 
training for all managers in place across the organisation. 138 
people managers have been placed on this training to date. 

 
127. The Workforce Development Team continues to maintain 

close relationships with partner universities and Further 
Education colleges as well as apprenticeship training 
providers, supporting work experience placements for career 
starters and changers, course required workplace 
placements, apprenticeships, graduate schemes and 
mentoring opportunities for young people. All employees and 
apprentices receive up to date training through quality 
assured processes and methods including internal and 
external training, e-learning and wider Continuous 
Professional Development opportunities to ensure they 
surpass expectations of external verification and examination 
boards, and feel fully supported throughout all stages of their 
career. 

 
 
 
 

Resourcing and Talent 

128. The Council continues to support work placements at all 
levels with 25 social work students undertaking placements 
within Children’s or Adults social work teams, six 
undergraduate placements planned across the organisation 
through a joint placement scheme with a partner university 
and numerous work experience placements organised for 
school students. 

 
129. The apprenticeship scheme continues to grow with 135 

apprentices undertaking work-based learning across the 
Council. Of this figure, 106 are existing staff taking up the 
opportunity to develop their skills through the apprenticeship 
scheme. 
 
Education HR Consultancy 

130. Full Safer Recruitment training as well as an abridged 
refresher version has been delivered. Both have been well 
attended and well received with sufficient demand to deliver 
both versions again during the 2019/20 academic year. 
 
Health and Safety 

131. Work continues on supporting Council departments, ASDVs 
and Schools in Health and Safety compliance. 
 
Staffing Changes 

132. As shown in the table overleaf, Cheshire East Council’s 
overall headcount and number of full time equivalent 
employees has increased in line with service demand 
between the end of quarter 1 and quarter 2 (at 30 
September). This included the transfer of 18 staff from 
ASDV’s to Growth and Enterprise as the services moved back 
in-house. 

P
age 46



 

27 | P a g e  

Table 7: Cheshire East Council Employee Headcount and FTE Figures 
 

Executive Directorate & Service 
Employee 
Headcount  
June 2019 

Employee 
Headcount 
Sept 2019 

Employee FTE 
June 2019 

Employee FTE 
Sept 2019 

Corporate 604 603 553.5 550.8 
Audit 9 9 7.6 7.6 
B4B / Business Development 10 10 8.4 8.4 
Business Management 14 12 13.2 11.4 
Communications & Media 10 10 9.9 9.9 
Customer Services 95 94 84.0 82.6 
Finance & Performance 103 101 100.9 98.4 
Human Resources 39 40 35.7 36.6 
ICT 183 182 177.4 176.0 
Legal Services 124 127 100.1 102.3 
Procurement 14 13 13.5 12.6 
People 2,156 2,167 1,608.4 1,622.3 
Adult Social Care & Health 1,003 1,005 794.1 803.8 
Children’s Services 1,084 1,090 747.3 749.2 
People Commissioning 61 67 59.0 64.3 
Place 793 822 604.8 626.9 
Growth & Regeneration 192 211 151.5 167.4 
Infrastructure & Highways 52 55 48.4 50.4 
Planning & Sustainable Development 381 387 305.7 310.3 
Rural & Cultural Economy 165 165 96.2 94.9 

Cheshire East Council Total 3,554* 3,593* 2,767.7* 2,801.0* 

 
 
 
*Note: The Chief Executive has not been included in any of the Directorate / Service information, but is counted in the overall Cheshire East Council headcount and FTE 

figures; similarly Executive / Directors and / or “Business Managers” will not appear in the “Service” totals but will appear in the overall “Directorate” figures. Employees 

with multiple assignments across services will appear in the headcount figures for each service, but will only be counted once in the total CEC headcount figure; where an 

employee has multiple assignments in the same service they will appear in the overall headcount figure only once for that service.  

P
age 47



 

28 | P a g e  

Agency workers 

133. Agency workers are a valuable component of the Council’s 
workforce, providing short term cover, project work and 
flexible specialist skills to maintain service delivery in areas 
such as social services, ICT and other professional services. 
The table below provides a summary of active agency worker 
assignments for quarters 1 and 2, together with agency 
worker assignments as a percentage of all active Cheshire 
East assignments over the period. 
 

Table 8: Active agency worker assignments 

 
Active  

Assignments 
on 01.07.19 

Active  
Assignments 
on 30.09.19 

% of all 
Workforce 

Assignments 
on 01.07.19 

% of all 
Workforce 

Assignments 
on 30.09.19 

People 53 87 2.4 3.8 

Corporate 66 89 9.9 12.9 

Place 4 4 0.5 0.5 

Total 123 180 3.3 4.7 

 
134. The overall number of active agency assignments has 

increased by 57 during the second quarter of 2019/20, due to 
a net increase of 34 new assignments in the People 
directorate and 23 in Corporate. Services with the highest 
increase during this period were Adult Social Care & Health, 
Children’s Services and ICT. 
 

135. There is a drive across the Council to review agency 
assignments to manage their use and, where appropriate, 
consider recruiting directly employed staff. 

Absence 

136. The table below shows the number of days lost per FTE 
employee during the second quarter of 2019/20, in 
comparison with the second quarter of previous financial 
years. The current figure of 5.13 days lost at the end of 
September is higher than the figure for the same period in 
2018/19 but lower than in the previous three financial years. 
 

Table 9: Days lost to sickness absence per FTE employee 

 
Voluntary Redundancies  

137. The Council’s voluntary redundancy scheme continues to 
support organisational change and the delivery of the planned 
programme of change in the Council Plan. The effective use 
of voluntary redundancy in this way enables the Council to 
achieve its planned savings and efficiencies and also helps to 
maintain good employee relations within the Authority and 
minimises the prospect of compulsory redundancy. Four 
employees left on grounds of voluntary redundancy during 
quarters 1 and 2. 
 
 

 

Cheshire East 
Council 

(excluding 
Schools) 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

Q2 Absence 5.58 5.19 5.21 4.89 5.13 P
age 48



 

29 | P a g e  

 

 Appendices to   

Third Quarter Review 

(FINANCE) 2019/20 
 

February 2020 

 

 

  

P
age 49



 

30 | P a g e  

Appendix 1    

Changes to Revenue Budget 2019/20 since Mid-Year Review 

 

Mid Year Additional Restructuring & Third Quarter

Net Grant Realignments Net

Budget Funding Budget

£000 £000 £000 £000

PEOPLE 

Directorate 883 -                         1 884

Adult Social Care Operations 24,773 -                         7 24,780

Children's Social Care 35,730 -                         1,389 37,119

Commissioning 86,576 2 (1,454) 85,124

Education & 14-19 Skills 14,426 -                         43 14,469

Prevention & Early Help 8,507 61 (512) 8,056

Public Health -                        -                         -                            -                     

Public Sector Transformation -                        -                         -                            -                     

170,895 63 (526) 170,432

PLACE 

Directorate 674 -                         (11) 663

Environment & Neighbourhood Services 39,306 83 65 39,454

Growth & Enterprise 20,601 -                         (68) 20,533

Highways & Infrastructure 12,240 -                         15 12,255

72,821 83 1 72,905

CORPORATE 

Directorate 674 -                         103 777

Finance & Customer Services 7,576 -                         -                            7,576

Governance and Compliance Services 9,912 105 (20) 9,997

Transformation 12,072 -                         (25) 12,047

30,234 105 58 30,397

TOTAL SERVICE BUDGET 273,950 251 (467) 273,734

P
age 50



 

31 | P a g e  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mid Year Additional Restructuring & Third Quarter

Net Grant Realignments Net

Budget Funding Budget

£000 £000 £000 £000

CENTRAL BUDGETS

Capital Financing 12,000 -                         -                            12,000

Corporate Contributions (837) -                         -                            (837)

Contribution to / from Reserves (2,897) -                         -                            (2,897)

8,266 -                         -                            8,266

TOTAL BUDGET 282,216 251 (467) 282,000

CENTRAL BUDGETS FUNDING

Business Rates Retention Scheme (47,977) -                         -                            (47,977)

Specific Grants (15,900) (251) 467 (15,684)

Council Tax (216,243) -                         -                            (216,243)

Sourced from Collection Fund (2,096) -                         -                            (2,096)

TOTAL CENTRAL BUDGETS FUNDING (282,216) (251) 467 (282,000)

FUNDING POSITION -                        -                         -                            -                     

Note: £1.448m Children's Contracts budget has transferred from Commissioning to Childrens Social Care.

Appendix 2 shows the £0.251m request for additional funding at Third Quarter. Also a request to transfer £0.467m tackling troubled families 

grant and reserve budget from Specific Grants to Prevention and Early Help.

P
age 51



 

32 | P a g e  

Appendix 2    

Corporate Grants Register 

Government Grant Funding of Local 
Expenditure 

1. Cheshire East Council receives two main types of 
Government grants; specific use grants and general purpose 
grants. The overall total of Government grant budgeted for in 
2019/20 was £264.6m. 

 
2. In 2019/20 Cheshire East Council’s specific use grants held 

within the services was budgeted to be £249.7m based on 
Government announcements to February 2019. This figure 
was revised down at mid-year to £244.9m (a decrease of 
£4.8m). At third quarter, this figure was revised down again to 
£237.0m (a decrease of £7.9m). 

 
3. The decrease at third quarter relates to a reduction in 

Housing Benefit Subsidy and Discretionary Housing Payment 
grant. Both of these grants recompense the authority for 
monies which have been paid out to housing benefit 
claimants and therefore there is a corresponding reduction, 
the net effect of which is nil. 

 
4. Following a successful application to the Department for 

Education (DfE), a new grant award of £0.1m was announced 
in respect of the Supporting Families; Investing in Practice 
programme, which supports the implementation of the 
Mockingbird Family Model. 

 
5. Spending in relation to specific use grants must be in line with 

the purpose for which it is provided.  
 

6. General purpose grants were budgeted to be £14.9m. At mid-
year review, this figure was revised up to £24.0m. Further in-
year grant announcements have seen a further increase to 
£24.1m. 

 
7. Additional general purpose grants of £0.4m have been 

received during the third quarter of 2019/20. These include an 
additional £0.2m in respect of Business Rates Additional 
Growth Pilot, and a further £0.1m for Local Authority EU Exit 
Preparation. Requests for the allocation of the additional 
grants received are detailed in Table 1. 

 
8. A budget transfer of £0.3m from unring-fenced grants held 

centrally for Tackling Troubled Families is requested in Table 
1. This grant has been identified as ‘specific’ and should be 
held in the relevant service area. In addition there is also a 
request to transfer the reserve budget which relates to this 
grant received in 2018/19. 

 
9. Table 2 below provides a summary of the updated budget 

position for grants in 2019/20 by type and service. Further 
details of grants are shown in Table 3 Corporate Grants 
Register. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 52



 

33 | P a g e  

Table 1 – Requests for Allocation of Additional Grant Funding 

Service Type of Grant £000 Details 

People – Children & 
Families 
 
 

Extension of the role 
of Virtual School 
Heads 
 
(General Purpose) 

61 The Children and Social Work Act 2017 amended the Children Act 1989 to 
introduce a new duty on local authorities to promote the education of 
certain previously looked-after children, including appointing an officer 
(commonly known as a Virtual School Head) to discharge this duty through 
the provision of information and advice to relevant parties supporting the 
education of those children. This duty came into force on 1 September 
2018. 
  
The purpose of this grant is to provide support to local authorities in 
England, to help them meet their duty to appoint a Virtual School Head for 
previously looked-after children and make information and advice available 
for the purposes of promoting the education of eligible previously looked-
after children.  
 
 
 

Place 
 
 

Neighbourhood 
Planning Grant for 
Local Planning 
Authorities 
 
(General Purpose) 
 
 

80 The conditions of grant mean that this funding could be used across the 
wider Spatial Planning area. 

Place 
 
 

Tobacco Products 
Directive and Age of 
Sale Grant - New 
Burdens 
 
(General Purpose) 
 
 

3 The funding is for supporting the implementation of the revised Tobacco 
Product Directive (TPD) and Age of Sale – Nicotine Inhaling Product (NIP) 
Legislation (vaping products) which is a Trading Standards function. 

P
age 53



 

34 | P a g e  

Service Type of Grant £000 Details 

People – Adult Social Care 
& Independent Living 
 
 

Local Reform and 
Community Voices, 
Social Care in 
Prisons and War 
Pensions Disregard 
 
(General Purpose) 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

1 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

-2 

Originally budgeted at £340,000. Final allocations for 2019/20 have come 
in at £342,327 requiring the following adjustments. 
 
Local Reform and Community Voices 

Local authorities have a duty under the Local Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended by the Health and Social 
Care Act 2012) to ensure that an effective local Healthwatch is operating in 
their area, delivering the activities set out in the legislation. The Local 
Reform and Community Voices grant provides one element of the non-ring 
fenced funding provided for local Healthwatch, with the larger proportion 
having been rolled into the local government settlement in 2011/12. 
 
Social Care in Prisons 

The Care Act establishes that the local authority in which a prison, 
approved premises or bail accommodation is based will be responsible for 
assessing and meeting the care and support needs of the offenders 
residing there. 

The provision of care and support for those in custodial settings is based 
on the principle of equivalence to provision in the community. The Act 
clarifies the application of Part 1 for people in custodial settings, including 
aspects which do not apply. 
 
War Pensions Disregard 

The Department of Health and Social Care consulted in November 2016 
about the allocation of new funding to disregard (for the purposes of social 
care charging) all payments made under the War Pension Scheme with the 
exception of Constant Attendance Allowance. The consultation response 
was published in February 2017. 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 54



 

35 | P a g e  

Service Type of Grant £000 Details 

Corporate 
 
 
 

Local Authority EU 
Exit Preparation 
 
(General Purpose) 
 

105 The grant to date has been spent on Business Change and risk 
management, and in relation to Brexit / EU planning. The additional grant is 
to be spent on a risk management system, employment of a 
communications manager, and ancillary budget and training for trading 
staff to increase resilience in the service due to increased pressures to 
respond during Brexit. 

Total Allocation 2019/20   251  

People – Children & 
Families 

 

 

Tackling Troubled 
Families 

 

(Specific) 

 

(295) 

 

 

(172) 

Transfer grant budget for Tackling Troubled Families from Central Grants 
to Prevention and Early Help service. 

 

Transfer of reserve budget relating to Tackling Troubled Families Grant 
received in 2018/19. 

 Virement transfer from 
Central Budget to Service 

 (467)  

 
 
  

P
age 55



 

36 | P a g e  

Table 2 - Summary of Grants 
 

 
 
  

Revised 

Forecast 

MYR

Revised 

Forecast 

TQR

Change 

from 

MYR

2019/20 2019/20 2019/20

£m £m £000

SPECIFIC USE 

Held within Services 244.9 237.0 (7.9)

GENERAL PURPOSE

Service Funding

People - Childrens & Families 0.6 0.4 (0.2)

People - Adult Social Care and Health 3.7 3.7 0.0

Place 0.1 0.1 0.0

Corporate - Customer Operations 1.6 1.6 0.0

Corporate 9.6 9.7 0.1

Central Items 8.4 8.6 0.2

TOTAL GENERAL PURPOSE 24.0 24.1 0.1

TOTAL GRANT FUNDING 268.9 261.1 (7.8)

P
age 56



 

37 | P a g e  

Table 3 – Corporate Grants Register 
 

 
 
 
 

Revised 

Forecast 

MYR

Revised 

Forecast 

TQR

Change 

from 

MYR

2019/20 2019/20 2019/20

Note £000 £000 £000 Notes 2 & 3

SPECIFIC USE (Held within Services)

PEOPLE

Schools 1 144,216 144,800 584

Children & Families 1,675 2,340 665

Adult Social Care 12,690 12,690 0

Public Health 15,967 15,967 0

Public Sector Transformation 410 410 0

Total 174,958 176,207 1,249

PLACE

Growth and Regeneration 652 652 0

Planning and Sustainable Development 300 0 (300)

Directorate 787 819 32

Total 1,739 1,471 (268)

CORPORATE

Customer Operations 68,211 59,329 (8,882)

Total 68,211 59,329 (8,882)

TOTAL SPECIFIC USE 244,908 237,007 (7,901)

Corporate Grants Register 2019/20 Treatment of 

Grant

P
age 57



 

38 | P a g e  

 
 
 
 
 

Revised 

Forecast 

MYR

Revised 

Forecast 

TQR

Change 

from 

MYR

2019/20 2019/20 2019/20

Note £000 £000 £000 Notes 2 & 3

People - Children and Families

Tackling Troubled Families 295 0 (295) Transfer

Staying Put Implementation Grant 117 117 0

Extended Rights to Free Transport (Home to School Transport) 162 162 0

Extended Personal Adviser Duty Implementation 28 28 0

Extension of the role of Virtual School Heads 0 61 61 SRE

People - Adult Social Care and Health

Social Care Support Grant 2,478 2,478 0

Independent Living Fund 861 861 0

Local Reform and Community Voices 207 208 1 SRE

Social Care in Prisons 73 76 3 SRE

War Pension Scheme Disregard 60 58 (2) SRE

Controlling Migration Fund 21 21 0

Place

Lead Local Flood Authorities 16 16 0

Neighbourhood Planning Grant for Local Planning Authorities 0 80 80 SRE

Homelessness Reduction Act - new burdens 47 47 0

Tobacco Products Directive and Age of Sale Grant - New Burdens 0 3 3 SRE

Corporate Grants Register 2019/20 Treatment of 

Grant

P
age 58



 

39 | P a g e  

Revised 

Forecast 

MYR

Revised 

Forecast 

TQR

Change 

from 

MYR

2019/20 2019/20 2019/20

Note £000 £000 £000 Notes 2 & 3

Corporate  - Customer Operations

Housing Benefit and Council Tax Administration 1,027 1,027 0

NNDR Administration Allowance 571 571 0

Corporate

New Homes Bonus 9,328 9,328 0

Individual Electoral Registration 2019/20 142 142 0

Local Authority EU Exit Preparation 105 210 105 SRE

Retail Discount 9 9 0

Central Items

Business Rates Additional Growth Pilot for 2017/18 0 148 148 Reserves

Business Rates Relief: Additional Growth Pilot for 2019/20 0 15 15 Reserves

Business Rates 2019/20 Tax Loss Compensation Payment 4,841 4,841 0

Business Rates 2019/20 Tax Loss Compensation Payment 3,573 3,573 0

Total Service Funding 23,961 24,080 119

TOTAL GENERAL PURPOSE 23,961 24,080 119

TOTAL GRANT FUNDING 268,869 261,087 (7,782)

Notes

1

2

3 Reserves - The grant funding will be transferred to reserves at year end.

The Dedicated Schools Grant, Pupil Premium Grant, Sixth Form Grant and Other School Specific Grant from the Education Funding Agency (EFA) 

figures are based on actual anticipated allocations. Changes are for in-year increases/decreases to allocations by the DfE and conversions to 

academy status.

Corporate Grants Register 2019/20

SRE - Supplementary Revenue Estimate requested by relevant service.

Treatment of 

Grant

P
age 59



 

40 | P a g e  

Appendix 3   

Debt Management 
1. Sundry debt includes all invoiced income due to the Council 

except for statutory taxes (Council Tax and Non-Domestic 
Rates). The balance of outstanding debt has increased by 
£959,000 since the end of July 2019. 
 

2. Annually, the Council raises invoices with a total value of 
over £70m. Around a quarter of the Council’s overall sundry 
debt portfolio relates to charges for Adult Social Care, the 
remainder being spread across a range of functions 
including Highways, Property Services, Licensing and 
Building Control. 
 

3. The Council’s standard collection terms require payment 
within 28 days of the invoice date, however, services receive 
immediate credit in their accounts for income due. The 
Council uses a combination of methods to ensure prompt 
payment of invoices. Recovery action against unpaid 
invoices may result in the use of debt collectors, court action 
or the securing of debts against property. 
 

4. The Revenue Recovery team (using their experience gained 
in collecting Council Tax and Non-Domestic Rates) engage 
with services to offer advice and assistance in all aspects of 
debt management, including facilitating access to debt 
collection/enforcement agent services (currently provided by 
Bristow & Sutor). In 2018/19 the team collected £2.4m on 
behalf of services. 
 

5. After allowing for debt still within the payment terms, the 
amount of outstanding service debt at the end of November 
2019 was £8.4m. 
  

6. The total amount of service debt over six months old is 
£4.7m; provision of £5.5m has been made to cover doubtful 
debt in the event that it needs to be written off. 
 

DEBT SUMMARY 

 
  

Outstanding Over 6 Debt

Debt months old Provision

£000 £000 £000

People

Adults, Public Health and Communities 5,055 3,043 3,859

Children's Social Care (Incl. Directorate) 137 72 72

Education and 14-19 Skills 123 2 2

Prevention and Early Help 44 11 11

Schools 99 10 10

Place

Highways and Infrastructure 1,788 976 976

Growth and Enterprise 721 270 270

Environment and Neighbourhood Services 441 264 264

Corporate

Finance and Customer Services 9 9 9

Governance and Compliance 1 -                   -               

Transformation 28 8 8

8,446 4,665 5,481

P
age 60



 

41 | P a g e  

Appendix 4   

Capital Strategy

Contents 
 

1. Update on Capital Financing Budget      - 42 - 

2. Update on 2019/20-2021/22 Capital Programme   - 43 - 

 

 

       

 

     

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Annexes:       

A. Revised Capital Programme               - 45 - 

B. B -  D Supplementary Capital Estimates & Virements  - 47 - 

E. Capital Budget Reductions            - 51 - 

F. Transfer to and from the Addendum          - 52 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

P
age 61



 

42 | P a g e  

Table 1: Financial Parameters for 2019/20 to 2021/22 

Parameter Value (£m) Notes 

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Repayment of 
Borrowing 

    

Minimum Revenue 
Provision* 

9.7 11.0 13.3  

External Loan Interest 4.5 5.1 4.8  

Investment Income (1.0) (0.9) (0.9)  

Contributions from 
Services Revenue 
Budgets 

(1.4) (2.1) (2.2)  

     

Total Capital Financing 
Costs 

11.8 13.1 15.0  

Use of Financing EMR (0.0) (1.1) (1.0)  

Actual CFB in MTFS 11.8 12.0 14.0  

     

*Capital Receipts 
targets 

7.2 3.0 3.0  

Flexible use of Capital 
Receipts 

2.0 1.0 0  

* CFB – Capital Finance Budget 

**Anticipated MRP based on achieving capital receipts targets 

Repayment of Borrowing 

1.1 The use of prudential borrowing allows the Council to spread 
the cost of funding the asset over its useful economic life. 

Using prudential borrowing as a funding source increases the 
Council’s capital financing requirement (CFR), and will create 
revenue costs through interest costs and minimum revenue 
provision. 
 

1.2 Regulation 27 of the Local Authorities (Capital Finance and 
Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003, requires local 
authorities to charge to their revenue account for each 
financial year a minimum amount to finance the cost of capital 
expenditure. Commonly referred to as MRP (Minimum 
Revenue Provision). This ensures that the revenue cost of 
repaying debt is spread over the life of the asset, similar to 
depreciation. 

 
 

1.3 The projection of the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement 
(CFR) and external debt, based on the proposed capital 
budget and treasury management strategy is shown in the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy report which is elsewhere on 
the agenda. This highlights the level to which the Council is 
internally borrowed (being the difference between the CFR 
and external debt), and the expected repayment profile of the 
external debt. 

P
age 62



 

43 | P a g e  

 
1.4 The nature and scale of the Council’s capital programme 

means that it is a key factor in the Council’s treasury 
management, including the need to borrow to fund capital 
works. The treasury management strategy for the Council is 
included in Appendix 5 of this report. 

 
1.5 The Council’s current strategy is to use available cash 

balances, known as ‘internal borrowing’ and to borrow short 
term loans. As short-term interest rates are currently much 
lower than long-term rates this is likely to be more cost 
effective. 

 

Contributions from Services 

1.6 All business cases supporting capital expenditure will include 
full analysis of the financial implications of the scheme 
alongside a clear indication of how the financial implications 
will be managed within the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS). 
 

1.7 When including any scheme in the Council’s Capital 
Programme the Section 151 Officer will determine the 
appropriate impact on the Revenue Budget. This impact will 
require service budgets within the MTFS to fund either all, 
part or none of the net capital costs of the scheme. 

 
1.8 In making a determination about funding capital schemes 

from revenue budgets the level of potential revenue savings 
or additional revenue income will be considered. If a capital 
scheme will increase revenue costs within the MTFS, either 
from the future costs of maintaining the asset or from the 
costs of financing the capital expenditure, then the approach 
to funding such costs must be approved as part of the 
business planning process before the scheme can 
commence. 

 

1.9 The Council’s strategy is to use revenue contributions of 
£5.6m over the next three financial years to finance the 
Capital Programme to reduce the overall Capital Financing 
Budget. These contributions come from: £2.7m contribution 
from schools towards the schools transformation programme; 
£1.4m from Highways Street Lighting for the upgrade to LED 
lighting; and £0.2m from ESAR for the improvements to the 
Council’s leisure facilities. 

 

Use of Financing Earmarked Reserve 

1.10 To allow a longer term approach to setting the Financial 
Parameters of the Capital Strategy the Council will maintain 
an earmarked reserve to minimise the financial impact of 
annual variations to the Capital Financing Budget. 

 
1.11 The Council’s Reserves Strategy determines the appropriate 

use of reserves and how they are set up and governed. In the 
first instance any under or overspending of the Capital 
Finance Budget (CFB) within any financial year will provide a 
top-up or draw-down from the Financing Earmarked Reserve. 
In balancing the CFB over the period of the MTFS the Section 
151 Officer may also recommend appropriate use of the 
Financing Earmarked Reserve over the period. 

 
1.12 The Council’s current strategy is to draw-down up to £2.1m 

from the Financing Earmarked Reserve for the period 
2019/20 to 2021/22. 

 

Capital Programme – Third Quarter Review Position 

1.13 Since the Medium Term Financial Strategy was approved in 
February 2019 the Capital Programme has only increased by 
£1.0m since the mid year review position for the next three 
year period. 
 

1.14 The most notable changes have been an increase of £0.2m 
for the continuing environmental work required at Malkins 

P
age 63



 

44 | P a g e  

Bank Golf Course and the purchase of two residential 
properties to house homeless families within the borough for 
£0.166m. There has also been a £0.4m supplementary capital 
estimate request funded by a revenue contribution for an 
electronic call monitoring system within Adults Social Care. 
The remaining increase relates to a number of fully funded 
S106 schemes. Table 2 below shows a summary of the 
changes. 

 

Table 2: Summary Capital Programme 

 
 

1.15 There was one transfer from the addendum of £0.2m for the 
replacement of the Planning and Regulatory Services ICT 
system. There was also one transfer from the main 
programme back on to the addendum totalling £0.1m which 
relate to the Sustainable Towns Programme and there was a 
reduction of £11.8m from the Addendum for the Archives 
Project that only leaves Cheshire East Council’s contribution 
to the project. This project is being hosted by Cheshire West 
and Chester Council and therefore the total budget costs sits 
within their capital programme. These changes are shown in 
Annex F. 

 
1.16 The revised programme is funded from both direct income 

(grants, external contributions) and the Council’s own 
resources (prudential borrowing, revenue contributions, 
capital reserve). A funding summary is shown in Annex A.  
 

1.17 Annex B details requests of Supplementary Capital 
Estimates (SCE) up to and including £500,000 and Capital 
Virements up to and including £1,000,000 approved by 
delegated decision which are included for noting purposes 
only. 

 
1.18 Annex C details requests of Supplementary Capital 

Estimates (SCE) up to and including £1,000,000 and Capital 
Virements up to and including £5,000,000 to be approved by 
Cabinet. The most notable virement is for £1.9m where we 
have agreed with the project manager to combine the Minor 
works maintenance budget with the Facilities Management 
Capital Premises budget. 

 

1.19 Annex E lists details of reductions in Approved Budgets 
where schemes are completed and surpluses can now be 
removed. These are for noting purposes only. 

 

1.20 Table 3 shows the revised Addendum programme with the 
changes mentioned in paragraph 1.15. 

 
 

1.21 Annex F shows the movements from and to the Capital 
Addendum since the Medium Term Financial Strategy was 
approved in February 2019.

MYR SCEs/ Transfers Budget SCEs/ Revised

Budget Virements to/from Reductions Virements TQR

in Quarter Addendum at TQR at TQR Budget

2019/22 2019/22 2019/22 2019/22 2019/22 2019/22

£m £m £m £m £m

People Directorate 47.2 -               -               -               0.4 47.6

Place Directorate 445.3 0.8 0.2 (0.2) 446.1

Corporate Directorate 60.5 (0.2) 60.3

553.0 0.6 0.2 (0.2) 0.4 554.0

Budget Budget Budget Total Budget

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019-22

£000 £000 £000 £000

Addendum

People 0 1,161 0 1,161

Place 0 41,118 353,756 394,874

Corporate 2,025 3,008 3,683 8,716

Total Addendum 2,025 45,287 357,439 404,751

 Table 3 - Addendum 2019/20 - 2021/22

P
age 64



 

45 | P a g e  

Annex A: Third Quarter Review Update 

 

Forecast Forecast Forecast Total Forecast

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019-22

£000 £000 £000 £000

Committed Schemes - In Progress

People 9,198 11,992 3,238 24,428

Place 99,658 70,555 121,693 291,906

Corporate 9,341 17,082 33,831 60,254

Total Committed Schemes - In Progress 118,197 99,629 158,762 376,588

Forecast Forecast Forecast Total Forecast

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019-22

£000 £000 £000 £000

New Schemes

People 2,442 12,245 8,490 23,177

Place 12,054 52,773 89,681 154,508

Corporate 20 0 0 20

Total New Schemes 14,516 65,018 98,171 177,705

Total 132,713 164,647 256,933 554,293

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL CAPITAL PROGRAMME SUMMARY

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 - 2021/22

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 - 2021/22

P
age 65



 

46 | P a g e  

 

Forecast Forecast Forecast Total Forecast

2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2019-22

£000 £000 £000 £000

Indicative Funding Analysis: (See note 1)

Government Grants 64,390 84,229 102,250 250,869

External Contributions 10,975 16,617 50,938 78,530

Revenue Contributions 1,096 962 0 2,058

Capital Receipts 7,200 3,000 3,000 13,200

Prudential Borrowing (See note 2) 49,052 59,839 100,745 209,636

Total 132,713 164,647 256,933 554,293

Note 1:

Note 2:

Funding Requirement 

The funding requirement identified in the above table represents a balanced and affordable position, in the 

medium term.  The Council will attempt to maximise external resources such as grants and external 

contributions in the first instance to fund the capital programme. Where the Council resources are required the 

preference will be to utilise capital receipts from asset disposals. The forecast for capital receipts over the next 

three years 2019-22 assumes a prudent approach based on the work of the Asset Management team and their 

most recently updated Disposals Programme.

Appropriate charges to the revenue budget will only commence in the year following the completion of the 

associated capital asset. This allows the Council to constantly review the most cost effective way of funding 

capital expenditure.

CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20 - 2021/22

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL CAPITAL PROGRAMME SUMMARY

P
age 66



 

47 | P a g e  

Annex B: Delegated Decision - Requests for Supplementary Capital Estimates 
(SCEs) and Virements 

 

Service Capital Scheme Amount 

Requested
Reason and Funding Source

£

Summary of Supplementary Capital Estimates and Capital Virements

Supplementary Capital Estimates that have been made up to £500,000

People - Adults, Public Health and Communities Electronic Calling System 389,000 This project is to procure a new call monitoring system for care workers to log their 

home visits. This is funded by a revenue contribution that was set aside in 2018/19 for 

this purpose.

Place - Growth and Enterprise Premises Capital (FM) 1,000 Budget increase due to Communities Team revenue contribution towards a new 

water boiler fitted in the Senior Citizens Hall.

Place - Client Commissioning Leisure Alsager Leisure Centre Gym Conversion 1,836 Interest received on S106 funding to be applied as a contribution towards additional 

project works.

391,836Total Supplementary Capital Estimates Requested

P
age 67



 

48 | P a g e  

 

Service Capital Scheme Amount 

Requested
Reason and Funding Source

£

Summary of Supplementary Capital Estimates and Capital Virements

Capital Budget Virements that have been made up to £1,000,000

Place - Growth and Enterprise Septic Tanks 36,283 To amalgamate the residual budget against the North Rode Septic Tank project into 

the new programme.

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) Sustainable Modes of Travel to Schools 

Strategy (SMOTSS)

150,000 It has been our intention from the beginning of the year to move £150k from "Available 

Walking Routes" to "Sustainable Modes of Travel to School (SMOTS)". For SMOTS 

we have committed at senior management and Member level to deliver on last year's 

allocation / carry forward (£150k), as well as the new allocation this year (£150k) - 

resulting in a £300k SMOTS programme. Funded by Department for Transport LTP 

grant.

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) North-West Crewe Package 11,163 Virement from "Heritage Buildings - Silk Heritage" project which has no more capital 

costs.

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) North-West Crewe Package 13,594 Virement from "Bollington Bridge" project which is now complete.

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) Local Area Programme 50,000 The Verge Hardening trials paper and methodology has recently been approved by the 

Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste, Cllr Brian Stockton.  The two trials are now 

being programmed for delivery under task order C19 06 and it is proposed to fund 

them from the highways client budget (Highways Contract Team Programme Delivery 

40HTCAP-E12CH001).  This will require a virement of £50k from this budget to Task 

Order C19 06 (40HTCAP-CH00001).

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) Car Parking Improvements 10,329 Historically we have had a separate project for Residents Parkings Schemes, which 

are ad hoc in their nature, depending on demand.  This is to vire the remaining budget 

of £10k in to the general Car Parking Improvements scheme.

Place - Environment Neighbourhood Next Generation - Self Service 17,687 Virement from Sustainable Libraries Fund of the residual budget, this will still be used 

for the plastering & finishing off to complete at Handforth library. 

Place Client Commissioning - Environmental Robin Lane Park Improvements 18,838 Virement from Parks Development to part fund improvements at Robin Lane Park, 

Lyme Green, Macclesfield

Place Client Commissioning - Environmental Congleton Park Play Area Improvements 8,012 Virement from Parks Development to part fund improvements at Congleton Park Play 

Area

Place Client Commissioning - Environmental Parks Development Fund 34,323 Virement from Fountain Fields Redevelopment project, which is now complete, to 

Parks Development Fund.

Place Client Commissioning - Environmental King George V Skate Park 10 Virement from Fountain Fields Redevelopment project, which is now complete, to 

King George V Skate Park.

Place Client Commissioning - Environmental Restoration of South Park Lake 1,006 Virement from Fountain Fields Redevelopment project, which is now complete, to 

Restoration of South Park Lake.

351,245

743,081

Total Capital Budget Virements Approved

Total Supplementary Capital Estimates and Virements

P
age 68



 

49 | P a g e  

Annex C: Delegated Decision - Requests for Supplementary Capital Estimates 
(SCEs) and Virements 

 

 

  

Service Capital Scheme Amount 

Requested
Reason and Funding Source

£

Place - Growth and Enterprise Premises Capital (FM) 1,909,959 To amalgamate the Minor Works and Premises Capital 

(FM) budgets per Capital Challenge meetings

Total Capital Budget Virements Requested 1,909,959

Total Supplementary Capital Estimates and Virements 1,909,959

Capital Budget Virements above £1,000,000 up to and including £5,000,000

P
age 69



 

50 | P a g e  

Annex D: Requests for Supplementary Capital Estimates (SCEs) and Virements 

There are no requests for supplementary capital estimates over £1m or capital virements over £5m at the third quarter review.  

 

 

 

  P
age 70



 

51 | P a g e  

Annex E: Capital Budget Reductions 

 

  

Service Capital Scheme
Approved 

Budget

Revised 

Approval
Reduction Reason and Funding Source

£ £ £

Cabinet are asked to note the reductions in Approved Budgets

People - Education and 14-19 Skills Devolved Formula Capital 6,545,826 6,535,826 (10,000) Adjust block allocation for darwdown of Devolved Formula Capital applied to 

Capital expenditure in 2018/19.

S278s

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) Main Road, Shavington 3,000 2,221 (779) S278 - Project now complete and the remaining fees £779 refunded to the 

developer.

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) S278 Winlowe Crt, Macclesfield 4,000 1,998 (2,002) S278 - Project now complete and the remaining fees £2,002 refunded to the 

developer.

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) S278 Flag Lane Link (Redrow)M 44,771 40,557 (4,214) S278 - Project now complete and the final certificate issued.

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) Former Moss Inn, Congleton 4,000 2,496 (1,504) S278 - Project now complete and the remaining fees £2,003.89 refunded to 

the developer.

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) Basford West, Crewe TRO's 15,000 5,341 (9,659) Works complete

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) Portland Dr, Scholar Gr Ped X 85,459 81,874 (3,585) Works complete

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) Gresty Rd, Crewe Ped Refuge 52,000 28,638 (23,362) Works complete

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) London Rd, Sandbach Ped Cross 70,000 64,058 (5,942) Works complete

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) S106 Hassall Rd, Sandbach 20,000 15,891 (4,109) Works complete

Place - Highways and Infrastructure (inc Car Parking) Elworth PS Footpath Upgrade 95,000 29,438 (65,562) Works complete

Place - Client Commissioning Environmental Fountain Fields Redevelopment 273,254 272,744 (510) Project is now complete and can be finally closed.

Place - Client Commissioning Leisure Cumberland 3G replacement 250,000 196,426 (53,574) Project is now complete and can be finally closed.

Total Capital Budget Reductions 7,462,310 7,277,508 (184,802)

P
age 71



 

52 | P a g e  

Annex F: Transfers from and to the Capital Addendum 

 

 

 

Service Capital Scheme
Amount 

Transferred 

Third Quarter

Amount 

Transferred 

Outturn

Reason / Comment

£ £

Budgets Transferred from the Addendum to the Main Capital Programme

Client Commissioning - Leisure

Place - Environment Neighbourhood Replacement Planning & Regulatory Services ICT 

Systems

(203,000) This was transferred to the current programme in 2018/19 for Agile 

APAS Planning System 

(203,000) -                     

Capital Budgets transferred from the Main capital Programme to the Addendum 

Place - Growth and Enterprise
Sustainable Towns (Regeneration & 

Development)
109,123

Transferred to Addendum and re-named Town Centre Vitality 

Programme, awaiting High Level Business Case.

109,123 -                     

Capital Budgets removed from the Addendum 

Place - Growth and Enterprise Archives (11,830,000)
It is only necessary to retain the Cheshire East element of this budget 

which is in the region of £6.443m for the delivery of the project stage.

(11,830,000) -                     

(11,923,877) -                     

Total Budgets Transferred to Main Capital Programme

Total Capital Budget Transferred to the Addendum

Net Change to the Addendum

Total Capital Budget Removed from the Addendum

P
age 72



 

53 | P a g e  

Appendix 5  

Treasury Management Strategy 

Treasury Management Report 
 

1. Background     - 54 - 
 

2. External Content    - 54 - 
 

3. Local Context    - 55 -  
 

4. Borrowing Strategy    - 58 - 
 

5. Investment Strategy    - 59 - 
 

6. Treasury Management Indicators  - 62 - 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Annexes: 
A. Economic & Interest Rate Forecast   - 64 - 
 
B. Existing Investment & Debt Portfolio Position   - 66 -  

 
 

  

P
age 73



 

54 | P a g e  

1. Background 

1.1 Treasury management is the management of the 
Authority’s cash flows, borrowing and investments, and 
the associated risks. The Authority has borrowed and 
invested substantial sums of money and is therefore 
exposed to financial risks including the loss of invested 
funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates. 
The successful identification, monitoring and control of 
financial risk are therefore central to the Authority’s 
prudent financial management. 

 
1.2 Treasury risk management at the Authority is conducted 

within the framework of the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in 
the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the 
CIPFA Code) which requires the Authority to approve a 
treasury management strategy before the start of each 
financial year. This report fulfils the Authority’s legal 
obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have 
regard to the CIPFA Code. 

 
1.3 In carrying out treasury operations the Council has 

regard to the advice received from it’s appointed 
Treasury Management advisors, Arlingclose Ltd. The 
current contract for advice expires on 31 December 
2020. 

 
1.4 Investments held for service purposes or for commercial 

profit are considered in the Investment Report (see 
Appendix 6).  

2. External Context 
 

1.5 Economic background: At the time of preparing this 
report the country is preparing for a General Election, the 
outcome of which could have a major impact on the 
progress or otherwise of the European Union Withdrawal 
Agreement and the direction of the UK economy. 
Markets like certainty but the lack of concensus on 
Brexit, the possibility of political change and even 
another referendum makes for an uncertain economic 
background. 

 
1.6 The global economy is entering a period of slower 

growth in response to political issues, primarily the trade 
policy stance of the US. There appears to be no near-
term resolution to the trade dispute with China which the 
US seems comfortable exacerbating further. 

 
1.7 The UK economy has displayed a marked slowdown in 

growth due to both Brexit and the downturn in the global 
economy. In response, global and UK interest rate 
expectations have eased dramatically. 

 
1.8 While the potential for divergent paths for UK monetary 

policy remain in the event of agreeing the EU withdrawal 
agreement, the weaker external environment severely 
limits potential upside movement in bank rate, while the 
slowing UK economy will place pressure on the 
Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) to loosen monetary 
policy. 

 

P
age 74



 

55 | P a g e  

1.9 Inflation has declined in the last few months but still 
remains around target. Tightness in the labour market 
increases the medium term risk for higher inflation but 
slower global growth reduces the prospect of externally 
driven inflationary pressure, although political turmoil 
could push up oil prices. 

 
1.10 Financial Markets: After rallying early in 2019, financial 

markets have been adopting a more risk-off approach in 
the following period as equities saw greater volatility and 
bonds rallied (prices up, yields down) in a flight to quality 
and anticipation of more monetary stimulus from central 
banks. The Dow Jones, FTSE 100 and FTSE 250 are 
broadly back at the same levels seen in March/April. 

 
1.11 Gilt yields remained volatile over the period on the back 

of ongoing economic and political uncertainty. From a 
yield of 0.63% at the end of June, the 5-year benchmark 
gilt yield fell to 0.32% by the end of September. There 
were falls in the 10-year and 20-year gilts over the same 
period, with the former dropping from 0.83% to 0.55% 
and the latter falling from 1.35% to 0.88%. The 1-month, 
3-month and 12-month LIBID (London Interbank Bid) 

rates averaged 0.65%, 0.75% and 1.00% respectively 
over the period.  

 
1.12 Recent activity in the bond markets and Public Works 

Loan Board (PWLB) interest rates highlight that weaker 
economic growth remains a global risk. The US yield 
curve remains inverted with 10-year Treasury yields 
lower than US 3-month bills. History has shown that a 
recession hasn’t been far behind a yield curve inversion. 
Following the sale of 10-year Bunds at -0.24% in June, 
yields on German government securities continue to 
remain negative in the secondary market. 

 
1.13 A more detailed economic and interest rate forecast 

provided by Arlingclose is attached at Annex A. 

3. Local Context 
 
1.14 As at 31 October 2019 the Authority has borrowings of 

£156m and investments of £32m. This is set out in 
further detail at Annex B. Forecast changes in these 
sums are shown in the balance sheet analysis in Table 1 
below. 

  

P
age 75



 

56 | P a g e  

Table 1: Balance Sheet Summary and Forecast 

 
31/03/18 

Actual 

£m 

31/03/19 

Actual 

£m 

31/03/20 

Estimate 

£m 

31/03/21 

Estimate 

£m 

31/03/22 

Estimate 

£m 

General Fund CFR 304 330 379 435 485 

Less: Other long-

term liabilities * 
(26) (26) (23) (21) (21) 

Loans CFR 278 304 356 414 464 

Less: External 

borrowing ** 
(170) (158) (109) (80) (78) 

Internal (over) 

borrowing 
108 146 247 334 386 

Less: Usable 

reserves 
(97) (112) (93) (92) (90) 

Less: Working 

capital 
(67) (86) (80) (75) (73) 

Investments (or 

New borrowing) 
56 52 (74) (167) (223) 

* finance leases and PFI liabilities that form part of the Authority’s debt 

** shows only loans to which the Authority is committed and excludes optional refinancing

  

P
age 76



 

57 | P a g e  

1.15 The underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is 
measured by the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR), 
while usable reserves and working capital are the 
underlying resources available for investment. The 
Authority’s current strategy is to maintain borrowing and 
investments below their underlying levels, sometimes 
known as internal borrowing. 

 
1.16 The Authority has an increasing CFR due to the capital 

programme and will therefore be required to borrow up 
to £106m over the forecast period 2019/20 to 2021/22. 

 
1.17 CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 

Authorities recommends that the Authority’s total debt 
should be lower than its highest forecast CFR over the 
next three years. Table 1 shows that the Authority 
expects to comply with this recommendation during 
2019/20. 

 
1.18 Liability Benchmark: To compare the Council’s actual 

borrowing against an alternative strategy, a liability 
benchmark has been calculated showing the lowest risk 
level of borrowing. This assumes the same forecasts as 
Table 1, but that cash and investment balances are kept 
to a minimum level of £20m (increased from £10m in 
2019/20) at each year-end to maintain a core strategic 
investment. 

 
 

Table 2: Liability Benchmark 

 
31/03/18 

Actual 

£m 

31/03/19 

Actual 

£m 

31/03/20 

Estimate 

£m 

31/03/21 

Estimate 

£m 

31/03/22 

Estimate 

£m 

Loans CFR 278 304 356 414 464 

Less: Usable 

reserves 
(97) (112) (93) (92) (90) 

Less: Working 

capital 
(67) (86) (80) (75) (73) 

Plus: Minimum 

investments 
10 10 20 20 20 

Liability 

Benchmark 
124 116 203 267 321 

 
1.19 Following on from the medium-term forecasts in Table 2, 

the long-term liability benchmark assumes minimum 
revenue provision on new capital expenditure based on 
a 25 year asset life and income, expenditure and 
reserves all increasing by inflation of 2.5% a year. This is 
shown in Chart 1. 

 
 
 

  

P
age 77



 

58 | P a g e  

Chart 1: Liability Benchmark Chart 

 
 

4. Borrowing Strategy 

1.20 The Authority currently holds loans of £132m, a 
decrease of £26m since 31 March 2019 but this will 
increase to a higher level, currently forecast as £177m at 
31 March 2020. PWLB debt has been reducing by £6m 
per year whilst cash flow shortfalls caused by internal 
borrowing and prepayment of the pension fund deficit is 
being funded through cheaper short term borrowing. 

Table 3 – Current Temporary Borrowing 

Lender Start Maturity Rate 
% 

£m 

Tameside 05/03/19 05/05/20 1.15 5.0 

Derbyshire  15/03/19 24/04/20 1.20 10.0 

Lincolnshire 15/03/19 15/04/20 1.15 5.0 

West Midlands 
Combined Authority 

29/08/19 15/11/19 0.72 3.0 

Tyne & Wear Pension 06/09/19 06/12/19 0.64 5.0 

Wokingham 11/09/19 10/09/21 0.90 5.0 

Redditch 10/09/19 15/11/19 0.62 2.0 

Southampton 24/10/19 21/02/20 0.77 5.0 

Middlebrough Tees 
Pension 

28/10/19 04/12/19 0.69 5.0 

TOTAL    45.0 

 
1.21 At the moment this is being met by temporary borrowing 

from other Local Authorities which is considerably 
cheaper than other sources of borrowing. Generally this 
is on a one to three month basis but with some 
extending into 2020/21 and 2021/22 to keep within 
maturity profile limits and mitigate interest rate risks. The 
cost (including fees) to 31 October 2019 is around 
0.97%. If the predicted interest environment changes or 
the availability of temporary borrowing reduces then this 
strategy will be re-assessed. A full list of current 
temporary borrowings is shown above in Table 3. 

 

P
age 78



 

59 | P a g e  

1.22 LOBO’s: The Authority holds £17m of LOBO (Lender’s 
Option Borrower’s Option) loans where the lender has 
the option to propose an increase in the interest rate at 
set dates, following which the Authority has the option to 
either accept the new rate or to repay the loan at no 
additional cost. All of these LOBO’s have options during 
2019/20, and although the Authority understands that 
lenders are unlikely to exercise their options in the 
current low interest rate environment, there remains an 
element of refinancing risk. The Authority will take the 
option to repay LOBO loans at no cost if it has the 
opportunity to do so. 

5. Investment Strategy 
 
1.23 The Authority holds invested funds, representing income 

received in advance of expenditure plus balances and 
reserves held. Due to the overriding need for short term 
borrowing, other than £11m currently invested 
strategically in managed funds, the investments are 
generally short term for liquidity purposes. However, in 
July investment balances were higher than expected 
rising to £59m following the receipt of grant funding for 
Highways capital schemes. The level has since dropped 
to £32m and is forecast to remain around this level for 
the remainder of 2019/20.  

 
1.24 The CIPFA Code requires the Authority to invest its 

funds prudently, and to have regard to the security and 
liquidity of its investments before seeking the highest 
rate of return, or yield. The Authority’s objective when 
investing money is to strike an appropriate balance 

between risk and return, minimising the risk of incurring 
losses from defaults and the risk of receiving unsuitably 
low investment income. 

 
1.25 The maximum amount that can be invested with any one 

organisation is set in the Treasury Management Strategy 
Report. The maximum amount and duration of 
investments with any institution depends on the 
organisations credit rating, the type of investment and for 
banks and building societies, the security of the 
investment. Generally credit rated banks and building 
societies have been set at a maximum value of £6m for 
unsecured investments and £12m for secured 
investments. Any limits apply to the banking group that 
each bank belongs to. Limits for each Money Market 
fund have been set at a maximum value of £12m per 
fund with a limit of 50% of total investments per fund. 
There is also a maximum that can be invested in all 
Money Market Funds at any one time of £50m. Due to 
their smaller size, unrated Building Societies have a limit 
of £1m each. 

  
1.26 During October the Council has exceeded its limit for 

unsecured investments with Santander UK Bank with 
£8.5m invested in notice accounts which is in excess of 
the limit by £2.5m. This position is rectified in November 
and arose as there are separate accounts in use with 
different terms. This situation should not arise again.  

 
1.27 Treasury Management income to 31 October 2019 is 

£370,000 which is higher than the budgeted £257,000. 
Offsetting this are increased borrowing costs (currently 

P
age 79



 

60 | P a g e  

£113,000 higher than budget). The level of cash 
balances is expected to fall from January 2020 in line 
with normal Local Authority cash flows which results in a 
continued need to borrow.  

- The average daily investment balance including 
managed funds up to 31 October 2019 is £29.7m 

- The average annualized interest rate received on in-
house investments during 2019/20 is 0.78% 

- The average annualized interest rate received on the 
externally managed funds during 2019/20 is 4.88% 

 
1.28 The Authority’s total average interest rate on all 

investments in 2019/20 is 2.16%. The returns continue to 
exceed our benchmark, the London Inter-bank Bid Rate 
for 7 days at 0.70%, and our own performance target of 
1.25% (Base Rate + 0.50%). 
 

Table 4 – Interest Rate Comparison 

Comparator Average Rate 
to 31/10/2019 

Cheshire East 2.16% 

LIBID 7 Day Rate 0.70% 

LIBID 3 Month Rate 0.74% 

Base Rate 0.75% 

Target Rate 1.25% 

 
1.29 As the Authority holds a large amount of reserves and 

working capital, consideration has been given to 

increasing the level of strategic investments from £10m 
to £20m in order to benefit from higher income returns 
whilst spreading risk across different asset classes. The 
existing investments are £7.5m in a property fund 
managed by CCLA and £2.5m in a multi-asset fund 
managed by Kames. 

 
1.30 The additional £10m will be invested between October 

2019 and March 2020 across four different funds which 
are all designed to give an annual income return 
between 4% and 5% but which have different underlying 
levels of volatility. By spreading investments across 
different types of fund, the intention is to dampen any 
large fluctuations in the underlying value of the 
investments. These additional planned investments are 
shown below in Table 5. 

Table 5 – Additional Planned Strategic Investments 

Fund Manager Asset Class  £m 

Kames  Multi Asset  2.5 

Fidelity Equity - Global  4.0 

Schroders Equity - UK  2.5 

M & G Bonds  1.0 

TOTAL   10.0 

1.31 The first additional investment was £1m in the Kames 
fund on 29 October 2019. No additional investments will 
be placed in the property fund as the Council already 
has other significant exposures to investments in 
property through the Investment Strategy. 

P
age 80



 

61 | P a g e  

 
1.32 The value of these investments does vary and factors 

such as Brexit uncertainty, global trade disputes, etc do 
have a bearing on the underlying value. As at 31 
October 2019 the existing funds had a net asset value of 
£10.6m, an increase of £600,000 since the initial 
investment. 

 
Chart 2 – Current Investments by Counterparty Type 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 6 – Types of Investments and Current Interest 
Rates 

Instant Access Accounts   Average Rate 
% 

£m 

Money Market Funds   0.73 13.0 
 

Call Accounts  Earliest Maturity Rate % £m 

Santander – 95 day   19/11/19 1.00 3.0 

Santander – 35 day  26/11/19 0.85 5.5 
 

Externally Managed 
Funds 

   £m 

Property Fund    7.5 

Multi Asset Income Fund    3.5 

Summary of Current 
Investments 

   £m 

TOTAL    32.5 

 

 

 

 

P
age 81



 

62 | P a g e  

Chart 3 – Maturity Profile of Investments 

 
 

Note: Bail-inable means that in the event of default the counterparty 
may be required to use part of the investments as their own capital 
in which case the Council would not get back as much as they 
invested. This would apply with most bank and Building Society 
investments. 

 

6. Treasury Management Indicators 

1.33 The Authority measures and manages its exposures to 
treasury management risks using the following 
indicators. 
 

1.34 Interest Rate Exposures: This indicator is set to control 
the Authority’s exposure to interest rate risk.  The upper 
limits on the one-year revenue impact of a 1% rise or fall 
in interest rates will be: 

1.35 The impact of a change in interest rates is calculated on 
the assumption that maturing loans and investments will 
be replaced at current rates. The Council is expected to 
remain a net borrower in 2019/20 so a fall in rates would 
lead to savings rather than incurring additional cost so a 
limit of £0 was set. 

1.36 Maturity Structure of Borrowing: This indicator is set 
to control the Authority’s exposure to refinancing risk. 
Lower limits have been set at 0%. The upper limits on 
the maturity structure of borrowing and the actual 
maturity profiles as at 31 October 2019 are:

0.0

2.0

4.0

6.0

8.0

10.0

12.0

14.0

Exempt

Bail-inable

£m 

Interest Rate Risk Indicator Limit 

Upper limit on one-year revenue impact of a 1% 
rise in interest rates 

£410,000 

Likely revenue impact in 2019/20 of a 1% rise in 
interest rates after 31 October 2019 

£210,000 

P
age 82



 

63 | P a g e  

Refinancing rate risk indicator 
Upper 
Limit 

Actual  

Under 12 months 50% 30% 

12 months and within 24 months 25% 18% 

24 months and within 5 years 35% 6% 

5 years and within 10 years 50% 2% 

10 years and within 20 years 100% 18% 

20 years and above 100% 26% 

1.37 Time periods start on the first day of each financial year. 
The maturity date of borrowing is the earliest date on 
which the lender can demand repayment. The upper limit 
for loans maturing in under 12 months is relatively high 
as short term funding is currently considerably cheaper 

than alternatives. This will be kept under review as it 
does increase the risk of higher financing costs in the 
future but may currently be limiting ability to take 
advantage of lower short term rates. 

1.38 Principal Sums Invested for Periods Longer than 364 
days: The purpose of this indicator is to control the 
Authority’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses by 
seeking early repayment of its investments. The limits on 
the total principal sum invested to final maturities beyond 
the period end will be: 

 

Price Risk Indicator 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 

Limit on principal invested beyond 
year end 

£25m £15m £10m 

Actual amounts committed beyond 
year end 

£0m £0m £0m 

  

P
age 83



 

64 | P a g e  

Annex A: Economic & Interest Rate Forecast 

Underlying assumptions:  

 Having increased interest rates by 0.25% in August 2018 
to 0.75%, the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) is now expected to maintain Bank Rate 
at this level for the foreseeable future although there are 
significant downside risks to this forecast, dependant on 
the General Election, Brexit outcomes and the evolution of 
the global economy. 

 Inflation is within target levels just below 2% and could fall 
further as utility price caps feed through. However, risks 
are weighted to higher rather than lower inflation through 
2020. Upward pressure comes from global geopolitical 
risks leading to higher oil prices and uncertainties from the 
on-going Brexit situation. The outcome of the General 
Election could also have a significant impact. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Forecast:  

 The Arlingclose central case is for Bank Rate to remain 
unchanged in 2020, after the UK exits the EU. However, 
the risks are weighted to the downside and markets have 
generally implied a cut is likely. 

 Gilt yields have remained at low levels and we expect 
these low levels to continue. Our projected weak 
economic outlook and volatility arising from both 
economic and political events will continue to offer 
borrowing opportunities although recent increases in 
PWLB margins may mean alternative sources offer better 
value. 

 Gilt yields have risen but remain low due to the soft UK 
and global economic outlooks. US monetary policy and 
UK government spending will be key influences alongside 
UK monetary policy. We expect gilt yields to remain at 
relatively low levels for the foreseeable future and judge 
the risks to be broadly balanced. 

 

P
age 84



 

65 | P a g e  

P
age 85



 

66 | P a g e  

Annex B: Existing Investment & Debt Portfolio Position 

 31/10/19 

Actual       

Portfolio 

£m 

31/10/19 

Average Rate for 

the year 

% 

External Borrowing:  

PWLB – Fixed Rate 

Local Authorities 

LOBO Loans 

Other 

Total External Borrowing 

 

  68 

  45 

  17 

   2 

132 

 

4.26% 

0.93% 

4.63% 

- 

3.11% 

Other Long Term Liabilities: 

PFI  

Finance Leases 

 

  22 

   2 

 

- 

- 

Total Gross External Debt 156 
 

- 

Investments: 

Managed in-house 

Short-term investments: 

  Instant Access 

  Notice Accounts 

   

Managed externally 

Multi Asset Fund 

Property Fund  

 

 

 

  13 

    8 

  

 

    3 

    8 

 

 

 

0.75% 

1.00% 

 

 

5.92% 

4.64% 

Total Investments   32 2.22% 

Net Debt  124 - 

 

Page 86



 

67 | P a g e  

Appendix 6  

Investment Strategy 

1. Purpose 

1.1 The Investment Strategy is part of a suite of related 

documents, and focuses predominantly on matters not 

covered by Capital Strategy and Treasury Management 

Strategy. 

 

1.2 The Authority invests its money for three broad purposes: 

 because it has surplus cash as a result of its day-to-day 

activities, for example when income is received in 

advance of expenditure (known as treasury 

management investments), 

 to support local public services by lending to or buying 

shares in other organisations (service investments), and 

 to earn investment income (known as commercial 

investments where this is the main purpose). 

 

1.3 The investment strategy meets the requirements of the 

statutory guidance issued by MHCLG in February 2018, and 

focuses on the second and third of the investment 

categories. 

 

 

 

 

2. Treasury Management Investments  

1.4 The Authority typically receives its income in cash (e.g. from 

taxes and grants) before it pays for its expenditure in cash 

(e.g. through payroll and invoices). It also holds reserves for 

future expenditure and collects local taxes on behalf of 

central government. These activities, plus the timing of 

borrowing decisions, lead to a cash surplus which is 

invested in accordance with guidance from the Chartered 

Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy. The balance of 

treasury management investments is expected to fluctuate 

between £10m and £59m during the 2019/20 financial year. 

 

1.5 Full details of the Authority’s policies and plans for 2019/20 

for treasury management investments are covered the 

Treasury Management Strategy (Annex 5). 

3. Service Investments: Loans 

1.6 Loans have been provided to Everybody Sport & Recreation 

for the purpose of investing in new equipment, with the aim 

of increasing the usage of leisure centres and improving the 

health of residents. 

 

1.7 In March 2013, Astra Zeneca announced it was relocating its 

R&D function from Alderley Park to Cambridge. In order to 

retain the expertise in the region and to stimulate local 

P
age 87



 

68 | P a g e  

economic growth the Council has invested in Alderley Park 

Holdings Ltd by way of equity investment and loans. 

 
1.8 In addition, the Council has committed to investing £5m (and 

invested £3.6m as at October 2019) in the Greater 

Manchester & Cheshire Life Science Fund, a venture capital 

fund investing in a range of life science businesses. Partners 

in the Fund include the Greater Manchester Combined 

Authority, Cheshire & Warrington Local Enterprise 

Partnership and Alderley Park Ltd. The Fund has a regional 

focus and seeks to target companies looking to re-locate a 

material part of their business within the Greater Manchester 

and Cheshire and Warrington areas, which includes Alderley 

Park where the Fund is based. 

 
1.9 Upper limits on the outstanding loans to each category of 

borrower have been set as follows: 

 
Table 1: Loans for service purposes in £’000 

Category of 

borrower 

31/03/19 

Actual 

As at 31/10/19 2019/20 

 Balance 

owing 

Loss 

allowance 

Net 

figure in 

accounts 

Approved 

Limit 

Subsidiaries  0 0 0 0 1,800 

Suppliers  24 24 1 23 100 

Local 

businesses  

4,679 5,087 54 5,033 10,000 

Local charities  679 634 45 589 2,000 

TOTAL 5,382 5,745 100 5,645 13,900 

 

1.10 Accounting standards require the Authority to set aside loss 

allowance for loans, reflecting the likelihood of non-payment. 

The figures for loans in the Authority’s statement of accounts 

are shown net of this loss allowance. However, the Authority 

makes every reasonable effort to collect the full sum lent 

and has appropriate credit control arrangements in place to 

recover overdue repayments.  

 

4. Service Investments: Shares 
 

1.11 The Authority has invested in Alderley Park Holdings Limited 

in order to maintain and stimulate the key strategic industry 

of life sciences within the Borough. Cheshire East is a 10% 

shareholder in Alderley Park, and has invested in the 

development of the site along with Bruntwood (51% 

shareholder) and Manchester Science Partnerships (MSP; 

39% shareholder). As part of the arrangement, the Council 

also invested in MSP, taking a 3% equity stake for £0.7m.  

These shares were sold to Bruntwood in September 2019 

for £2.4m. 

 

1.12 The Council also has shares in its subsidiary, wholly owned 

companies. However they are of nominal value, and 

consequently whilst the turnover of the group of companies 

is significant (£60m in aggregate) the share values are not 

considered material in the context of this Investment 

Strategy. 

 
1.13 Upper limits on the sum invested in each category of shares 

have been set as follows: 

 
 

 

P
age 88



 

69 | P a g e  

Table 2: Shares held for service purposes in £’000 

Category of 

company 

31/3/ 

2019 

actual 

As at 31/10/2019 2019/20 

 Amounts 

invested 

Gains or 

losses 

Value in 

accounts 

Approved Limit 

(cost of 

investment) 

Local 

Businesses  

5,952 1,070 2,810 3,880 5,000 

TOTAL 5,952 1,070 2,810 3,880 5,000 

 

5. Commercial Investments: Property 
 

1.14 Note that MHCLG defines property to be an investment if it 

is held primarily or partially to generate a profit. 

 

1.15 On 2 April 2019 the Council purchased land and buildings 

on the North and East side of Weston road in Crewe for 

£21m. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 3: Property held for investment purposes in £’000 

Property  Actual 31/10/19 actual 31/10/20 expected 2019/20 

Approval 

Limit 
Purchase 

cost 

Gains 

or 

(losses) 

in-year 

Value in 

accounts 

(includes  

gains/ 

(losses) 

to date 

Gains or 

(losses) 

Value in 

accounts 

Industrial 

Units 

907 0 1,443 0 1,443  

Enterprise 

Centres 

770 0 1,297 0 1,297  

Retail 23,350 0 25,370 0 25,370  

Residential 600 0 675 0 675  

Total 25,627 0 28,785 0 28,785 32,100 

6. Commercial Investments: Loans 
 

1.16 In considering commercial investment opportunities, the 

Council will adopt a prudent approach, with two underlying 

objectives: 

 Security – protecting the capital sum invested from loss 

 Liquidity – ensuring the funds invested are available 

when needed 

Category of borrower 2019/20 

 Approved Limit 

£000 

Partner Organisations 30,000 

P
age 89



 

70 | P a g e  

7. Loan Commitments and Financial 

Guarantees 
 

1.17 As Accountable Body for the Cheshire & Warrington Local 

Enterprise Partnership, the Council acts as Entrusted Entity 

to a £20m European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) 

supported Urban Development Fund which is due to 

commence in 2019/20. The Council, as contracting party, 

provides guarantees in respect of the amounts provided 

through ERDF. 

8. Proportionality  

1.18 The Authority is only partially dependent on profit generating 

investment activity to achieve a balanced revenue budget, in 

respect of Place services. Table 4 below shows the extent 

to which the expenditure planned to meet the service 

delivery objectives and/or place making role of the Authority 

is dependent on achieving the expected net profit from 

investments over the lifecycle of the Medium Term Financial 

Plan. Should it fail to achieve the expected net profit, the 

Authority’s contingency plans for continuing to provide these 

services include effective budget management and tight cost 

control. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Table 4: Proportionality of Investments in £’000 

 2017/18 

Actual 

2018/19 

Actual 

2019/20 

Budget 

2020/21 

Budget 

2021/22 

Budget 

Gross 

service 

expenditure  

- 

Directorate 

Level 

72,555 76,924 77,325 78,216 80,516 

Investment 

income  

(1,684) (1,787) (2,236) (2,486) (2,486) 

Proportion 2% 2% 3% 3% 3% 

NB: The proportion is the investment income divided by the 

gross service expenditure 

9. Borrowing in Advance of Need 

1.19 Government guidance is that local authorities must not 

borrow more than or in advance of their needs purely in 

order to profit from the investment of the extra sums 

borrowed. The Authority follows this guidance.  

10. Capacity, Skills and Culture 

1.20 The Authority has established an Investment Strategy Board 

comprised of members, supported by officers and where 

necessary, external advisors, and acts on recommendations 

from officers that consider opportunities to enhance the 

Revenue & Capital Budgets of the Council through strategic 

P
age 90



 

71 | P a g e  

investments, whether that involves using capital/cash 

resources or borrowing and lending powers. 

 

1.21 The Board is made up of the following individuals: 

 The Leader of the Council (Chair) 

 Portfolio Holder for Finance, ICT & Communication 

 Portfolio Holder for Environment & Regeneration 

 

1.22 Support is provided by: 

 Executive Director Corporate Services 

 S151 Officer 

 Monitoring Officer 

 Executive Director Place  

 Director of Growth and Enterprise 

 

11. Investment Indicators 
 

1.23 The Authority has set the following quantitative indicators to 

allow elected members and the public to assess the 

Authority’s total risk exposure as a result of its investment 

decisions. 

 

1.24 Total risk exposure: The first indicator shows the 

Authority’s total exposure to potential investment losses. 

This includes amounts the Authority is contractually 

committed to lend but have yet to be drawn down and 

guarantees the Authority has issued over third party loans. 

 

Table 5: Total investment exposure in £’000 

Total investment exposure 
31/08/19 

Actual 

31/03/20 

Forecast 

31/03/21 

Forecast 

Treasury management 

investments 

28,827 20,000 20,000 

Service investments: Loans 5,382 5,689 5,555 

Service investments: Shares 5,952 3,880 5,000 

Commercial investments: 

Property 

28,785 28,785 32,000 

Commercial Investments : 

Loans 

0 0 30,000 

TOTAL INVESTMENTS 68,946 58,354 92,555 

Commitments to lend 1,897 1,484 1,484 

TOTAL EXPOSURE 70,843 59,838 94,039 

 

1.25 How investments are funded: Currently the Authority’s 

investments are funded by usable reserves and income 

received in advance of expenditure. 

 

1.26 However in 2019/20 there is a possibility if the Authority 

decides to increase its investments in commercial properties 

and loans that they may require funding from borrowing.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 91



 

72 | P a g e  

Table 6: Investments funded by borrowing in £’000  

Investments funded by 

borrowing 

31/03/18 

Actual 

31/03/19 

Actual 

31/03/20 

Forecast 

Treasury management 

investments 

0 0 0 

Service investments: Loans 0 0 0 

Service investments: Shares 0 0 0 

Commercial investments: 

Property 

0 0 32,000 

Commercial Investments : 

Loans 

0 0 30,000 

TOTAL FUNDED BY 

BORROWING 

0 0 62,000 

 

1.27 Rate of return received: This indicator shows the 

investment income received less the associated costs, 

including the cost of borrowing where appropriate, as a 

proportion of the sum initially invested. Note that due to the 

complex local government accounting framework, not all 

recorded gains and losses affect the revenue account in the 

year they are incurred. 

 

Table 7: Investment rate of return (net of all costs) 

Investments net rate of 

return 

2018/19 

Actual 

2019/20 

Actual 

2020/21 

Forecast 

Treasury management 

investments 

1.75% 2.16% 2.80% 

Service investments: Loans 2.52% 0.24% 0.45% 

Service investments: Shares 107.67% 16.31% 0.00% 

Commercial investments: 

Property 

6.66% 6.66% 6.66% 

 

  

P
age 92



 

73 | P a g e  

Appendix 7  

Reserves Strategy 

Management of Council Reserves 

1. The Council’s Reserves Strategy states that the Council will 
maintain reserves to protect against risk and support 
investment. 
 

2. The opening balance at 1 April 2019 in the Council’s General 
Reserves was £10.3m as published in the Council’s 
Statement of Accounts for 2018/19.  

 
3. The updated Risk Assessment for 2019/20 provided for the 

Minimum Level to increase to £12.0m. The Reserves Strategy 
for 2019/20 set out a planned contribution from earmarked 
reserves of £1.7m to the general reserve in 2019/20. 

 
4. Following an update to the Risk Assessment for 2020/21, the 

minimum level has been retained at £10.3m. 
 

5. The Council also maintains Earmarked Revenue reserves for 
specific purposes. At 31 March 2019 balances on these 
reserves stood at £45.7m, excluding balances held by 
Schools. 

 
6. At the end of 2018/19 a central contingency referred to as the 

MTFS (Medium Term Financial Strategy) Reserve was 
created to support in-year pressures against the 2019/20 
revenue budget. Use of this earmarked reserve will be subject 
to approval of robust business cases. 

 
7. During 2019/20, an estimated £18.9m will be drawn down and 

applied to fund service expenditure specifically provided for. 
Service outturn forecasts take account of this expenditure and 
funding. 

 
8. Table 1 shows the forecast total reserves at the end of March 

2020. Overall the Council remains in a strong financial 
position given the major challenges across the public sector.  

 
Table 1 – Reserves Position 

 £m 

General Reserve 10.3 

Earmarked Reserves (excluding Schools) 26.8 

Total Reserves Balance at 31 March 2020 37.1 

 
9. Details of individual reserves are shown in Table 2 below.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 93



 

74 | P a g e  

Table 2 – Earmarked Reserves Position 

 
 

 
 

Name of  Reserve 

Opening 

Balance

 1st April 

2019

Movement in 

2019/20

Closing 

Balance 

31st March 

2020

Notes

£000 £000 £000

People

Adults, Public Health and Communities

PFI  Equalisation - Extra Care Housing 2,373 131 2,504
Surplus grant set aside to meet future payments on existing PFI contract which 

commenced in January 2009.

Public Health 627 (533) 94

Ring-fenced underspend to be invested in areas to improve performance against 

key targets. Including the creation of an innovation fund to support partners to 

deliver initiatives that tackle key health issues.

Communities Investment 110 (110) 0
Amalgamation of promoting local delivery; grant support; new initiatives and 

additional funding from outturn to support community investment.  

Fixed Penalty Notice Enforcement (Kingdom) 31 (31) 0
Surplus Fixed Penalty Notice receipts to be ring-fenced to provide a community 

fund to address environmental issues.

NHB Community Grants - Staffing 180 (180) 0

To support administrative staffing costs in relation to Central Government’s New 

Homes Bonus guidance for community projects, to be allocated in accordance 

with local priorities (also see Corporate EMR below).

Children's Services

Domestic Abuse Partnership 90 (40) 50
To sustain preventative services to vulnerable people as a result of partnership 

funding. 

SALT and OT 128 (128) 0
To support the additional investment into Speech and Language Therapy (SALT) 

and Occupational Therapy (OT).

P
age 94



 

75 | P a g e  

 
 
 

Name of  Reserve 

Opening 

Balance

 1st April 

2019

Movement in 

2019/20

Closing 

Balance 

31st March 

2020

Notes

£000 £000 £000

Place

Investment (Sustainability) 706 (706) 0
To support investment that can increase longer term financial independence and 

stability of the Council. 

Planning and Sustainable Development

Trading Standards and Regulations 75 (75) 0 Ongoing  Trading Standards prosecution case on product safety.

Air Quality 80 (80) 0 Air Quality Management - DEFRA Action Plan.

Strategic Planning 730 (60) 670 To meet costs associated with the Local Plan.

Licensing Enforcement 17 (17) 0
Three year reserve to fund a third party review and update of the Cheshire East 

Council Taxi Licensing Enforcement Policies.

Infrastructure and Highways 

Parking - Pay and Display Machines 100 (100) 0 Purchase of Pay and Display Machines.

Highways Procurement 219 (219) 0 To finance the development of the next Highway Service Contract.

Highways Contract  230 (230) 0 To provide for Highways Contract potential liability.

Growth and Regeneration

Royal Arcade Crewe 500 (258) 242
To provide for future costs relating to the Royal Arcade including repairs an 

maintenance.   

Legal Proceedings on land and property matters 127 (127) 0 To enable legal proceedings on land and property matters. 

Skills & Growth 316 (316) 0 To achieve skills and employment priorities and outcomes.

Housing - Choice Based lettings 
57 (57) 0

Housing partner contributions to support the administration of the choice based 

lettings scheme .

Homelessness & Housing Options 174 (174) 0
To prevent homelessness and mitigate against the risk of increased temporary 

accommodation costs.

Environmental

Environment 213 (213) 0 ANSA- mapping maintained assets/new delivery environment.

Hub Project - COI 153 (153) 0 To provide funds associated with the relocation of a depot.

P
age 95



 

76 | P a g e  

 

 

Name of  Reserve 

Opening 

Balance

 1st April 

2019

Movement in 

2019/20

Closing 

Balance 

31st March 

2020

Notes

£000 £000 £000

Corporate

Legal Services

Insurance (Cheshire East & Cheshire County Funds) 5,077 (500) 4,577 To settle insurance claims and manage excess costs.

Democratic Services

Elections 352 0 352 To provide funds for Election costs every 4 years. 

Finance and Performance

Collection Fund Management 5,009 1,256 6,265
To manage cash flow implications as part of the Business Rates Retention 

Scheme. Includes liabilities that will not be paid until future years.

Financing Reserve            11,539 (1,950) 9,589 To provide for financing of capital schemes, other projects and initiatives.

Enabling Transformation (Brighter Futures 

Transformation Programme)
1,001 (1,001) 0

To fund the Council’s four year transformation programme and its five outcomes 

of Culture; Estates and ICT systems; Customer Experience, Commercial 

Approach and Governance.

New Homes Bonus Community Fund 1,000 (1,000) 0
To support Central Government’s New Homes Bonus guidance for community 

projects, to be allocated in accordance with local priorities.

HR (CARE4CE Review, Culture Change, Pay 

realignment, Learning Mgt System)
450 (450) 0

To fund HR expenditure in relation to the Care4CE review, culture change 

programme, pay realignment and the Learning Management System.

MTFS Reserve 6,426 (4,313) 2,113 To support the financial strategy and risk management.

Cross Service 

Trading Reserve                                  2,161 (2,161) 0
The Authority's share of ASDV's net surplus to be spent in furtherance of the 

ASDV's objectives.  

Revenue Grants  - Dedicated Schools Grant  1,596 (3,654) (2,058) Unspent specific use grant carried forward into 2019/20.  

Revenue Grants  - Other  3,850 (1,448) 2,402 Unspent specific use grant carried forward into 2019/20.  

TOTAL                                           45,697 (18,897) 26,800

Notes: 

1. Figures exclude Schools balances. 

P
age 96



OFFICIAL

                                                                                        

Key Decision: No

Date First 
Published: N/A

Cabinet 

Date of Meeting:  4th February 2020

Report Title: School and Early Years Funding Formula for 2020/21

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Kathryn Flavell, Children and Families Portfolio Holder

Senior Officer: Mark Palethorpe, Executive Director of People

1. Report Summary

1.1.The report sets out the process to:

1.1.1. Determine the schools funding formula for 2020/21 and requests 
approval of the formula by Cabinet. 

1.1.2. Determine the early years funding formula for 2020/21 and requests 
approval of the formula by Cabinet.

1.2. It is a requirement for Cabinet to agree the schools funding formula following 
an agreed proposal from Schools Forum.  

1.3. It is a requirement for Cabinet to agree the early years funding formula 
following agreement with Schools Forum.  

Schools Funding Formula 2020/21

1.4.Schools Forum on 12th December 2019 voted on the schools funding formula 
and related issues.  They asked for a number of issues to be reported to 
Cabinet.  Further details of the process are set out at Appendix 1. 

1.5. In terms of the issues and the recommendations from Forum, these can be 
summarised as:

Page 97 Agenda Item 8



OFFICIAL

1.5.1. The funding formula ~ Schools Forum recorded a split vote on the 
issue of which formula to recommend to Cabinet. The split reflected the 
difference in the views of primary and secondary schools.  Primary voted 
to use the existing local model, secondary voted to use national funding 
formula (NFF).  The results were six votes for the local model and seven 
for the NFF with one abstention.  This was considered to be a split vote 
by the Chair of Schools Forum given attendance at the meeting. 

1.5.2. When Forum discussed the basis for the allocation of additional 
funding to schools they agreed that a formula using the NFF factors 
should be used, if the minimum per pupil funding level for primary 
schools could be increased above the headline level of £3,750. This 
would protect the overall level of funding going to that sector.  An 
example minimum figure of £3,830 per pupil for £1m of growth was 
quoted at the Schools Forum meeting.  This model has been developed 
and shared with schools in January 2020 to establish if there were any 
further comments.

1.5.3. While that model had not been reviewed at the meeting, it did form a 
recommendation by Forum to Cabinet. It meets the requirements agreed 
by Forum as stated above and protects funding levels to both sectors.  
The formula factors for this model are set out at Appendix 2. 

1.5.4. The ability to increase the primary minimum funding level is subject to 
an application to the DFE.  The application was submitted to the DfE on 
16th January 2020. It is not certain when the outcome will be known and 
the Children and Families Portfolio Holder will be kept up to date.  

1.5.5. If the application is not successful, the default is that other options to 
protect the amount being allocated to primary schools under NFF would 
be considered.  The Portfolio Holder will be consulted on any changes to 
the formula. 

1.5.6. The transfer of 0.5% of funding from schools to high needs ~ 
Schools Forum did not support the transfer to assist pressures in that 
area.  They acknowledged that the Council could apply directly to the DfE 
to seek permission for the transfer.  The application was submitted to the 
DfE on 16th January 2020.  It is not certain when the outcome will be 
known and the Children and Families Portfolio Holder will be kept up to 
date.    

1.5.7. If the application is not successful, the funding will remain in the 
schools block and increase overall school funding levels.  However, there 
will be further pressure on the high needs block and / or an impact on 

Page 98



OFFICIAL

services funded from high needs as the Council looks to manage within 
the funding provided by the DfE. 

1.5.8. In the event of the schools funding formula being changed it will impact 
on the factors listed at Appendix 2. 

1.5.9. Setting the minimum funding guarantee (MFG) percentage ~ 
Schools Forum supported setting the MFG percentage at +0.5% (being 
the lowest level available). 

1.5.10. The allocation of any additional funding ~ the consultation results 
supported using the basic entitlement, however Schools Forum 
considered the original case put to the DfE by local representatives in 
early 2017 that the minimum per pupil funding (MPPF) level for primary 
schools should be £4,000 remained important.  

1.5.11. Therefore, as per para 1.5.2 if the primary MPPF could be increased 
over the £3,750 headline level for 2020/21 and protect the overall amount 
allocated to primary schools, that would be an acceptable way forward.   

1.5.12. The value of the Growth Fund ~ Schools Forum agreed that an 
increase was necessary to address the concerns being raised by 
schools.  Discretion was given to the Council to find a suitable value (up 
to £1m) to address the current issues.  A Growth Fund of £0.7m has 
been built into the 2020/21 funding formula to acknowledge the multi-
year impact of additional classes and maintaining the per pupil payment 
rates. 

Early Years Funding Formula 2020/21

1.6.To seek approval to amend the funding for schools, private, voluntary and 
independent sector childcare providers as a result of an increase in the 
funding from the Department for Education (DfE) to deliver the free early 
education entitlements for 2, 3 and 4 year olds. This will be implemented on 
1st April 2020.

1.7.Further details of the Early Years National Funding Formula are set out at 
Appendix 3. 

1.8.The funding for early years has increased and the proposal is to increase the 
payment rates to providers by the same percentage.  This has been 
consulted on and agreed at Schools Forum on 12th December 2019.  

Page 99



OFFICIAL

1.9.Cabinet is asked to agree the new rates. The rates for 2019/20 are shown at 
Appendix 4 and the proposed rates for 2020/21 are set out at Appendix 5. 

Next Steps 

1.10. The outcome of the Cabinet meeting will be reported to the Schools Forum 
on 6th February 2020. 

1.11. School funding levels have to be issued to schools by 28th February 2020.

2. Recommendations

That Cabinet approves:

2.1.The Schools Funding Formula:

2.1.1. The use of a funding formula that uses the national funding formula 
factors but increases the primary minimum per pupil funding value above 
the headline level of £3,750 to for 2020/21.  A figure of £3,843 has been 
used in the latest model using October 2019 pupil numbers. This is 
subject to the Council’s application to the Department for Education to 
allow this change.

2.1.2. The 0.5% transfer from schools block to high needs. This is subject to 
the Council’s application to the Department for Education to change the 
Schools Forum recommendation being successful. 

2.1.3. The use of +0.5% as the minimum funding guarantee percentage.  
Meaning that individual school funding levels should increase by +0.5% 
compared to the 2019/20 level (subject to the items included in minimum 
funding guarantee protection) and excluding pupil number changes. 

2.2.The Early Years Funding Formula:

2.2.1. That Cabinet approves continued use of the current funding formula 
and agrees to increase the hourly rates by the same percentage increase 
as the increased funding from the Department for Education.   

2.2.2. That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director of People to 
enter into revised contracts with providers in accordance with the 
Department for Education funding increase.

Page 100



OFFICIAL

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1.The Local Authority is required to review the schools funding formula on an 
annual basis and consult with schools.  The formula needs to be considered 
and approved each year by Cabinet.  

3.2.The DfE has funded local authorities under the Early Years National Funding 
Formula (EYNFF) since April 2017 when the current formula was introduced 
on a phased basis during 2017/18 and 2018/19.  

3.3.The recommended formula continues to be in line with the national guidance, 
ensures sustainability of the childcare market and continues to target funds to 
‘narrow the gap’ between children from disadvantaged areas and their peers. 
Local authorities may retain a maximum of 5% of the allocation from the DfE.  
Cheshire East retains 5%.  Therefore, a minimum of 95% of any increase in 
the funding from the DfE must be passed through to providers.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. Schools Funding Formula: 

4.1.1. The process for 2020/21 considered three formula options.  These 
options were generated through a sub group of the Schools Forum and 
they formed the basis of the consultation process with all mainstream 
schools.  Details are provided at Appendix 1. The options consulted on 
were: 

- use the current local formula, 

- use the local formula with elements of the NFF that recognised 
deprivation,

- use the NFF.  

4.1.2. Previous years have seen a formula half way between the local model 
and NFF also being considered.  The half way model was not supported 
through the respective consultation processes in those years. 

4.2. Early Years Funding Formula:

4.2.1. A range of factors for the funding formula were considered when the 
new rates were introduced.  These are set out within Appendix 3. 

Page 101



OFFICIAL

5. Background

5.1.Schools Funding Formula:

5.1.1. The Council receives Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funding as a 
ring-fenced grant to pay for education. The Grant is received in four 
blocks and local decisions are made over use of the blocks, transfers 
between them and the basis for allocation to schools. 

5.1.2. The NFF announcements mean that each DSG block is determined by 
a different national funding formula. 

5.1.3. The Schools Forum continues to have the ability to determine which 
formula to allocate funding is recommended to Cabinet. The Forum 
follows a process of evaluation, consultation and debate to arrive at the 
final recommendation. 

5.1.4. Further information is provided at Appendix 1.  The recommended 
schools formula factors and values are set out at Appendix 2. 

5.2.Early Years Funding Formula:

5.2.1. From 1st April 2017 local authorities have been funded via the Early 
Years National Funding Formula. (EYNFF)

5.2.2. Following detailed modelling of the formula and consultation, a formula 
was implemented on 1st April 2017 that met a number of criteria and 
objectives. 

5.2.3. Further details of the EYNFF are set out at Appendix 3. The current 
funding formula to providers is set out in Appendix 4.

5.2.4. The table summarises the hourly rates of funding from the DfE:

2 year olds 3&4 year olds
2019/20 £5.28 £4.30
2020/21 £5.36 £4.38
Increase (£) £0.08 £0.08
Increase (%) 1.5% 1.8%

5.2.5. Retaining the formula and increasing the hourly rates paid to providers 
by the same percentage increase as the rate paid by the DfE will ensure 
that the minimum 95% pass through rate is maintained and the 

Page 102



OFFICIAL

objectives set by the formula continue to be met. The proposed funding 
to providers, effective from 1 April 2020, is set out in Appendix 5.

5.2.6. The proposal was presented to the Schools Forum on 12th December 
2019 and unanimously supported. 

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. The local authority currently receives funding for schools through the 
Dedicated Schools Grant.  The local authority has the statutory 
responsibility under the Schools and Early Years Finance Regulations for 
allocating this funding to schools and must consult with the Schools 
Forum to determine the individual schools budget for all schools in the 
area.

6.1.2. The local authority must also determine a local funding formula, which 
is used to distribute the individual schools budget between local schools.  
The new national funding formula for schools will determine how much 
each local authority in England receives and the local authority will still 
have the statutory responsibility for distributing this to individual schools 
in consultation with the Schools Forum.

6.1.3. The EYNFF funds the free entitlement to early years provision for 3 
and 4 year olds across all sectors, which is the Authority’s statutory duty 
under Section 7 of the Childcare Act 2006. It also assists with the 
Authority’s delivery of its duty to secure sufficient childcare under Section 
6 of the Childcare Act 2006. The Authority funds providers under the 
terms of contracts approved by the Head of Legal Services. This is based 
on a model contract issued by the Department for Education

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. The schools funding formula is the mechanism through which the 
Dedicated Schools Grant schools block is provided to schools.  The NFF 
arrangements mean that all schools block funding will be delegated, 
except for the transfer to the High Needs Block of 0.5%, which will go 
ahead if the Council’s application is accepted by the DfE. 

6.2.2. The recommendation to approve the national funding formula with 
increased primary MPPF will cause a redistribution of funding from low to 
high deprivation schools. However, the increased primary minimum will 

Page 103



OFFICIAL

help to offset this change.  It will also support primary schools in the 
transition to the NFF, which is currently expected from April 2021. 

6.2.3. The schools funding formula has no impact on the Council’s MTFS. 

6.2.4. The EYNFF is funded through the Dedicated Schools Grant. Mid year 
adjustments are made to reflect January census data. All providers of the 
free entitlement will receive an increase in funding based on the 
proposed formula. Centrally retained levels will continue at the maximum 
level of 5% in line with the guidance.

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. The Council is supporting “Outcome 3 – People have the life skills and 
education they need in order to thrive” and is delivering that objective 
through its Corporate Plan and MTFS. 

6.3.2. One of the aims of the EYNFF was to create greater parity between the 
sectors in the payment systems via a higher and universal base rate. 
Policy implications relate to the proportion of the base rate in relation to 
any supplements and how the supplements are targeted.  The 
implemented supplements focus on ‘narrowing the gap’ between children 
from disadvantaged areas and their peers and sustaining provision in 
rural areas.  Increasing the funding rate within the existing formula would 
continue to meet the policy objectives.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. The Government NFF announcements include an equality statement.  
The local schools funding formula applies to all schools based on pupil 
characteristics. The NFF provides more funding to such characteristics 
so will help more vulnerable groups in due course.

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. Changes to school funding levels may result in staffing changes at 
schools requiring HR support.  Each school will need to consider the 
impact of using the existing local formula as opposed to NFF on their 
three-year financial plans and review their staffing establishment 
accordingly.

Page 104



OFFICIAL

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. Prompt agreement of the schools funding formula allows schools to 
receive their budget allocations in advance of the financial year. They 
can ensure their expenditure plans are in line with their available budget.  
28th February 2020 is the date by which school block funding levels must 
be notified to schools. 

6.6.2. The move from a local formula to NFF will cause a re-distribution of 
funding across schools.  This is being managed through an increase in 
the primary minimum funding level and a positive MFG percentage.  

6.6.3. Given that a positive MFG is being used ALL primary and secondary 
schools will see an increase in funding (excluding changes to pupil 
numbers).  110 schools (out of 147) will receive more than a 1% 
increase. 

6.6.4. However, the results are significantly different to the 2020/21 local 
model the Council and Schools Forum consulted on in November 2019.  
As per the table below 56 schools (out of 147) would gain funding and 74 
would receive less under this new model when compared to the local 
model. This is summarised below: 

Gains Reductions 
Greater than 3% 10 Greater than 3% 1
Greater than 2% 25 Greater than 2% 34
Greater than 1% 8 Greater than 1% 19
Less than 1% 13 Less than 1% 20

Total 56 Total 74

 
6.6.5. Application of the EYNFF can result in spend being more than the 

allocated budget should participation increase beyond that forecast. 
However, the DfE adjusts funding in the following year to take account of 
fluctuating take up.  Therefore, the risk is cash flow rather than 
overspend. Take up and spend is monitored closely on a twice termly 
basis by Early Years and Childcare Team and Accountancy Services. 
Any emerging issues are reported immediately to Directors / Senior 
Managers. 

Page 105



OFFICIAL

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. Schools Funding Formula:
- All maintained and academy schools in the Borough are affected by 

decisions over total funding levels and the local formula used to 
allocate it to schools. 

- The NFF introduces a relatively small element of sparsity funding for 
remote schools meeting certain criteria. However, those schools 
may lose funding if the pupils are from areas that are less deprived 
than elsewhere. 

6.7.2. Early Years Funding Formula:

- The current formula provides additional funding for provision in rural 
areas in recognition of their limited ability to attract the numbers of 
children required to cover operating costs.  The additional funding is 
paid to provision located in Census Output Areas defined as “Rural”.

- Funding should continue to be awarded to rural areas.  Removal of 
this additional funding may undermine the sustainability of provision 
and lead to the Authority failing to meet its sufficiency duty.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. All maintained and academy schools in the Borough are affected by 
decisions over funding levels and the formula to allocate funding.

6.8.2. In addition to DSG schools block funding, schools continue to receive 
pupil premium allocations for cared for children where they are eligible. 

6.8.3. Adequate and equitable funding contributes towards sustaining 
sufficient levels of early years provision across the borough for children 
to access their free early education entitlement. This is a statutory duty 
for the Local Authority.

6.8.4. Failure to distribute the funding allocation in an equitable way across all 
sectors could impact on delivery of the extended free entitlement for 
working families. Childcare providers nationally have voiced concern that 
30 hours free childcare limits their ability to charge for additional hours; 
the Government becomes the primary “customer” at a prescribed rate.

Page 106



OFFICIAL

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1. Not Applicable

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1.All wards are affected by the changes to the schools’ funding formula.

8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1.Details of the local schools funding consultation are included at Appendix 1.

8.2.The Early Years Reference Group, a sub-group of the Schools Forum, was 
consulted on 3rd December 2019.  Of the 14 members, 3 responded and all 
the respondents supported the proposed pass through of the increased 
funding.  The proposal was presented to the Schools Forum on 12th 
December 2019 and was unanimously supported.

9. Access to Information

9.1.Cabinet papers are available at:

http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=241&Year=0 

9.2.Schools Forum papers for 2019 are held at:

http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/schoolsforum   

9.3.Written ministerial statement that announced the early years funding: 

https://www.gov.uk/government/news/funding-boost-to-support-childcare-
and-early-education

9.4.DfE Guidance - Early years funding: 2020/2021.

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-funding-2020-
2021

Page 107

http://moderngov.cheshireeast.gov.uk/ecminutes/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=241&Year=0
http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/schoolsforum
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/funding-boost-to-support-childcare-and-early-education
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/funding-boost-to-support-childcare-and-early-education
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-funding-2020-2021
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-funding-2020-2021


OFFICIAL

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officers:

Name: Jacky Forster

Job Title: Director of Education and 14-19 Skills

Email: Jacky.Forster@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

Name: Alison Stathers-Tracey

Job Title: Director of Prevention & Early Help

Email: Alison.Stathers-Tracey@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 108

mailto:Jacky.Forster@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:Alison.Stathers-Tracey@cheshireeast.gov.uk


 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix 1 ~ Setting the Schools Funding Formula 2020/21 

 

1. The Schools Forum meeting on 3rd October 2019 considered the approach to the 

2020/21 funding formula. They agreed to convene a sub group to consider the 

issues in more detail and consult with schools. 

 

2. The sub group met on three occasions (16th October 2019, 6th November 2019 

and 3rd December 2019) to consider the issues for schools and ran a consultation 

process from 14th to 29th November 2019.    

 

3. The consultation resulted in a 50% response rate from schools.  Full details of the 

consultation results were reported to Schools Forum on 12th December 2019 and 

the results are summarised below:  

 

2020/21 Consultation Questions Percentage Vote 
(1 Vote per school) 

Q1 – Please select the formula option that you prefer?  Local   71.23% 
Local+   9.59% 
NFF    19.18% 

Q2.1 – Do you agree with a one-off 0.5% transfer to 
high needs – equating to £1m?  

Yes   35.62% 
No    57.53% 
Undecided  6.85% 

Q2.2 – Do you agree with setting the Minimum Funding 
Guarantee (MFG) at +0.5%? 

Yes   83.56% 
No    2.74% 
Undecided  13.70% 

Q2.3 – Do you agree with allocating additional funding 
using basic entitlement rather than MFG? 

Yes   80.82% 
No    2.74% 
Undecided  16.44% 

 

Available Funding Levels 

4. The initial DSG funding allocations released on 11th October 2019 were used 

to inform the modelling work used in the consultation process. These allowed 

for the headline minimum per pupil funding levels for primary and secondary 

schools to be achieved with a relatively low MFG scaling percentage.  All the 

modelling used October 2018 pupil numbers.  

 

5. These funding levels will be updated by the revised funding announcements 

from the DfE incorporating October 2019 pupil information.   

  

Page 109



 

OFFICIAL 

Implementing the minimum per pupil funding levels  

6. The DfE consulted on making the headline MPPF levels compulsory in 

October 2019. The results of the consultation have been published and the 

DfE have confirmed they will be made compulsory.   
  

7. The DfE have previously committed to the Primary MPPF level increasing to 

£4,000 by 2021/22. 
 

Setting the minimum funding guarantee percentage at +0.5% 

8. MFG is a self-funding method of ensuring no schools suffer significant 

reductions to funding levels by scaling back funding from those schools set to 

gain. 
 

9. Therefore, any revised models need to consider the achievement of the MFG 

percentage and the resulting scaling back percentage.  Previous years have 

seen high levels of MFG scaling, however that has reduced to c.15% under 

the current funding arrangements.  
  

10. The Schools Forum voted in support of setting MFG at +0.5%.  

Additional Funding Levels 

11. As part of this discussion the Schools Forum agreed that a funding formula 

using NFF with an increased minimum per pupil level for primary schools 

should be recommended to Cabinet. 

Timetable 
 

12. The following key stages of the process will be followed: 
 

Date Actions 

4/2/20 Cheshire East 
Cabinet 

Consider recommended schools funding formula 

6/2/20 Schools 
Forum 

Agree School Budget Report and receive final school 
funding figures 

Mid February Publish Schools Block funding figures via the Schools 
Forum website 

Late February Schools receive their one line budgets including indicative 
allocations for high needs, early years, pupil premium and 
sixth form funding plus the supporting data. 

March Schools check the data 

 

Page 110



 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix 2 ~ Recommended Formula – Factors and Values 2020/21 

 

 

  

Reception uplift No

Description 

Primary (Years R-6)

Key Stage 3  (Years 7-9)

Key Stage 4 (Years 10-11)

Description 
Primary amount per 

pupil 

Secondary amount per 

pupil 

FSM £451.63 £451.63

FSM6 £562.03 £817.95

IDACI Band  F £210.76 £301.09

IDACI Band  E £250.91 £406.47

IDACI Band  D £376.36 £536.94

IDACI Band  C £406.47 £582.10

IDACI Band  B £436.57 £627.26

IDACI Band  A £602.17 £843.04

Description 
Primary amount per 

pupil 

Secondary amount per 

pupil 

3) Looked After Children (LAC) LAC X March 17

EAL 3 Primary £536.94

EAL 3 Secondary £1,445.21

5) Mobility

Pupils starting school 

outside of normal entry 

dates

£878.17 £1,254.53

Description Weighting

Amount per pupil 

(primary or secondary 

respectively)

Primary Low Attainment £1,068.86

Secondary low attainment 

(year 7)
64.53%

Secondary low attainment 

(year 8)
63.59%

Secondary low attainment 

(year 9)
58.05%

Secondary low attainment 

(year 10)
48.02%

Secondary low attainment 

(years 11)

6) Prior attainment
£1,615.83

1) Basic Entitlement

Age Weighted Pupil Unit (AWPU)

Amount per pupil

£2,867.34

£4,032.55

£4,577.51

2) Deprivation

£0.00

4) English as an Additional Language (EAL)

Page 111



 

OFFICIAL 

 

Other Factors

Factor
Lump Sum per 

Primary School (£)

Lump Sum per Secondary 

School (£)

7) Lump Sum £114,814.13 £114,814.13

8) Sparsity factor £26,094.12 £67,844.71

NFF

NFF

NFF

NFF

9) Fringe Payments £0

10) Split Sites £173,873

11) Rates £2,155,765

12) PFI funding £0

Exceptional Rents £24,360

£217,659,730 97.57%

14) Additional funding to meet minimum per pupil funding level £5,429,443 2.43%

£223,089,174 100.00%

15) Minimum Funding Guarantee 0.50% £460,885

Apply capping and scaling factors? (gains may be capped above a specific ceiling and/or scaled) Yes

Capping Factor (%) 0.50% Scaling Factor (%) 16.83%

Total deduction if capping and scaling factors are applied -£460,885

Total Funding for Schools Block Formula £223,089,174

£0.00

Additional funding from the high needs budget £0.00

Growth fund (if applicable) £700,120.00

Falling rolls fund (if applicable) £0.00

Other Adjustment to 18-19 Budget Shares £0

£223,789,294

% Distributed through Basic Entitlement 75.77%

% Pupil Led Funding 88.89%

Primary: Secondary Ratio 1 : 1.28

Total Funding For Schools Block Formula (including growth and falling rolls funding)

High Needs threshold (only fill in if, exceptionally, a high needs threshold different from £6,000 

has been approved)

Total Funding for Schools Block Formula (excluding minimum per pupil 

funding level and MFG Funding Total) 

Total Funding for Schools Block Formula (excluding MFG Funding Total) 

Fixed, tapered or NFF sparsity primary lump sum?

Fixed, tapered or NFF sparsity secondary lump sum?

Fixed, tapered or NFF sparsity middle school lump sum?

Fixed, tapered or NFF sparsity all-through lump sum?

Page 112



 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix 3 ~ Further Details of the Early Years National Funding Formula 

 

1. The Early Years National Funding Formula (EYNFF) aimed to: 

 

- Deliver fairer funding for local authorities. 

- Maximise funding to providers by requiring local authorities to pass 

through the majority of funding to providers. 

- Deliver a new Disability Access Fund that will award an annual payment 

of £615 to settings who support children aged 3 and 4 who are in receipt 

of disability living allowance and the free early education entitlement. 

- Provide funding for maintained nursery schools. 

 

2. A range of factors for the funding formula were considered within the 

limitations of the operation guidance from the DfE:  
 

- Local authorities continue to have the ability to use funding 

supplements. These are given in addition to the base rate to reflect local 

needs or policy objectives. 

- The total value of supplements must not be anymore than 10%. 

- Deprivation is a mandatory supplement. 

- Discretionary supplements include: Rurality / sparsity; flexibility; quality; 

and English as an additional language (EAL). 

 

3. The DfE allocation to local authorities fluctuates based on the number of 

hours delivered.  Therefore, the funding formula should be linked to the 

characteristics of the population rather than characteristics of the provider.  

 

4. Supplements linked to characteristics of the provision rather than the child can 

create instability in the funding model as take up shifts across providers.  As a 

result these are not used.  

 

5. A formula that gives the provider the opportunity to alter their hourly rate each 

year could result in a significant overspend due to the high pass through 

requirement.  Similarly, the Authority could fail to pass through the minimum 

requirement if providers reduce their hourly rate.  

 

6. This could only be controlled by revising the funding formula on an annual 

basis.  This would not be practical and would prove an administrative burden 

on the Local Authority.  As a result these are not used. 
 

Page 113



 

OFFICIAL 

7. The funding paid to providers of the 2-year-old Free Early Education 

Entitlement is not subject to a formula.  Therefore, it is equitable to increase 

the hourly rate paid to providers by the same percentage increase as the 

hourly rate paid by the DfE.  

 

8. Following detailed modelling of the formula and consultation, a formula was 

implemented on 1st April 2017 that met the following objectives: 

 

- High pass through rate of 93% in 2017/18 and 95% in 2018/19. 

- High proportion of the funding via the base rate. 

- Additional funding for children from disadvantaged areas. 

- Additional funding to support provision in rural areas. 

- All providers receive more funding than the previous formula. 

- An average hourly rate of at least £4. 

 

Page 114



 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix 4 

Hourly rates paid to providers of the Free Early Education Entitlements. 
 
2019/20 Funding Formula for 3&4 year olds: 
 
Base rate      £3.97 per hour 
Deprivation – group based provision £0.0056 per hour per % of children from the 

lowest 30% IDACHI 
Deprivation – childminders £0.067 per hour where children attend from 

the lowest 30% IDACHI 
Rurality     £0.07 per hour  
 
All rates are applicable to all the children in the setting. 
 
  % Hourly rate 

Pass through 95.00%   

Base rate 97.10% 3.97 

Mandatory supplement 

Deprivation 2.80% 0.0056 

Deprivation - group per %/per 
hr 

  0.0056 

Deprivation - childminder per hr   0.067 

Discretionary supplements 

Rurality (census definition) 0.10% 0.07 

Flexibility (> 6 hours) 0.00% 0.00 

Quality 0.00% 0.00 

EAL (6% of population) 0.00% 0.00 

 
 
 
2019/20 funding for 2 year olds:   £5.02 per hour 

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



 

OFFICIAL 

Appendix 5 
 
Proposed hourly rates payable to providers of the Free Early Education 
Entitlelements. 
 
Funding Formula from 1 April 2020: 
 

  

2019/20 (£ 
per child per 
hour) % increase (1) 

2020/21 
onwards (£ 
per child per 
hour) 

3&4 year olds       

Base rate 3.97 1.8 4.04 

Deprivation - group based 
provision 0.0056 1.8 0.0057 

Deprivation - childminder 0.067 1.8 0.068 

Rurality 0.07 1.8 0.071 

        

2 year olds 5.02 1.5 5.10 

 
(1) Please note that the % figures will vary at this level as small changes have a 

significant impact. The intention is to uplift the figures by the national increase 
to the nearest 0.1 of a pence.   

 
All rates are applicable to all the children in the setting. 

 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL

                                                                                        

Key Decision: Y

Date First Published:  
16/08/19

Cabinet

Date of Meeting: 4th February 2020

Report Title: Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure 

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Brian Roberts – Highways and Waste

Senior Officer: Frank Jordan - Executive Director Place 

1. Report Summary

1.1. The national guidance to which the Council aligns its highway policies and 
operational procedures has been updated by the release of the ‘Well-
Managed Highway Infrastructure Code of Practice’ (WMHI).

1.2. Alignment of the key policies outlined in this report with the 
recommendations of WMHI will see actionable ‘pothole’ defects identified for 
treatment at a shallower depth, particularly reducing risk to cyclists and 
pedestrians. The introduction of these policies will see the better allocation of 
resource to address winter issues.

1.3. This report seeks approval from Cabinet to adopt changes to the following 
policies and plans to ensure that they align with this national code of 
practice.

1.3.1. Highway Safety Inspection Policy

1.3.2. Code of Practice for Highway Safety Inspections

1.3.3. Winter and Adverse Weather Policy

1.3.4. Adverse Weather Plan 

1.3.5. Cheshire East Highway Resilient Network Strategy

1.4. Approval to these changes would enable the Council to fulfil its key statutory 
duties in keeping the highway network safe for all road users.

Page 119 Agenda Item 9



OFFICIAL

1.5. The Appendices referred to throughout this report are available on the 
Cabinet agenda web page.

2. Recommendations

That Cabinet

2.1. Approve the adoption of the Resilient Network Approach to Highway Safety 
Inspections.

2.2. Approve the adoption of the Highway Safety Inspection Policy 2020, Code of 
Practice for Highway Safety Inspections 2020, the Winter & Adverse 
Weather Policy 2020, Adverse Weather Plan 2020/21 and the Cheshire East 
Highways Resilient Network 2020.

2.3. Delegate authority to the Director of Highways and Infrastructure in 
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Highways and Waste to make minor 
operational changes to the Highway Safety Inspection Policy, Code of 
Practice for Highway Safety Inspections, the Winter & Adverse Weather 
Policy, Adverse Weather Plan and the Cheshire East Highways Resilient 
Network Strategy from time to time and as appropriate.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1. The guidance ‘ WMHI was commissioned by the Department for Transport 
(DfT).   It is not a statutory requirement to comply with this Code; however, it 
is recommended that the Code is adopted into the Council’s practice for the 
following reasons:

3.2. The guidance has been identified by the DfT as being best Practice and is 
seen as a more efficient way to prioritise the highway network for all highway 
users.

3.3. The DfT have made it clear that future maintenance funding through the 
Local Highway Maintenance Incentive Fund will be linked to compliance with 
this new Code.  Under the banding system used to allocate the incentive 
funding, Band 1 councils receive no funding and Band 2 councils recieve 
only 30%.   At present  Cheshire East are a Band 3 council and receive the 
full funding allocation of £1.751m. 

3.4. Under the Highway Service Contract the contractor is responsible for the 
management of all aspects of third party claims and indemnifies the Council 
against all third party claims that arise out of a failure to provide a service. As 
such, the failure to maintain an up to date Policy in line with the new Code 
could leave the Council liable.

Page 120



OFFICIAL

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. The Council could opt to continue with its current systems for inspections 
and winter maintenance. However, they do not fully address the risk 
management approach outlined in the revised Code of Practice. 

4.2. The Department for Transport have expressed a desire to tie elements of 
future funding to the implementation of the recommendations of The Code. 
Failure to adopt the recommendations would likely result in a reduction in 
funding from Central Government.  

5. Background

5.1. The documents which form the basis of this report represent the first of the 
highway service policies and procedures to be reviewed in light of WMHI. 
The remaining highway service documents are to be reviewed as part of a 
rolling programme.

5.2. In 2016 under the direction of the Department for Transport, the UK Roads 
Liaison Group replaced the highway management guidance document, Well 
Maintained Highways with Well Managed Highway Infrastructure.

5.3. The revision of national guidance documents has resulted in the Council 
undertaking a root and branch examination of the policies and processes that 
it uses to manage the network.  

5.4. The review identified a number of areas where changes are required to 
ensure best practice is being delivered. The documents reviewed under this 
cabinet report cover winter service, highway safety inspections and the 
resilient highway network.

Network Hierarchy

5.5. The Code recommends the development of a Network Hierarchy in order to 
prioritise areas of the network in accordance with their expected use, 
resilience and local economic and social factors such as industry, schools, 
hospitals etc. The approach recommended in The Code looks to move away 
from the traditional prioritisation of the network by road classification i.e. A, B 
and C etc. The proposed Network Hierarchy can be found in Appendix 2.

5.6. Under the proposed approach, in order to better manage risk, the travelling 
public will notice busier parts of the highway network receiving greater 
priority.

5.7. The proposed approach will be reviewed regularly to consider additions to 
the network such as Congleton Bypass. The addition of new roads will 
change driver behaviour and as such will amend the Network Hierarchy. The 

Page 121



OFFICIAL

proposed approach will also help pave the way for new technologies which 
will help to deliver a better understanding of highway usage and user needs.

5.8. Under the proposed approach, the greatest priority in the Network Hierarchy 
is afforded to the Resilient Network.

Resilient Network

5.9. Following the severe weather of 2013/14 the Government commissioned the 
Transport Resilience Review which was published in July 2014. A key finding 
of the review was the need for local councils to identify a resilient network to 
which they give priority, in order to maintain economic activity in times of 
extreme weather or during disruptive events.

5.10. Currently the Council delivers a Resilient Network in line with the current 
Adverse Weather Plan. This has been reviewed and revised in light of the 
new Code. The proposed roads shown in Table 1 have been identified as 
forming an appropriate Resilient Network:

CEC Roads Identified for Resilience
A34 A5020 A530 A538
A49 A5024 A532 A54
A50 A5033 A533 A555

A500 A51 A534 A556
A5015 A523 A536 A6

A5016 A525 A537

Table 1 – Proposed Resilient Network

5.11. A Resilient Network map together with the Resilient Network Strategy can be 
found in Appendix 3.

5.12. The proposed Resilient Network consists of the most important routes in the 
Borough in terms of connectivity and accessibility and also includes the 
roads used by Highways England as Emergency Diversion Routes and 
Advanced Diversion Routes.

5.13. The Resilient Network will be regularly reviewed to identify areas for 
inclusion or removal as the Network Hierarchy evolves over time.

Highway Safety Inspection Code of Practice and Policy

5.14. The proposed Network Hierarchy seeks to amend the current safety 
inspection frequencies in order to better address risk. When considering 
appropriate inspection frequencies of the Network Hierarchy, two options 
have been considered:

Page 122



OFFICIAL

5.14.1. Option 1: A Minimal Change Approach to Highway Safety 
Inspections: This approach proposes the network prioritisation shown 
in Appendix 4 and is broadly comparable to the system currently 
operated under the guidance offered in Well Maintained Highways.

5.14.2. Option 2: A Resilient Network Approach to Highway Safety 
Inspections: This approach, detailed in Appendix 4, looks to prioritise 
resources on the network in terms of risk and importance. With Special 
Interest Areas (high footfall areas) and the Resilient Network receiving 
the greatest number of safety inspections.

5.15. The proposed approach would see 843km of the most heavily trafficked 
roads in the Borough receive an increase in inspection frequency and 
516km of lesser used routes receiving a lower inspection frequency. Under 
the proposals, the most important roads in the Borough would receive 
inspections every month, whereas under the existing arrangements this is 
undertaken every two months. The Resilient Network Approach better 
aligns with the inspection regimes of our neighbouring authorities, a key 
requirement of the new Code.

5.16. It is recommended that the Resilient Network Approach is adopted as this 
aligns closely to the recommendations in The Code and will help to mitigate 
risk on the network.

5.17. Under the proposed approach, in some low risk areas it may take longer for 
the Council to identify defects; however, members of the public will still be 
able to report defects that they come across on the highway network, either 
through the contact centre or the Council’s online reporting tool.

Response Times and Investigatory Levels

5.18. The proposed approach sees a revision to the response times to the repair 
of defects. The current code of practice, aims to address the most 
dangerous actionable defects within 1.5 hours and less dangerous 
actionable defects within 5 days. The proposed code of practice aims to 
address emergency defects in 1 hour during the working day and 1.5 hours 
outside of working hours; however, defects that pose a lesser risk to the 
traveling public will be repaired between 2 and 20 working days from the 
point of identification by an inspector. Some defects may be identified to be 
rectified beyond this if they are covered as part of a programme of works 
depending on the risks. This will primarily be through larger patching 
schemes.

5.19. The move to this new way of working will mean that works will be able to be 
programmed with greater efficiency and planning meaning more permanent 
long term repairs can be delivered.  This should, with adequate 
maintenance funding, reduce the number of defects on the network.

Page 123



OFFICIAL

5.20. The proposed approach would see intervention levels revised to 
investigatory levels. Under the current approach defects are actioned at the 
specific intervention level.  Under the proposed approach defects are risk 
assessed at the investigatory level to determine the risk they pose to the 
public. Table 2 shows the proposed investigatory levels.

Defect

Intervention Level 
under the Current 
Policy and Code 

Investigatory 
Level Under the 
Proposed Policy 
and Code

Pothole 50mm 40mm
Localised 
carriageway edge 
deterioration 100mm 80mm
Footway/Cycleway 
defect 25mm 20mm
On carriageway 
marked cycle lane 
defect 50mm 20mm
Table 2- Comparison of intervention and investigatory levels

5.21. The proposed use of investigatory levels should see individual actionable 
defects on the carriageway for a reduced amount of time and this would 
reduce the level of risk to the travelling public.  In addition, the reduced 
investigatory levels should reduce the amount of unseen long term damage a 
defect inflicts upon the asset.

5.22. Approval of the proposed approach to Highway Safety Inspections would see 
the new way of working implemented by June 2020.

5.23. Details of the proposed Highway Safety Inspection Policy and Highway Safety 
Inspection Code of Practice can be found in Appendix 5.

The Winter and Adverse Weather Policy and Plan

5.24. Currently the winter service is delivered in accordance with Well Maintained 
Highways. The routes treated date back to the days of Cheshire County 
Council. 

5.25. At present, the Council treats around 1120km of the 2700km network  (41%). 

5.26. The Council also engages in cross boundary agreements where roads in 
other council’s areas are treated in return for the treatment of roads in 
Cheshire East.  These agreements are undertaken to deliver route 
efficiencies.  The Council presently treats 58km of other councils’ roads with 
19km of the CEC network treated in return.  Under the WMHI winter route 
optimisation exercise, these cross boundary routes will be reviewed and 
dialog has begun with the neighbouring authorities to discuss these changes. 

Page 124



OFFICIAL

5.27. The Code recommends that ‘local policies and service levels should be 
developed as far as reasonably possible with users and key stakeholders 
and should also be based on a risk assessment to define the scope of the 
service’.

5.28. The proposed winter treatment network has been developed using a risk 
based process to take into consideration local risk factors including usage, 
local amenities, vulnerable users, public transport and local risks such as 
steep gradients, cold spots and other known local issues.

5.29. Each section of highway within the Borough has been risk assessed in line 
with the risk assessment pro-forma which can be made available upon 
request.

5.30. This approach ensures a uniform and consistent approach across the 
network. 

5.31. As a result of the risk assessment process, 995km out of 2700km (37%) of 
the highway network has been identified as requiring routine winter 
treatment.

5.32. The proposed approach sees 103km of previously untreated roads added to 
the network.  892 km of previously treated roads remaining on the network 
and 230km of previously treated roads removed from the treated network.

5.33. Under the proposed approach the Council will retain the services of farm 
contractors, who in times of more extreme weather may be utilised to 
undertake winter maintenance to specific routes in the high east of the 
Borough.

5.34. The proposed approach to winter service will require a route optimisation 
exercise to ensure that the roads identified for treatment are included on 
driver routes that minimise vehicle mileage.  It is likely that the route 
optimisation exercise will see a small number of roads added to the treated 
network to aid operational efficiency.

5.35. In addition, a grit bin risk assessment has been developed to assess the 
suitability of locations with regards to the siting of grit bins.  This will help to 
provide communities with self help resources. A copy of the grit bin 
assessment form is available upon request.

5.36. Where roads have been removed from the treated network, a grit bin risk 
assessment will be undertaken to ascertain if a grit bin is required. Under the 
criteria of the grit bin risk assessment process these roads will receive an 
extra weighting due to the loss of service. 

5.37. All existing grit bins will be assessed against the proposed grit bin risk 
assessment form to ascertain whether they should be on the network.

Page 125



OFFICIAL

5.38. Approval of the proposed approach to winter service would see the new way 
of working implemented for the 2020/21 winter season.

5.39. Details of the proposed Winter and Adverse Weather Policy and Winter and 
Adverse Weather Plan along with the proposed treatment maps can be 
found in Appendix 6.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1.   Legal Implications

6.1.1. The recommendations of The Code are not statutory but provide highway 
authorities with guidance on highways management. Adoption of the 
recommendations within The Code is a matter for each highway authority, 
based on their own interpretation of local risks, needs and priorities. The 
Highways Act 1980 covers the legal elements of the management and 
operation of the road network within England and Wales and as such sets 
out the statutory duties of highway authorities. This includes the 
identification and rectification of defects and the provision of winter and 
adverse weather services. Further duties that the Highway Authority must 
address are covered under The Railways and Transport Safety Act 2003 
and the Traffic Management Act 2004.

The implementation of a new way of working which is in accordance with 
WMHI should strengthen the Council’s defence against third party claims 
under Section 58 Highways Act and would enable the Council to 
demonstrate that it is meeting its obligations relating to winter service under 
Section 41(1A) of the Highways Act 1980 (as amended by Section 111 of 
the Railways and Transport Safety Act 2003).  

6.2.   Finance Implications

6.2.1. The proposed approach to Highway Safety Inspections will see an increase 
in costs to cover the additional Safety Inspector and Driver/Inspector and 
the increase in defect repairs. 

6.2.2. The proposed increase in service levels in the Highway Safety Inspection 
Service Area will be offset by the savings generated by the proposed 
changes to the winter service.

6.2.3.  The new approach to comply with The Code is therefore expected to be 
cost neutral within the highway budget.

6.3.   Policy Implications

6.3.1. In order to comply with the recommendations outlined in The Code, the 
Council’s Highway Safety Inspection Policy and associated Code of 
Practice for Highway Safety Inspections and Winter & Adverse Weather 

Page 126



OFFICIAL

Policy and associated Adverse Weather Plan have required updating. In 
addition a Resilient Network Strategy has been developed.

6.3.2. The above mentioned documents have been updated to adopt a new 
approach to the management of the highways asset that is risk focused and 
enables prioritisation of resource to address risks.

6.3.3.  The reviewed approach to delivering highway services will help the Council 
to deliver the outcomes detailed in the 2017 - 2020 Corporate Plan, 
specifically Outcome 2 ‘Cheshire East has a strong and resilient economy’, 
Outcome 4 ‘Cheshire East is a green & sustainable place’ and Outcome 6 
‘A responsible, effective & efficient organisation’. Furthermore, the 
approach aligns with our Corporate Values of flexibility, innovation, 
responsibility, service and teamwork.

6.3.4. The adoption of the recommendations in this report will further help to 
deliver the aspirations of the Local Transport Plan (LTP).  

6.3.5. Adoption of the proposed approaches would see an annual review of the 
Code of Practice for Highway Safety Inspections, Winter & Adverse 
Weather Plan and Resilient Network Strategy to ensure a dynamic 
approach to the evolution of the highway network.

6.4.   Equality Implications

6.4.1. An Equality Impact Assessment has been completed and can be found in 
Appendix 7.

6.5.   Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. The proposed increase in the frequency of inspection would increase 
staffing within our Highway Service delivery partner, Ringway Jacobs. This 
would include the need for 1 additional Highway Safety Inspector and 1 
additional Driver/Inspector.  An initial increase in defect repairs would 
require a corresponding increase in operational staff to deliver the works. 

6.5.2. Some further training will be required for highways staff in order to 
implement the new way of working.

6.5.3. For the winter service, the number of drivers required is anticipated to 
reduce by between 6 and 12, some of these drivers are sourced through 
supply chain partners who deliver the service as an additional duty, hence 
this will not result in redundancies. 

6.6.   Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. The approach to safety inspections may see some defects existing on 
lesser used roads for a longer length of time after identification. However 
the move to a 40mm investigation level from the current 50mm intervention 

Page 127



OFFICIAL

level is likely to mitigate this and should reduce the overall risk to the 
travelling public.

6.6.2. The approach to winter service has seen the removal of some roads from 
the winter treatment routes and the addition of others, this has been 
undertaken in accordance with the guidance provided in The Code and thus 
has seen a risk based approach to the inclusion of roads to the treated 
network.

6.6.3. The removal of some roads from the winter treatment network could 
increase the risk of accidents on the network; however, the risk assessment 
process adopted should mean this is a manageable risk.

6.6.4. The application of road salt to a highway doesn’t give an absolute 
guarantee that the road will remain free from ice and as such drivers should 
still drive to the weather conditions.

6.6.5. The reduction in winter fleet drivers is likely to result in less driver resilience 
during times of extreme weather. 

6.6.6. A risk matrix relating to this report can be found in Appendix 8.

6.7.   Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. 57% of the Cheshire East highway network is classed as rural serving over 
half of our population. The rural highway network is vital to the economy of 
the Borough.

6.7.2. The risk based approach to highway maintenance sees resources 
prioritised by road usage, risk and nature of the network and as such lesser 
used low risk routes may receive lower prioritisation than busier high risk 
main routes.

6.7.3. The removal of some of the rural roads may make access to some rural 
businesses and communities difficult during snow and icing conditions; 
however, the proposed assessment of the removed roads for a grit bin 
could help to mitigate this.

6.8.   Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. The new way of working considers levels of service where facilities serving 
children and young people are located.

6.9.  Public Health Implications

6.9.1. The new code of practice considers key infrastructure needs to promote 
sustainable modes of travel.

6.9.2. The new proposals also consider the LTP and as such look to reduce risks 
to walkers and cyclists and as such should reduce the risk of trips and falls. 

Page 128



OFFICIAL

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1. The suggested approach to WMHI could reduce the climate impact of the 
service area by helping the Council implement longer lasting highway 
repairs and hence use less construction materials.

6.10.2. A further climate impact reduction could be achieved as a result of reducing 
the amount of salt spread on the highway and the distances travelled by the 
gritting fleet.

6.11. Ward Members Affected

6.11.1.  All wards and all ward members are affected by the implications of The 
Code.

7. Consultation & Engagement

7.1. The approach to The Code has been discussed with the Environment and 
Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee on the 18/06/18, 15/10/18, 
15/07/19 and 21/01/20. 

7.2. From 2nd July to 27th August 2018 Cheshire East Council consulted on a 
number of draft policies in relation to Highway Safety Inspections and Winter 
Service activities. Respondents were provided with a summary of the five 
documents listed below:

 Draft Highways Inspection Policy
 Draft Code of Practice for Highways Safety Inspections
 Examples of the Old and New Inspection Process
 Draft Winter and Adverse Weather Policy
 Winter and Adverse Weather Plan Consultation 2018

7.3. The approach to community engagement was guided by the Council’s 
Research and Consultation Team.

7.4. The details of the consultees can be found in Appendix 9.

7.5. The Well Managed Highways consultation was advertised through the 
Cheshire East Council website and through social media, paper copies were 
made available at all Cheshire East libraries and at key contact centres.

7.6. The consultation was pushed through social media and was pushed to 3583 
Twitter accounts. The Council retweeted the consultation four times. 

7.7. In total, 93 responses were received from a variety of interested parties 
including local residents, town/parish Councillors and voluntary/community 

Page 129



OFFICIAL

organisations. A report on the public consultation can be found in Appendix 
10.

7.8. As a result of the consultation with Environment Regeneration and Overview 
Scrutiny Committee and the public consultation. The following amendments 
were made to the documents and proposed ways of working:

Highway Inspection Code of Practice and Policy 

7.9. Further consideration was given to cyclists and motorcyclist, and 
investigatory levels in on carriageway cycle lanes were revised from 40mm 
to 20mm.

Winter and Adverse Weather Plan

7.10. More information was added to the document around self-help.

7.11. A scoring factor was added to the risk assessment process to consider the 
National Cycle Network.

7.12. Consideration is being given to the way the Council communicate during 
weather events.

Resilient Highway Network

7.13. An additional consultation was carried out with regards to the Resilient 
Network. Details of the consulted stakeholders can be found in Appendix 9.

7.14. A limited response to the Resilient Network consultation was received, with 
only 3 responses received through the consultation web page. However, 
further to a meeting held with the Lead Emergency Planning Officer 
comments were received from the emergency services. 

7.15. Comments were also received from Highways England and as a result their 
emergency and planned diversion routes were added to the Resilient 
Network. 

Area Highway Groups

7.16. At the Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Comittee on 
15/07/19 it was agreed that the proposed winter treatment network should be 
consulted on with the Area Highway Groups (AHG). As a result over the 
summer and early autumn each AHG was visited and given opportunity to 
comment on the roads that are proposed to be gritted in their areas.  The 
AHGs suggested roads which they felt should be included on the treated 
network.  The roads highlighted had the risk assessment process repeated 
and in some instances roads were added in. Details of these roads can be 
found in Appendix 11.

Page 130



OFFICIAL

7.17. Following on from the AHGs a further update regarding the AHG comments 
was presented to Environment and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on 20/01/20.

8. Access to Information

8.1.  All supporting documents to this report can be found in the Appendices. 

8.2. List of Appendices:

Appendix 1 – Legislation, Guidance and Local Documents
Appendix 2 - Proposed Network Hierarchy
Appendix 3 - Resilient Network Strategy and Map
Appendix 4 - Inspection Frequency Options
Appendix 5 - Highway Safety Inspection Policy and Code of Practice
Appendix 6 - Winter and Adverse Weather Policy and Plan
Appendix 7 - Equality Impact Assessment
Appendix 8 – Risk Register
Appendix 9 - Public Consultation Consultee List
Appendix 10- Well Managed Highway Infrastructure –Summary of Results
Appendix 11 - Area Highway Group Comments

All appendices are available electronically by contacting Matthew Davenhill 
via: Matthew.Davenhill@cheshireeast.gov.uk or on the cabinet agenda 
webpage.

9. Contact Information

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name:   Matthew Davenhill

Job Title: Contract Asset Manager 

Email:    matthew.davenhill@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 131

mailto:Matthew.Davenhill@cheshireeast.gov.uk
mailto:matthew.davenhill@cheshireeast.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL

                                                                                        

Key Decision Y

Date First 
Published: 06/01/20

Cabinet 

Date of Meeting: 4th February 2020

Report Title: Data Centre Local Area Network (LAN) and Hosting

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Amanda Stott – Finance, IT and Communication

Senior Officer: Jane Burns, Executive Director of Corporate Services

1. Report Summary

1.1. This report intends to address two key issues. Firstly, the need to upgrade the 
Local Area Network and hosting infrastructure and equipment, the majority of 
which is over ten years old, to ensure that it is compliant with the Public 
Service Network Code of Connection, which is a mandatory set of 
requirements.  

1.2. Secondly, as part of the necessary procurement process involved in the 
required upgrades, this report recommends that a more expedient and cost-
effective approach is taken, utilising two existing procurement frameworks 
available through Crown Commercial Services.

1.3. The total contract value is up to £7 million across both Cheshire East and 
Cheshire West and Chester Councils over 7 years, until 2027 for each 
framework giving a combined value of up to £14m. This figure considers 
existing contractual expenditure levels, expected framework economies of 
scale and supplier inflationary growth.  [Note that this is based on both 
Councils having made provision (as agreed within the ICT Shared Services 
Agreement) to £1 million annually for ICT essential replacements.]

1.4. Procurements above £1 million are a key decision of the Council and need to 
obtain Cabinet approval. The purpose of this Cabinet paper is therefore to 
seek approval on the recommendations and to authorise officers to take all 
necessary actions to implement the proposal which is to procure via further 
competitions under both the RM3808 and RM6068 Crown Commercial 

Page 133 Agenda Item 10



OFFICIAL

Frameworks call off contracts with an appropriate accredited vendor, for the 
purchase of new, replacement, support and maintenance of the following End 
of Life (EOL) and End of Sale (EOS) items:

 Local Area Network (LAN) equipment (for example switches);

 Wide Area Network (WAN) equipment (for example routers); 

 Endpoint security (firewalls and associated security products) 
equipment;

 License extensions and maintenance cover for all new and existing 
Cisco equipment which is still serviceable;

 Data Hosting Services, equipment and Business Continuity and 
Disaster Recovery (BCDR) capabilities;

 Data hosting maintenance;

 Data hosting licensing.

1.5. It is believed that this proposal will provide best value for money, as it will give 
the councils a route to market for future LAN, WAN, endpoint security 
equipment, license extensions, maintenance cover and data hosting, without 
the need for running further procurement exercises. The expectation is that 
call off contracts under these frameworks will reduce procurement overheads 
for essential replacements thus there is the opportunity to achieve financial 
economies. These framework call off contracts mitigate the risk of non-
compliance and security breaches as we will have a route straight to market 
via a manufacturer supported supplier for our future needs.

1.6. This approach has already gained approval with Cheshire West and Chester 
Council (CWaC) through shared Evolution Programme governance and the 
Joint Strategic Board. CWaC have confirmed that as the spend is related to 
existing and operational provision covered in existing budgets they do not 
require (as part of the CWaC Constitution) to take this through internal 
governance mechanisms. This has been confirmed by CWaC legal services.

Page 134



OFFICIAL

2. Recommendations

2.1. That Cabinet approves the procurement (via further competitions under the 
RM3808 Crown Commercial Framework) and the award of a call off contract 
for the purchase of new and replacement of equipment (end of line and end of 
service LAN, WAN, endpoint security); licence extensions and maintenance 
cover for all new and existing Cisco equipment that is still serviceable; with an 
expected total value of up to £7m across both councils over a seven year 
contract period. 

2.2. That Cabinet approves the procurement (via further competitions under the 
RM6808 Crown Commercial Framework) and the award of a call off contract 
for the purchase of new and replacement of data hosting services, 
equipment, business continuity and disaster recovery capabilities, 
maintenance and licensing for all new and existing data hosting equipment 
that is still serviceable; with a total expected value of up to £7m across both 
councils over a seven year contract period.

2.3.That the Executive Director of Corporate Services, in consultation with the 
Portfolio Holder for Finance, IT and Communications, be authorised to award 
the call-off contracts, including any contract negotiations.

3. Reasons for Recommendations

3.1.This option will allow ICT Shared Services to procure a supplier(s) to deliver 
the network and hosted services for our current and future needs, delivering a 
fully integrated, affordable, resilient and secure network between all public 
sector partners and, develop a strategic plan and platform for collaboration, 
leading to an enhanced experience for the residents of Cheshire whilst 
providing value for money, achieve financial economies, mitigate the risk of 
non-compliance and security breaches. 

3.2. In order to continue to demonstrate and achieve value for money over the 
term of the contract, the procurement process will, in accordance with the 
framework, seek a commitment to:

 Transparent open book accounting;

 The benchmarking of services, prices and transparency of all public 
sector customer pricing;

 Reducing the capital cost of change as we will have a route straight 
to market and will not spend valuable time doing separate 
procurements, and a continuous service improvement programme to 
consistently ensure that service levels are higher than the norm for 
prices that are lower than the norm.

Page 135



OFFICIAL

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. The options we have considered are as follows:

4.1.1. Do Nothing – This is not an option if we are to remain compliant under 
the terms PSN CoCo and other security requirements.

4.1.2. Extension of the Existing Contract – This has been looked at and 
discounted as the original Cabinet approved contract value would be 
exceeded and this may not give us best value as we are not testing the 
whole of the market.

4.1.3. Procurement using GCloud11 – We looked at using GCloud11 as a 
route to market, however following review it was deemed this was not 
suitable for purchasing physical equipment.

4.1.4. Procurement using a neighbouring authority OJEU compliant 
framework from AGMA and Kent Commercial Services (Managed 
Services for Business Solutions Y16018). This option has been 
considered and discounted as they do not deliver the full breadth of 
network and hosting services both councils require, providing only 
physical infrastructure. 

5. Background

5.1.All of the Data Centre LAN and endpoint security equipment, which is 
becoming end of life or end of service is in many cases is in excess of 10 
years old, far beyond the expected lifecycle at which point, the manufacturers 
will no longer provide security patches. Thus, if a threat is identified and a 
manufacturer’s update is released, the updated release would not be issued 
to any equipment that is deemed end of life or end of service.  This is the 
same for any firmware, software and operating system updates and upgrades 
required to minimise cyber security threats and potential data breaches to the 
shared network.  

5.2.The PSN CoCo is a mandatory set of requirements that must be met before 
local authorities in England and Wales can connect to the Government Secure 
Intranet (GSI) in order to receive a number of key services from Central 
Government Departments such as DWP and Revenues and Benefits.

5.3.The essential replacement cycle for network and hosting equipment is 
between 5 and 7 years or scheduled replacement, before the manufacturer 
stops supporting the hardware, software, IOS patches and updates when it 
reaches the end of service date published, so that we do not introduce 
vulnerabilities into the network, mitigate the risk of non-compliance and 
security breaches. 

Page 136



OFFICIAL

5.4.The framework contracts mitigate the risk of non-compliance and security 
breaches as we will have a route straight to market via a manufacturer 
supported supplier for our future needs.

5.5. The rational for going for a consolidated call off contract over a maximum of 7 
years is that we are looking to provide financial economies of scale and 
reduce procurement overheads for essential replacements. It is anticipated 
that this single call off contract, may replace up to 5 existing contracts and 
save valuable time and budget in having a route straight to market. This will 
also give us the ability to call off additional future services that are required 
due to the rapidly changing technical environment.

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. The proposed procurements via the Crown Commercial Service 
RM3803 Network Services 2 and RM6068 Technology Products & 
Associated Services frameworks are compliant with the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015.

6.1.2. Under Articles 5(1)(f) and 24(1) of the General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR), personal data must be processed in a manner 
that ensures appropriate security and it is the responsibility of the data 
controller to ensure and implement appropriate technical and 
organisational measures so that personal data is processed in 
accordance with GDPR.  The Council is a data controller for the 
purposes of GDPR and is therefore required to ensure that adequate 
technical and organisational measures are in place. 

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. This request should not increase the demand on the revenue budget 
currently held in ICT Shared Service over and above any inflationary 
price increases that may be written into the resulting contracts. The 
expectation is that by consolidating several existing contracts through 
this mechanism as they come to the end of their terms, there is the 
opportunity to achieve financial economies.   

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. No policy implications identified.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. No equality implications identified.

Page 137



OFFICIAL

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. No human resources implications identified, as this paper relates to the 
provision and implementation of the technical solution required in order 
to achieve PSN compliance. Resources from Cheshire East ICT 
Services will be utilised to implement the solution along with 
professional services from the successful bidder. The budget for this 
resource is contained within the project capital budget.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. If the proposals made in this paper are not approved at the Cabinet 
meeting on 4th February 2020, failure to commence the procurement by 
31st March 2020 will mean both councils will be at risk of not 
completing the change out by the time the equipment goes End of Life. 
This will lead to non compliance with Public Service Network Code of 
Connection (PSN CoCo) which is a mandatory set of requirements that 
must be demonstrated before local authorities in England and Wales 
can connect to the Government Secure Intranet (GSI), for them to 
receive several services from Central Government Departments such 
as DWP. 

6.6.2. This paper relates to the procurement, contract and replacement of the 
Data Centre LAN, WAN and Endpoint security Equipment and the 
associated risks in the timely delivery of a Call Off Contract under 
Crown Commercial Services Framework RM3808, commencement of 
procurement and contract award during Quarter 1 2020. 

6.6.3. This paper also relates to the procurement, contract and replacement of 
the of data hosting services, equipment, business continuity and 
disaster recovery capabilities, maintenance and licensing for all new 
and existing data hosting equipment and the associated risks in the 
timely delivery of a Call Off Contract under Crown Commercial Services 
Framework RM6808, commencement of procurement and contract 
award during financial year 2020/21. 

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. The proposal could support the creation of greater digital choice for 
those in rural communities.  This is contigent on additional investment 
being secured and the geographical presence of buildings on the 
council WAN.

Page 138



OFFICIAL

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. This procurement enables the Adults, Children’s and Public Health 
Programme and joint working arrangements with regional health 
colleagues through things like reciprocal Wi-Fi, GovRoam and Remote 
Working and the Digital Programme which enables residents’ online 
access to Council services. 

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health.

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1. There are no direct implications for climate change however keeping 
the technology up to date helps with the reducing the carbon footprint 
through initiatives like remote working. 

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. All wards and members will be affected by this proposal. 

8. Consultation & Engagement

8.1. Consultation with CEC and CWaC client engagement has been established 
through ICT Shared Services governance arrangements. 

9. Access to Information

9.1. Not applicable.

10.Contact Information

10.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following 
officer:

Name: Gareth Pawlett

Job Title: Head of ICT Services

Email: Gareth.Pawlett@Cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 139

mailto:Gareth.Pawlett@cheshireeast.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



OFFICIAL

  

                                                                                        

Key Decision N

Date First 
Published: N/A

Cabinet

Date of Meeting:  4th February 2020

Report Title: Performance Update 2019/20

Portfolio Holder: Cllr Jill Rhodes - Public Health and Corporate Services

Senior Officer: Jane Burns, Executive Director of Corporate Services

1. Report Summary

1.1. The report accompanies the presentation of latest performance data as it 
relates to a range of key performance measures supporting the Council’s 
six Outcomes in the current Corporate Plan.

2. Recommendation

2.1. That Cabinet notes the performance to date against key indicators which 
support the delivery of Council priorities. 

3. Reason for Recommendation

3.1. It is good practice to present an update on key performance indicators and 
issues which support monitoring of the Council’s six Outcomes.

4. Other Options Considered

4.1. This section is not applicable.

5. Background

5.1. Corporate Leadership Team and Overview and Scrutiny Committees receive 
regular quarterly performance Scorecards, which support monitoring of the 
key performance indicators as outlined in the Council’s Department Plans.

Page 141 Agenda Item 11



OFFICIAL

5.2. In November 2019, as part of their quarterly Performance Stocktake 
meeting, Corporate Leadership Team received a draft ‘visual dashboard’, 
which aligned with the look and feel of our Borough Profile, proposing a 
new style and approach for reporting key performance data to Cabinet. 

5.3. At the meeting, Corporate Leadership Team agreed a suite of four key 
measures to support each of the six Council Outcomes, and these 
measures are presented in the attached report as an overview of 
performance. 

6. Implications of the Recommendations

6.1. Legal Implications

6.1.1. There are no legal implications arising from this report.  All data is 
anonymised and does not breach the General Data Protection 
Regulations.

6.2. Finance Implications

6.2.1. There are no direct financial implications.  Reporting of overview 
performance and achievements continues to form part of the quarterly 
finance reports to Council.

6.3. Policy Implications

6.3.1. Performance management arrangements support the delivery of all 
Council policies.

6.4. Equality Implications

6.4.1. Any equality implications that arise from activities in this report are 
reviewed within individual service areas or via reports to Members or 
Officer Decision Records to which they relate.

6.5. Human Resources Implications

6.5.1. There are no direct impact on human resources.  All reports are 
prepared within existing resources.

6.6. Risk Management Implications

6.6.1. The performance reporting process supports the Council’s wider 
performance management arrangements and provides opportunities for 
the Council to identify and focus on areas for improvement to support 
achievement of its strategic ambitions.  

Page 142



OFFICIAL

6.6.2. Performance reporting mitigates risk of the Council not achieving its 
outcomes by providing the opportunity to review performance outputs 
and trends, identify areas for improvement, and introduce corrective 
and/or proactive actions wherever necessary to address areas of poor - 
or under – performance.

6.7. Rural Communities Implications

6.7.1. There are no direct implications for rural communities.

6.8. Implications for Children & Young People/Cared for Children 

6.8.1. The suite of measures presented in the report includes data relating to 
children and young people.  Where performance falls short of agreed 
targets the service area proposes and implements corrective action, 
and this is monitored via regular Performance Scorecards presented to 
Managers and the Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee.

6.9. Public Health Implications

6.9.1. There are no direct implications for public health.  Public health 
implications that arise from activities that this report deals with will be 
dealt with as separate reports to Members or Officer Decision Records 
as required.

6.10. Climate Change Implications

6.10.1. The suite of measures presented in the report includes data relating to 
reduction in carbon emissions from the Council’s operations, and the 
number of Air Quality Management Areas across Cheshire East.  
These measures are monitored within service areas and also reported 
via the Place Directorate Scorecards to the Environment and 
Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

7. Ward Members Affected

7.1. There are no direct implications.  The report enhances the process of 
performance reporting to Members.

8. Access to Information

8.1. Background information can be inspected by contacting the report 
author.

Page 143



OFFICIAL

9. Contact Information

9.1. Any questions relating to this report should be directed to the following officer:

Name: Natalie Robinson

Job Title: Head of Business Change

Email: Natalie.Robinson@cheshireeast.gov.uk

Page 144

mailto:Natalie.Robinson@cheshireeast.gov.uk


 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Performance  
Update 

 
 
 
 
 

2019/20

P
age 145



  
 

 

Introduction 

 

 

Our Corporate Plan identifies six strategic outcomes that balance the 
immediate needs of our residents with a longer term vision of 
creating the conditions for people to thrive independently in a 
supportive environment.  This section provides a summary of service 
achievement highlights against the six outcomes: 

 

 

 
 
 

Outcome 1 - Our local communities are strong and supportive 

 Individuals and families are self-reliant and take personal 
responsibility for their quality of life. 

 Communities are cohesive, with a strong sense of 
neighbourliness. There is genuine civic pride and mutual 
respect. 

 
 

Outcome 2 - Cheshire East has a strong and resilient economy 

 We will invest in the building blocks that will allow business to 
grow, give our residents the right skills to secure employment 
and attract inward investment in to the Borough.  

 By working together with business and our residents we will 
enhance the quality of place and create prosperity for all. 

 

Outcome 3 - People have the life skills and education they need 
in order to thrive 

 Children and young people get a good start in life, and are 
prepared for the world of work.  

 Everyone is equipped to live independent, self-sufficient lives, 
and to realise their particular talents and abilities. 

 

Outcome 4 - Cheshire East is a green and sustainable place 

 Cheshire East’s rural and urban character is protected and 
enhanced through sensitive development, environmental 
management, transport and waste disposal policies. 

 

Outcome 5 - People live well and for longer 

 Local people have healthy lifestyles and access to good 
cultural, leisure and recreational facilities.  

 Care services focus on prevention, early intervention and 
physical and mental wellbeing. 

 

 

Outcome 6 - A responsible, effective and efficient organisation 

 The Council serves the people of Cheshire East through:  
o ensuring quality and best value for local people,  
o striving to get it right first time,  
o and acting with integrity, being open, honest and 

accountable and delivering on our promises 

P
age 146



 
 

Outcome Measure 
Quarter 1 
2019/20 

Quarter 2 
2019/20 

Quarter 3 
2019/20 

Quarter 4 
2019/20 

Target 
2019/20 

RAG /  
Dir of Travel 

Outcome 1 
Our local 

communities are 
strong and 
supportive 

Number of Leisure Services volunteer hours 2,208 1,691 
  

8,094 

Number of library visitors 341,298 399,820 
  

1,500,000 

Minimum uptake targets for NHS Health Checks reached and 
good outcomes achieved 

49.1% Data pending 
  

50% 

Number of Connected Communities Centres 31 34 
  

N/A 

Outcome 2 
Cheshire East 

has a strong and 
resilient 
economy 

Overall growth in the Borough’s Economy – Gross Value Added N/A £14.4bn 
  

N/A 

Overall growth in the Visitor Economy N/A £963m 
  

£1bn by 
2020 



1-year business survival rate N/A 91.1% 
  

>90% 

Employment rate for working age population  
(% of 16-64 year-olds in employment) 

N/A 80.8% 
  

>75.8% 

Outcome 3 
People have the 

life skills and 
education they 

need 
in order to thrive 

Number of cared for children 481 517 
  

440-475 

Percentage good or outstanding schools 89.0% 89.7% 
  

N/A 

% of Care Leavers not in education, employment or training 47% 44% 
  

<38% 

Total number of children and young people (up to the age of 25) 
with a Cheshire East Education, Health and Care plan (EHCP) 

2,335 2,424 
  

N/A 

Outcome 4 
Cheshire East is 

a green and 
sustainable 

place 

Total reduction in carbon emissions from the Council’s 
operations 

7,975 tonnes 7,676 tonnes 
  

8,322 
tonnes 



% household waste recycled, reused and composted 57% (estimate) 55% (estimate) 
  

>50% 

Total number of Air Quality Management Areas in Cheshire East 17 17 
  

N/A 

Potholes repaired within code of practice timeframes 90% 90% 
  

91% 

Outcome 5 
People live well 
and for longer 

Delayed transfers of care from hospital - days per quarter total 3,443 3,526 
  

<3,000 per 
quarter 



Proportion of service users in receipt of a community based 
service 

81% 81% 
  

80% 

Learning Disability 18-64 Clients – with an active service 831 838 
  

N/A 

Residential Admissions for 65+ age band (cumulative figure) 115 270 
  

<530 

Outcome 6 
A responsible, 
effective and 

efficient 
organisation 

% of Freedom of Information requests completed within 
timescales 

96% 96% 
  

90% 

% of Local Taxation collected within 2 years  98.30% 98.65% 
  

99% 

Working days lost due to sickness absence (excluding schools) 2.53 days 5.13 days 
  

<10 days 

% variance between forecast outturn and total net budget 0% 2.7% 
  

0% 

P
age 147



Outcome 1 - Our local communities are strong and supportive  
 

 
For more information, or to find your nearest library visit:  

www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/libraries 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Number of visitors to libraries 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

353,540 355,437 341,298 
399,820 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Number of visitors 

388,624 
353,540 355,437 341,298 

0

100,000

200,000

300,000

400,000

500,000

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Number of visitors 

Comments and analysis 

Q2 saw us reach a mid-year actual of 

741,118, an increase on the mid-year point in 

2018/19 (when numbers stood at 734,136).  

Additionally, the number of Cheshire East 

Children participating in the Reading 

Agency’s national Summer Reading 

Challenge this year was 7,262 an increase of 

11.2% on the previous year and our best year 

to date. 

Quarter 2 

399,820 
Annual Target 

1,500,000 

 

Number of Leisure Services 
volunteer hours 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

1,912 
2,244 2,208 

1,691 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Hours 

1,867 1,912 
2,244 2,208 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Hours 

 

Comments and analysis 

Performance remains above the quarterly 

target for the time dedicated to the crucial 

role of support to local sports clubs and 

events, though down on performance during 

the first quarter.  Nonetheless the mid-year 

total of 3,899 hours reflects a slight increase 

on mid-year performance (of 3,858 hours) in 

2018/19. 

Quarter 2  

1,691 hrs 
Annual Target 

8,094 hrs 

 

P
age 148



Outcome 1 - Our local communities are strong and supportive  
 

 
For more information, or to find your nearest library visit:  

www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/libraries 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Minimum uptake targets for NHS 
Health Checks reached and good 
outcomes achieved 
Latest data: 
 

  
 

43.4% 
49.0% 49.1% 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

 

Comments and analysis 

Rolling 5 year cumulative percentage of 

those who were offered and accepted an 

NHS Healthcheck (PHOF2.22iv). Annually 

released data shows Cheshire East to be 

better than the England average (48.1%) and 

comparable with our target. The proportion of 

people taking up an offer of Health Checks is 

higher to the proportion last quarter. 

Quarter 1  

49.1% 
Annual Target 

50% 

 

Number of Connected Communities 
Centres 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

26 

31 31 
34 

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Comments and analysis 

An additional three centres opened during 

Q2.  Alongside the 34 Connected 

Communities Centres, there are now 8 Care 

Communities (providing an integrated health 

and social care range of services to 

populations of between 30,000 and 50,000 

people), and 15 Neighbourhood Partnerships 

(providing a local Health and Wellbeing multi-

agency working group over areas of 

deprivation and key towns in Cheshire East). 

 
Quarter 2  

34 

 

P
age 149



Outcome 2 - Cheshire East has a strong and resilient economy  
 

 
If you’re looking for things to do, places to go and 

attractions to see, visit our visitors pages 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Overall growth in the Visitor Economy 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

842 

895 
921 

963 

800

850

900

950

1000

2015 2016 2017 2018

£million 

842 

895 
921 

800

850

900

950

1000

2015 2016 2017 2018

£million 

Comments and analysis 

The value of the visitor economy in Cheshire East 

is on track to hit £1bn by 2020; an ambitious 

target set out in the Cheshire East Visitor 

Economy Strategy 2016-2020. 

The latest figures show a 77.1% increase in the 

value of the visitor economy to Cheshire East 

since the Borough came into being in 2009. 

Overnight stays in 2018 injected £207m into the 

hotel industry – an increase of 3.4% on the 

previous year, and figures show more people are 

staying overnight than ever before.  

2018 (latest) data 

£963m 

Overall growth in the Borough’s Economy: 
Gross Value Added  
Latest data: 
 

  

 

12.6 12.8 

13.5 

14.4 

10

11

12

13

14

15

2015 2016 2017 2018

£billion 
Comments and analysis 

Cheshire East has an annual economic 
output (Gross Value Added) of £14.4bn (as of 
2018. 
GVA growth in Cheshire East averaged 2.9% 
per annum during 1998-2018 (compared to 
2.1% per annum for the UK). 
 
Regional economic activity by gross domestic product, UK: 

1998 to 2018’ statistical release, Office for National Statistics 

(ONS), Dec 2019. 

2018 (latest) data 

£14.4bn P
age 150

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/your_council/about_cheshire_east/visitors_to_cheshire_east.aspx


Outcome 2 - Cheshire East has a strong and resilient economy  
 

 
If you’re looking for things to do, places to go and 

attractions to see, visit our visitors pages 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Employment rate for working age 
population (% of 16-64 year-olds in 
employment)  
Latest data: 
 

  
 

80.8% 
73.9% 75.8% 

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Cheshire
East

North West England

Employment Rate 

 

Comments and analysis 

As of 2018/19, 80.8% of the Borough’s 
working-age residents were in employment. 
This employment rate is significantly higher 
than the North West (73.9%) and England 
(75.8%) averages. 
 
Source: Annual Population Survey, Jul 2018 - Jun 2019, ONS, 

NOMIS. 

 

 

2019 (latest) data 

80.8% 
 

1-year business survival rate 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

92.2% 91.1% 92.4% 91.1% 

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

2015 2016 2017 2018

1-year business survival rate  
Comments and analysis 

All figures are for calendar years. After falling 
in 2015 and 2016, the rate rose in 2017, but 
then returned to its 2016 level (91.1%) in 2018. 
However, it has remained consistently above 
the target of 90% since 2014. (Note: "2014" 
figure relates to the survival rate for 
businesses born in 2013, "2015" relates to the 
rate for 2014 start-ups and so on.)  Estimate 
for 2019 is expected in November 2020. 
 
Source: Business Demography - 2018: Enterprise Births, 

Deaths and Survivals, ONS, Nov 2019. 

2018 (latest) data 

91.1% 
Annual Target  

>90% 

 

P
age 151

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/your_council/about_cheshire_east/visitors_to_cheshire_east.aspx


Outcome 3 – People have the life skills and education they need 
in order to thrive  
 

 
Concerned about a child? Contact the Cheshire East Consultation Service (ChECS) on 0300 123 5012 (option 3) 

For more information on schools and education in Cheshire East visit www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/schools 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Percentage good or outstanding schools 
Latest data: 
 

   

88.4% 87.8% 89.0% 89.7% 

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

90.0%

100.0%

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Comments and analysis 

Combined primary, secondary, special and 
Pupil Referral Unit schools rated ‘Good’ or 
‘Outstanding’. 
 
Primary schools performance at Q2 was 
92%, with performance at secondary schools 
(including Pupil Referral Units) and special 
schools both at 80%. 
 
This relates to 155 schools. 
 
 

 
Quarter 2  

89.7% 
 

Number of cared for children 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

509 485 481 
517 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Comments and analysis 

The 2nd quarter has seen a higher than 
average need for children to be safeguarded 
via care, with 57 in quarter 2 compared to 
only 37 in quarter 1, an increase of 54%. 
Overall this is 94 new admissions in the first 
half of the year compared to 90 last year. The 
operational team and senior leadership have 
undertaken an audit of all new cases into 
care in the last 6 months in order to continue 
to ensure that children who require care as a 
safeguard receive this, only when 
appropriate.  
 

Quarter 2  

517 
Target  

440-475 

P
age 152

http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/schools


Outcome 3 – People have the life skills and education they need 
in order to thrive  
 

 
Concerned about a child? Contact the Cheshire East Consultation Service (ChECS) on 0300 123 5012 (option 3) 

For more information on schools and education in Cheshire East visit www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/schools 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

% of Care Leavers not in education, 
employment or training 
Latest data: 
 

  
 

44% 
39% 

47% 
44% 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

 

Comments and analysis 

This is based upon 130 individuals making up 

the former relevant cohort of care leavers 

aged 19-21.  In addition, we have a number 

of individuals engaged in positive activities or 

training/re-engagement provision which gives 

an overall percentage of 35% currently not 

engaged in any form of education, 

employment or training. 

 
 
Quarter 2  

44% 
Annual Target 

<38% 
 

Total number of children and young 
people (up to the age of 25) with a 
Cheshire East Education, Health and 
Care plan (EHCP) 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

2,087 2,181 
2,335 2,424 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Comments and analysis 

This is increasing, as is the picture nationally, 

with an increase of 10% since year end . This 

is largely because since September 2014 

EHCPs follow the young person into post 16 

whereas prior to September 2014 statements 

of SEN ceased at 16 when entering further 

education. 

 
 
 

Quarter 2  

2,424 
 

P
age 153

http://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/schools


Outcome 4 – Cheshire East is a green and sustainable place  
  

 
To read more about what the Council is doing about Climate Change in 

Cheshire East visit the Climate Change page on our website 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

% household waste recycled, reused and 
composted 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

53% 52% 
57% 55% 

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

% (estimate) Comments and analysis 

Draft performance subject to DEFRA 
approval.   
 
Our recycling rate continues to be above the 
national target for 2020 and will be increasing 
in Q4 when food waste is collected in the 
garden bins. 

Quarter 2  

55% (estimate) 
Target  

>50% 

 

Total reduction in carbon emissions from 
the Council’s operations  
Latest data: 
 

  

 

8,451 8,306 7,975 7,676 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Tonnes 

9,338 
8,451 8,306 7,975 

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Tonnes 

Comments and analysis 

Rolling 12-month performance figure, 
reported with quarter lag due to time needed 
to process billing.  Q2 2019/20 result 
therefore a rolling 12-month figure ending Q1 
2018/19.  Consumption levels continue to 
reduce across the corporate estate helped 
partially by a mild winter. Also CO2 emission 
factors have reduced for electricity as higher 
volumes are generated via wind rather than 
from gas or coal power stations. 

Quarter 2  

7,676 tonnes 
Target  

<8,322tonnes 

tonnes 

P
age 154

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/sustainability/climate_change.aspx


Outcome 4 – Cheshire East is a green and sustainable place  
  

 
To read more about what the Council is doing about Climate Change in 

Cheshire East visit the Climate Change page on our website 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Potholes repaired within code of practice 
timeframes 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

98% 
92% 90% 90% 

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

% Repaired in Timeframes Comments and analysis 

The target of 91% is based on a review of the 
last three years data excluding mitigation.                                                                                                                                                              
Out of the 8,034 potholes identified in Q1, 
797 (10%) failed to be repaired within the 
appropriate timeframe. During this period, 
there were 6 working days of IT failures 
which affected the overall performance.                                                                                                                                                                                                
Out of the 7,921 potholes identified in Q2, 
786 (10%) failed to be repaired within the 
appropriate timeframe. During this period 
there were 9 days where server issues were 
experienced as well as the July and August 
weather events. 

Quarter 2  

90%  
Target  

91% 

 

Comments and analysis 

Work is currently ongoing with respect to the 
declaration of two further Air Quality 
Management Areas within Cheshire East.  
Consultation has been completed the 
relevant ODR's have been signed and these 
will now be passed to legal services for 
ratification. 
   
An Action Plan has been produced and 
approved by Defra including all existing 
AQMAs.   

 

17 17 17 17 

10

12

14

16

18

20

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Total number  Total number of Air Quality Management 
Areas in Cheshire East 
Latest data: 
 

  

 
Quarter 2  

17 

 

P
age 155

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/environment/sustainability/climate_change.aspx


Outcome 5 – People live well and for longer  
 
  

 
For further information, resources and contact details relating to care and 

support, visit Live Well Cheshire East 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proportion of service users in receipt of a 
community based service 
Latest data: 
 

  
 

78% 80% 81% 81% 

50%

60%

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Proportion of service users 
 

Comments and analysis 

Our focus continues to be on supporting as 
many people at home as possible (whilst 
recognising that some people will require 
care home placements). 

Quarter 2  

81% 
 
Target  

80%  
 

Delayed transfers of care from hospital - 
days per quarter total 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

3,114 3,287 3,443 3,526 

0

1,000

2,000

3,000

4,000

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Total number of days per quarter 

 

Comments and analysis 

There has been a 2.4% increase in total days 
delayed from Q1 to Q2. The total mid-year 
number of days delayed at the end of Q2 is 
6,969 (average of 1,162 days per month). For 
the same period in 2018/19 there had been 
3,152 total days delayed. 
 
The target is imposed on us by central 
government and includes Health and Social 
Care delays. 

Quarter 2  

3,526 
 
Target  

<3000  
per quarter 

P
age 156

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/livewell/livewell.aspx


Outcome 5 – People live well and for longer  
 
  

 
For further information, resources and contact details relating to care and 

support, visit Live Well Cheshire East 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Learning Disability 18-64 Clients – 
with an active service  
Latest data: 
 

  
 

836 831 831 838 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

 

Comments and analysis 

The weekly gross costs of the care plans for 

Q2 for 18-64 clients was £850,180.  Although 

numbers of clients supported remain 

relatively static, weekly costs can vary 

significantly based on need, as evidenced by 

a 2% increase in cost between Q1 and Q2. 

 
 
 
Quarter 2  

838 
 

Residential Admissions for 65+ age 
band (cumulative figure) 
Latest data: 
 

  
 

411 

545 

115 

270 

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Comments and analysis 

Compared to the same period last year there 

have been 5 fewer admissions. Whilst we will 

always ensure that should an individual 

require permanent residential/ nursing care 

this will be provided the indicative target is to 

try and ensure that where possible individuals 

are supported with a package of care to 

remain in their own home. 

Quarter 2  

270 
Annual Target 

<530 

 

P
age 157

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/livewell/livewell.aspx


Outcome 6 – A responsible, effective and efficient organisation 
  

  

Need to contact us? Visit our website, or call us on 0300 123 5500 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

% of Local Taxation collected within 2years  
(Council Tax & Business Rates combined) 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

98.97% 99.20% 98.30% 98.65% 

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Comments and analysis 

This is an annual outturn figure, which rises 
in-year.  
 
Q2 figure of 98.65% is slightly down on the 
same period in 2018/19 where the figure 
stood at 98.75%. 

Quarter 2  

98.65% 
 
Annual Target  

99% 

 

% of Freedom of Information requests 
completed within timescales 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

96% 
98% 

96% 96% 

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

% within timescales 

95% 96% 
98% 

96% 

70%

80%

90%

100%

Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

% within timescales 

Comments and analysis 

451 Freedom of Information requests were 
received during Q2, with 145 in the Corporate 
Directorate (99% completed within 
timescales), 117 in the People Directorate 
(95% completed within timescales) and 189 
in the Place Directorate (95% completed 
within timescales). 

Quarter 2  

96% 
 
Target  

90% 

P
age 158

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/customer-services/contact_us.aspx


Outcome 6 – A responsible, effective and efficient organisation 
  

  

Need to contact us? Visit our website, or call us on 0300 123 5500 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

% variance between forecast outturn and 
total net budget 
Latest data: 
 

  

 

0% 0% 0% 

2.17% 

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

% Variance 

Comments and analysis 

Overspending is occurring due to demand led 
pressures in the People Directorate, past 
service pension costs and delays associated 
with achieving some efficiency savings 
included within service budgets. 
Further robust actions will be taken to bring 
the outturn position in line with the reserves 
strategy by the end of the financial year.  
 

Quarter 2  

2.7% 
 
Annual Target  

0% 

 

Working days lost due to sickness absence 
(excluding schools)  
Latest data: 
 

  

 

7.66 

10.31 

2.53 

5.13 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2

Comments and analysis 

Cumulative in-year data.  Overall 2019/20 
performance at Q2 is lower (better) than at 
the same point in 2018/19 (5.49 days).  
 
Work continues with services to maximise 
attendance, and initiatives are in place to 
assist returns to work, targeting hotspots, 
workshops to support application of the new 
Attendance Management Procedure, 
Occupational Health support, the Employee 
Assistance Programme scheme and 
proactive support through wellbeing 
initiatives. 

Quarter 2  

5.13 days 
 
Quarter 2 Target  

<5 days 

 P
age 159

https://www.cheshireeast.gov.uk/council_and_democracy/customer-services/contact_us.aspx


T
his page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 161 Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 4 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Third Quarter Review (FINANCE) 2019/20
	Third Quarter Review (FINANCE) 2019-20 - appendix

	8 School and Early Years Funding Formula for 2020/21
	Schools Funding Formula 2020-21 - app 1
	Schools Funding Formula 2020-21 - app 2
	Schools Funding Formula 2020-21 - app 3
	Schools Funding Formula 2020-21 - app 4
	Schools Funding Formula 2020-21 - app 5

	9 Well-Managed Highway Infrastructure
	10 Data Centre Local Area Network (LAN) and Hosting
	11 Performance Update 2019/20
	Performance Update - appendix

	13 Staff Pay - Terms and Conditions

